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CHAPTER ONE
Friday, December 23rd
11:18 a.m.
The Lanigan Hotel
Downtown Chicago
 
 
It was the standard run-around – guest calls hotel operator regarding their child’s lost blankie.  The child is of course going nuts, screaming in the back of a cab as the family has already departed for the airport.  The parents are upset because their kid is upset, and now they’re taking it out on the hotel operator because they think the blanket might have been wrapped up with the sheets when the housekeeper changed the bed linens yesterday.  Not wanting to bear the brunt of the angry couple’s ire, the hotel operator transfers the call to security where the whole story has to be rehashed.  This only irks the parents more as they try to talk over the wails of their little one to retell the tail.  The security dispatcher puts the parents on hold while she pulls up the hotel “lost and found” database on her computer screen, first searching by room number and then by item description.  Finding nothing matching the description of the little nipper’s prized possession, she reluctantly tells the family that she’ll have to take their information and call them back.  With the moans of the tiny tot echoing in the background, the parents relent, helpless and at the mercy of the Lanigan Hotel’s staff to recover this holy grail of cherished childhood possessions.
With the suffering family temporarily waylaid, security checks the status of the room where the blankie was supposedly lost and finds that it is showing “VD” – short for “Vacant and Dirty” – since the room attendant has yet to clean the room after the family’s departure.  In hopes of retrieving the blankie, security sends an officer to check the room.  After striking out in his search of the room, he radios back that he’s found nothing and sees no blankie matching the description he was given.  In turn, the security dispatcher calls housekeeping to track down the floor manager for that particular room.  The floor manager is asked whether she has seen the blankie, and upon her response of “no”, is requested to check with the room attendant who’d had the room assigned to her over the past several days to see if she remembers seeing it.  The floor manager pulls the paperwork to find out who has been assigned to clean that particular room during the guest’s stay and then tracks down the room attendant.  The room attendant reports that she doesn’t remember seeing anything like that, but the floor manager makes a cursory check of the attendant’s linen cart.  She also checks inside the floor’s linen closet, just to make sure the blankie wasn’t set aside and forgotten about or found by the houseperson disposing of soiled sheets in the linen closet’s laundry chute.  But again, finding nothing, the floor manager calls back to security to report her findings – or lack thereof.
Bruised but not yet beaten, and certainly not wanting to have to call the irate family back and report that their little one’s blankie had gone missing at the hands of the Lanigan Hotel, the security dispatcher has one last trick up her sleeve…she calls the hotel M.O.D. – or Manager on Duty – that’s me, Robert Haze.       
I’m the one who usually takes the call when there’s no one left to contact or nowhere else to look.  When the problem just won’t go away, it gets handed off to yours truly, M.O.D. of the world renowned Lanigan Hotel, an 1832 room landmark property located in the heart of downtown Chicago.  
The hotel M.O.D. is a jack of all trades – a hotel “everyman.”  I have to know a little bit about everything and understand each position in all the hotel’s departments.  I’m kind of like the general manager but without the pay or title.  If I was a military unit, I’d be the Navy Seals or Green Berets – a specialized force called in to handle the stuff that no one else can or will.  And since I live at the hotel, there’s typically little excuse for my not taking any and every call that comes my way.  
While I’d been offered the role of general manager just over a year ago, the position was a little too tame for my blood.  I needed action, activity, chaos that I could attempt to put some order to.  And while on this low occupancy December day just before Christmas, it might not have seemed like it, I was about to get the chaos that I was looking for.
After the security dispatcher gave me the rundown from start to unfinished finish regarding the lost blankie, I had an inkling of what needed to be done.  And so I rose from the desk chair in my office situated just behind the front desk and headed out to our grand lobby. 
The hotel was usually pretty quiet at this time of year.  The billowy cushioned sofas and armchairs that adorned the vast lobby were almost all empty. The space’s white-marble lobby floor that had become one of the Lanigan’s trademarks, and that had been imported from a vast villa in the Italian Alps during the late 1920s, gleamed with a honed surface so shiny you’d swear it had just been mopped.  It was said that the stone had been quarried from the same marble pit that Michelangelo had used to create his masterpiece, David.  
There was also a rumored curse attached the marble.  Supposedly, after Michelangelo had finished work on his famed sculpture, he said that stone from the quarry should always be used for works completed in and to remain in Italy.  But his request had gone unheeded, and he was said to have cursed any structure or work of art for which the stone was used outside of his home country.  I found the story hard to believe, but if nothing else, it added a little flavor to the history of the hotel.
I pushed my way through the swinging black double-doors into the back-of-house area.  The Lanigan’s back-of-house spaces were a twisting labyrinth of corridors, alcoves, and storage closets that allowed staff to move relatively unnoticed by guests, as well as to store and transport the immense amounts of supplies necessary for maintaining and sustaining this city within a city.  And with three full-service restaurants, a lounge, a fitness center, spa facilities, an Olympic-sized swimming pool, four ballrooms, a salon and barber shop, a street level full of world-class shopping venues, and tens of thousands of square feet of meeting and convention space all set within a hotel that had been a downtown fixture since shortly after the Chicago fire of 1871, there was plenty of maintaining and sustaining to do.
I rode one of the service elevators down to the second sub-street level – or “2B” as it was more commonly referred to among hotel staff – and exited onto the shiny wax-sealed concrete of the back landing.  The housekeeping department waxed or sealed just about anything that wasn’t tied down.  
To my immediate right was the recycling room.  To my left was a T-junction.  The right side of the junction led to the property operations offices and the repair shop where much of the in-house work on damaged hotel equipment – vacuum cleaners, floor extractors, shampoo machines, power tools, and similar items – was conducted.  To the left, the corridor led out to an underground honeycomb.  There was a huge staff locker room and shower area, a separate engineering locker room, storage for excess linens, additional storage for property operations equipment, and my intended destination – the linen sorting room.
I didn’t get down to these hotel nether-regions too often, but I made an effort to stop in occasionally since it was my role as hotel M.O.D. to be familiar not only with the various areas of the hotel, but with the staff manning those areas as well.  Keeping up relations with all the hotel departments, and understanding their inner works, made my life easier.  It also made the lives of the assorted department heads and managers easier when I handled issues that they might otherwise have been called to handle during their time off.
The linen sorting room was a large, two-story room behind the service elevator banks.  About a quarter of the room was filled with loaded linen carts full of sorted dirty towels and bed linens waiting to be sent to an off-site laundry facility where it would be washed, dried, pressed, folded, stacked in linen carts, shrink wrapped to protect against any dust, dirt, or natural elements on the return truck-ride back to the hotel where it would be sent upstairs to the linen closets for use.  The hotel had found long ago that this method was more cost effective than trying to process all the linens in house.  The volume of linen and required manpower to handle it, as well as to maintain the massive industrial washers and dryers, was just too much, especially on heavy checkout days.
The hotel did however manage to sort all the dirty linens ahead of time.  This reduced our laundry costs and cut the turnaround time it took to process the linen.  It also allowed us a more accurate count on what was going out and coming back – or not coming back.  Linen waste could be quite substantial without proper accounting.  Damage and theft could easily run the hotel tens of thousands of dollars each year.  It was up to the linen sorting department, under the authority of the hotel’s linen control manager, Chandra Davis – who ultimately reported to the housekeeping department – to oversee the functions of the linen sorting room.
I was well aware that with current low occupancy and the Christmas holiday looming, Chandra would be on vacation and there would only be a skeleton crew in the linen sorting room.  Usually what happened around this time of year was that a supervisor and maybe one line-level employee remained on hand to keep things moving.  Meanwhile, the linen chute would be allowed to slowly back itself up to around the 15th or 16th floor of the hotel until after the holidays when the rest of the laundry staff returned to take care of the excess.
Today, it was only Frank Rizdy – the linen sorting room’s supervisor – who was at the helm.  Frank was a long-termer at the Lanigan and had been hidden away down in the depths of 2B since the late-80s, long before I arrived on the scene.  He was a grizzled half-Russian, half-Italian in his mid-50s who liked hard work, enjoyed the relative isolation of the sub-basement, and kept things moving efficiently on the sorting line even when no one was watching.  This self-sufficiency was something that our director of housekeeping, Marian Marshall, found extremely attractive in a supervisor located a distant 27 floors below the watchful eye of his home department.   
“Hi, Frank,” I said as I sauntered into the room.  He was sitting at a long table at the far end of the room eating his lunch – a lengthy sub sandwich of some sort that had been sliced into more manageable three-inch cuts.
“Uh oh…to what do I owe this unexpected visit today, Mr. Haze?” he eyed me warily.  “I know I’ve always got a 50/50 shot with you.  Either you’re just down here to shoot the breeze or you need something.  I’m hoping, being that it’s almost Christmas, that it’s the former, not the latter.”
“Sorry to disappoint, Frank.  It’s the linen chute I’m interested in today,” I nodded toward a long steel tube about two and a half feet in diameter that extended down from the room’s ceiling close to its rear wall.  The chute ran from the 25th floor where the housekeeping department was located, all the way down to 2B where it stopped about six feet from the floor and dumped its contents onto an angled conveyor belt that led up and over to another flat conveyor belt about five feet higher in elevation.  Behind this was a short flight of stairs that led up to a walkable scaffold that ran along behind the conveyor belt where the sorting room staff worked.  From this position, they could toss the assorted mix coming from the chute into several large linen carts that were marked for sheets, bath towels, and other assorted items like bathrobes, room service napkins and the likes lining the other side of the conveyor belt. Today the end of the chute was closed with a steel door on rollers that could be slid over the tube’s exit to control the flow of linen from above.
“Oh no,” was Frank’s only response to the reason for my arrival.  He knew what was coming, and his countenance as well as his shoulders continued to sag as I explained the situation regarding the lost blankie.  “Damn kids and their crap.  I’m always finding that kind of junk coming down with the bed sheets,” he said, shaking his head.  “Stuffed animals, blankets, little toy cars…” he frowned.
“Hey, better than used condoms, bars of used soap, and hypodermic needles,” I offered.
“Get enough of that stuff too,” he grimaced.  “So what’s the plan here?  Not that I don’t already know,” he mumbled.
“Have to bust it, Frank.”
He nodded, “Yep,” and then took a deep breath.  “For some reason, I knew I wasn’t going to get away with a whole day to myself down here.”
“At least you have your favorite M.O.D. here to assist you,” I grinned, unbuttoning my shirt sleeves and rolling them up past my elbows and then undoing a center button on my shirt and tucking my tie inside to keep it out of the way.      
Personally, I liked “busting” the linen chute as it was commonly referred to in the sorting room.  It was probably only because I didn’t have to deal with the aftermath.
“How far is it backed up?” I asked.
Frank took a deep breath, “’Round fifteenth or sixteenth floor I think.”
“Pretty far,” I said.
“Yeah…pretty far,” Frank’s gloomy countenance agreed.  “Gonna be a mess when we’re all done,” he added dejectedly.
“Anything for the guest…right?” I offered.
“Right,” he gave me an unconvincing stare.
Frank was a great guy and a fantastically motivated employee, but there was a reason he liked 2B – guest relations was not his strong suit.  Still, he’d put forth the extra effort to find the blankie, because that was Frank.  His work ethic wouldn’t allow for anything less.
“Bite to eat first?” he nodded toward the remaining pieces of his sub sandwich that lay splayed on the table.
“What the heck,” I shrugged.  “Got to get my energy up for what’s coming,” I walked over, grabbed a section of sandwich, and took a big bite.
I made it into my third chew before my gag reflexes hit and I spit my mouthful into my hand.  I was all for being polite, and I didn’t want to offend Frank, but whatever he’d just given me tasted absolutely terrible.
“Ugh,” I grimaced, sticking my tongue out and cringing in disgusted.  “What the hell is this?”
“Peanut butter and sardine,” he grinned evilly and then started with a full-bellied laugh that echoed out of the sorting room and down the empty corridors of 2B.
“You son of a gun,” I gave him a narrow-eyed stare.  “Okay, you got me,” I half-smiled, always up for a good prank.
I walked over to deposit the rest of the nastiness in a big trash barrel that sat in one corner of the room.
“No!  Not that one!” Frank waved me off.  “That’s for dry stuff only…stained linen, junk that comes down the chute, and other non-food trash.  We only dump that one about once a month.  That little one over there,” he pointed to a much smaller trash can beside the barrel, “that one’s for food and stuff that’ll rot.  It gets dumped daily.  Can you imagine if you put that sandwich in the barrel and left it for another couple weeks?”
“Dear god!” I cringed at the thought, depositing my sandwich in the smaller trash bin.
“You ready?” Frank asked, having enjoyed his little trick on me.
“I suppose,” I said as I spit into the trash can and then swallowed over and over again as I worked to clear the horrific taste that had seared itself into my palate.
 “Just remember,” Frank said as I walked over to him and he handed me a pair of rubber gloves, “stay out of the way when things get rolling.  This stuff can come out with a lot of force behind it when it’s stacked up this high.”
“Gotcha,” I nodded.
“And watch out for debris.  Broken glass, silverware, pins, needles, and other sharp stuff can all get you if you’re not careful.”
“Will do,” I said.  “This ain’t my first rodeo, remember.”
“I know, I know,” Frank nodded, “but I wouldn’t be doing my job if I didn’t remind you.”
“Right enough.”
“Okay, you ready to do this?” Frank asked, walking over to the linen chute.
“Ready as I’ll ever be,” I followed behind him.
“Help me get this conveyor belt out of the way,” he said, grabbing one end of the contraption.
I moved in beside him and assisted him in sliding the smaller conveyor that sat beneath the linen chute over and out of the way.  Then Frank went back to the chute where he unclipped several latches and slid the heavy steel door on rolling tracks out from beneath the linen chute’s exit.  In the process, he released from within a tightly-packed tubular mix of sheets and towels.  The tube of linen smacked down against the room’s concrete floor with a heavy “thud” and struck with enough force to rattle the nearby conveyor belt and attached scaffolding before it stopped fast.  It reminded me of a massive piece of white lipstick jutting downward from within its tube. 
I walked over to stand beside Frank near the tube-formed stack of linen.  We both put our hands against one side of it and pushed.  The tube of cloth bent and bulged outward but did not break.
“She’s about to let loose,” Frank said.
We gave it one more heave.  The middle of the exposed tube bent, gave way, and began to extract itself, slithering snake-like from the exit of the steel cylinder as it unfurled itself.  The floor around us was covered as literally tons of linen rushed down from the tower of cloth backed up stories above us.  It kind of reminded me of squeezing a tube of toothpaste or mushing Play-doh from a dispenser.  The cascade continued for several seconds before slowing.  Another quick shove from Frank redirected its flow toward a lesser covered portion of the floor and kept it moving for a few more seconds before it slowed again and then stopped.  
We took a minute to pull the piles of scattered linen out and away from the chute’s base, dispersing it around the floor to make room for more.
“What floor was this blanket supposed to have come from?” Frank asked.
“The room was 13-107,” I told him.
Frank took a deep breath and frowned, “We’ve got a ways to go then.”  He wiped a bit of sweat from his forehead.  “You said it’s pink?”
“Yep,” I nodded.
After another minute of clearing the surrounding area of linen, we gave the cloth cocoon another good push to restart its unfurling.  Then we repeated the process again.
The dirty linen was really beginning to pile up around us.  We saw some other items – a few stuff animals, a bag of garbage that had obviously missed the garbage chute, some room service plates and silverware, multiple bars of soap and shampoo bottles, an empty champagne bottle, a kid’s shoe, a pair of swim trunks, and some other assorted articles of clothing, as well as a couple television remotes – all come down, but still no blankie.
“Amazing what gets tossed down this thing,” I shook my head in astonishment and the number of articles we were accumulating.
“Just never know,” said Frank.  
“How much farther you think we have to go?” I asked.
Frank pondered for a moment.  “We should be up to around the tenth or eleventh floor by now. Probably one more push ought to do it.”
Frank was right.  After another good shove, we watched the snake of linen wiggle and writhe for a few more seconds before we caught a quick glimpse of pink shoot out from within.  I reached into the coiling ranks and snatched the blankie up before it was buried beneath the ever-growing mounds.  It was wrapped around a broken piece of wooden broom handle, which I quickly detached and winged toward the far corner of the room where the big barrel trash can sat.  
“I got it!” I shouted, jumping out of the way to avoid being buried in what was far from a sanitary tomb, while at the same time watching my three-point shot with the broom handle rim the edge of the trash barrel and go in.  “And he scores!” I added.
Just as I got out of the way, I noticed more pinkish color appear on the linen that was still extracting itself from above.  At first, I thought it was another blankie, and I hoped that we might preempt a forthcoming lost and found call, killing two birds with one stone.  But my hopes were quickly dashed as I realized that these were Lanigan Hotel sheets – stained a dark red.  Milliseconds later, the realization hit me that these sheets were covered in blood.
Now I know that many people would probably have thought that such a sight would have me recoiling in horror, but those people have to remember that this was a major hotel, and unfortunately bloodied towels and sheets weren’t all that uncommon.  People cut themselves and used our linens as tourniquets or bled for various other reasons in the bed or bathroom, so seeing bloody linen exit the chute wasn’t really that big a deal.  But what exited just behind the sheets was a big deal. 
Following the blood-covered sheets were more sheets wrapped around what appeared to be a large form.  It came slithering out the chute’s exit, sliding into the billowy bedding the dirty linen had created for it.  A pair of feet wearing men’s shoes were all that protruded from one end of the blood-stained sheets.  Several seconds later, the avalanche from above stopped.
Frank and I stood staring, not believing what we were seeing.
Finally, never tearing his eyes from the sheet-wrapped form, Frank said, “I’ve seen a lot of shit come outta that tube over the years, but I ain’t never seen that.”  He took a deep breath, “That ain’t good.”
“No…” I exhaled heavily as I unwrapped the mummified remains of what turned out to be a young man just enough to take his stiffened wrist in my hand and feel for a pulse that wasn’t there, “…it’s not good at all.”
“Is he…” Frank started, then stopped.
“Yes, he is,” I said, releasing my grip on the dead man’s arm and reaching for my M.O.D. phone.
After this – an apparent second murdered guest at our hotel in just over a year – I was starting to wonder if there might be something to that Michelangelo marble curse after all.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER TWO
 
 
My first act after the discovery of the body was to put in a 911 call to emergency responders even though I knew doing so was largely pointless.  Still, I had to follow proper hotel protocol.  My next call was to Steve Sukol – our director of security – at home.  Then I called Tom Hansen – our hotel general manager – who didn’t answer his phone.  I expected nothing less from our fearless leader.  He was probably carefully screening any and all calls from hotel personnel so as not to interrupt his holiday feasting.  My fourth and final call was to John Marino of the Chicago Police Department, Homicide Division.
I’d met Detective Marino over a year ago when he was assigned to another murder case at the hotel.  He’d found my knowledge of the inner-workings of our property and procedures instrumental in solving the case and we’d developed a cordial relationship, if not a friendship, during that time.  
The detective had about an inch or two on my six-foot frame and was a bit trimmer, which didn’t surprise me considering he was often on the move around downtown Chicago while I tended to remain rather sedentary within the confines of the hotel.  He had hard, almost piercing brown eyes and cropped brown hair to match.  His face with thin and elongated, but not unattractively so, and he tended to dress immaculately.  
Upon his arrival to the hotel shortly after my call, I found him wearing a dark brown, hand-tailored suit.  It was from a local high-end manufacturer that made the famed green jackets for the Masters Golf Tournament and that I’d heard had also cut the suits for one of Illinois’ former governors…before he was shipped off to prison that is.  
I wondered how Detective Marino could afford such luxury on a cop’s salary, but I didn’t ask any questions.  We all have our indulgences.  I guess men’s fine apparel was his.
The detective and his men arrived just after the emergency personnel.  It had been several months since I’d last seen him.  He’d stopped by one Saturday night in October while in the neighborhood and I’d treated him to a few drinks down at the Navigator’s Club, the hotel’s hot spot on a Saturday night.  We had discussed the last case he’d helped me with – or vice versa – a year prior, as well as several new ones he’d been working.  The two of us got along well because we had minds that were similar – very analytical.  While the detective loved working to crack real world cases, I tended to limit my investigatory work to things like today’s missing blankie or a cash variance in a front desk agent’s bank.
The detective was typically all business and liked to get right to the point, and today he didn’t let me down.  I saw him notice me as soon as he entered the linen sorting room.  He eyed me warily as he approached.
 “Haze, I hope you’re not going to make a habit of things like this,” he motioned toward the body still lying in the pile of sheets that had now been cordoned off with yellow crime scene tape.  “I like your hotel, but I don’t really want to become the resident detective here.”
“Oh come on,” I said as we shook hands, “it’s been over a year since the last one.  It’s not like we’re knocking them off left and right.  This kind of thing happens occasionally in a hotel our size.”
“So what we got?” he asked, taking a notepad from his inner suit jacket pocket, flipping it open, and pulling a pen from the pad’s attached holder.
I found it interesting that he posed the question to me rather than the several officers who had cordoned off the scene before he arrived.
“Came down here looking for a lost and found item, a child’s pink blanket,” I explained.  “We busted the chute…”
“What’s ‘busted’ mean?” he interrupted as he scribbled on his pad.
“Cleared it out,” I clarified.  “Around this time of year, when things are slow, we tend to let it back up until the linen staff returns from their holiday break.”
The detective nodded that he understood and scribbled another note in his pad.
“Anyway,” I continued, “sometimes things like stuffed animals, clothing, blankets and the likes get wrapped up and tossed down in the dirty towels and bed sheets.  To find them, we have to sort through whatever is built up inside the linen chute.  To do that, we have to bust it out.”
“You find the blanket?” the detective asked, an eyebrow raised questioningly.
“Yeah…came out right before our victim over there.  You think I’ll be able to return it to the guests who reported it missing?  Your boys over there,” I nodded to several uniformed officers still milling about the linen sorting room, “bagged it and tagged it as soon as they arrived.”
“Sorry,” the detective shook his head. “Not until this thing is solved.”
“Damn!” I hissed.  “Well, at least the family will know they’ll be getting it back eventually,” I reasoned.
“Hope so,” the detective added.  “Oh, and I’m going to have to keep this area closed off indefinitely until forensics have had time to get in here and get everything they need.”
“Oh come on, Marino,” I moaned.  “You’re going to shut down the sorting room for a hotel this size.  You know what a cluster that’s going to be for us?”
“It’s Christmas,” the detective shrugged.  “You should be slow this time of year.”
“Slow still means at least a couple hundred rooms worth of sheets and towels to process each day,” I argued.
“Sorry,” the detective said.  “Going to be at least a couple days.  A lot of our people are on holiday break too, so it might be even longer.”
“Alright,” I huffed, knowing it was pointless to argue.  One thing the detective wasn’t was a push-over, and I knew from our experience working together on the last case, he said what he meant and he stuck to his guns.
“You know who the dead man is?” he asked me.
I shook my head, “No, nothing other than what I could observe…white male, looked to be somewhere in his late-20s or early-30s, nicely dressed, and he appeared to have been stabbed multiple times, although I didn’t see a murder weapon anywhere near the body.  Guess it doesn’t mean that it’s not wrapped up somewhere among the mess,” I gestured around me at the mounds of linen.  “I saw the officers pull some identification off him, but they wouldn’t tell me anything.”
“Good,” the detective nodded, pleased at the officers’ adherence to protocol.  “Stick around,” he said. “I’m going to check in with them, but I’m sure I’ll need more from you.”
“Oh, I’m sure,” I nodded, already compiling a mental list of reports, people, and places the detective would likely need to see.
As Detective Marino left to speak to the other officers, Steve Sukol, our director of security, arrived on the scene.
Steve was a hulking beast of a man, but his demeanor placed him more at the “gentle giant” end of the personality spectrum.  Steve was a good six-foot-five and was the better part of 350 pounds.  I was a slightly above average sized individual, especially when it came to weight these days.  My hibernation instincts during the long Chicago winter had packed an extra five pounds upon my six-foot frame, but I had nothing on Steve.
“What’s the story?” he ambled slowly up to me, a long black camelhair coat unbuttoned around his girth.  He wiped his nose, breathing heavily from of his mouth. 
“Little under the weather?” I asked.
“Sinus infection,” he wiped at his nose again and sniffled.
“Body in the linen chute,” I told him.  “Appears to have been stabbed.”
“Police got it under control?”
“Detective Marino’s here,” I nodded.  I knew Steve hated paperwork, and he was certainly willing to dump off any extra work on the Chicago Police Department if at all possible.
“He the one from last time?”
“Yes, the Allen Doddsman case.”
“You need anything from me?” 
“Not yet,” I told him.  “I’m sure we’ll probably have to conduct some employee interviews, investigate some entries on electronic door locks, that kind of stuff.  But I can probably handle most of it with the detective…unless you want to be involved.”
I didn’t want to overstep any boundaries or leave Steve feeling as though he wasn’t being shown the proper respect, but I had a feeling I knew him well enough by now to have a pretty good read on his intentions.  Still, I felt it polite to ask.
“No, that’s fine,” he sniffled. “Have at it.  Let me know if I can help.  You have my number.  Have a Merry Christmas.”  And with that, he turned and made his way out of the sorting room.
Steve knew his role, and dealing with murders wasn’t part of it.  Handling hotel theft and loss prevention, security policy implementation, and employee safety training he was fine with, but anything more than that, and it was up to the good old CPD.
As I stood waiting for the detective to finish talking to his officers, I called our director of housekeeping, Marian Marshall, at home.
“Hi, Robert?” she answered.
“Hello Marian, sorry to bother you at home.”
“Yes?” she said tentatively.  The dejection was already evident in her voice, and I could sympathize.  Hotels, unlike people, never slept; and it seemed like they always chose the most inopportune moments to spring their emergencies.
“We’ve had an,” I searched for the right word, “incident in the linen sorting room.”
“Oh no,” Marian said.  “Was anyone hurt?”
“Well…” I pondered how to answer.  Housekeeping was the rumor breeder of the hotel, and the last thing I wanted to do was let this tale-twisting department in on the fact that there had been a murder.  But I knew that it’d get out eventually, so I let loose with both barrels.  “A guest was found dead in the linen chute.”
“Oh my god,” I heard Marian breathe.  “Do they know what happened?”
“Not yet,” I explained.  “That’s just the problem.  The police are going to have to shut down the sorting room for a couple days…maybe longer so that they can investigate.”
“You’ve got to be kidding,” Marian moaned.  “Do they know what that does to a hotel this size?” 
“Believe me, I already told them, but it doesn’t matter.  Looks like we’ll have to do our sorting elsewhere.  With the hotel at such low occupancy, we could probably put out one of the larger meeting rooms, move some tables in, have the housepersons bring the dirty stuff down in carts, and the sorters can work out of there.”
“Guess we’ll have to,” Marian pondered.  “Of course sales will charge my department for use of the meeting rooms,” said mumbled.  “And I’ll have to add extra sorters to the schedule.  It’s going to kill my December and January budgets…they’ve already been cut to the bone.”
I let Marian vent for another minute about how this could screw up her department budget for the entire year and how our general manager, Tom, never understood how the housekeeping department always had all the hotel’s problems dumped upon it. Finally, I did my best to kindly cut her off so I could get back to the situation at hand.  Housekeeping’s budget was the least of my concerns right now.  I had to break the bad news to Tom and try to keep this whole mess on the down low – at least for the time being.  Thankfully, I knew that gossip would be kept to a minimum with the lower staffing levels at this time of year, but the hotel’s annual holiday party was right around the corner, and that meant rumors would likely start erupting like wildfire.  Once they got started, they were hard to contain, and could even spread to local news agencies as they burned out of control.  
After last year’s little incident with Mr. Doddsman’s untimely demise upon our premises, the last things the hotel wanted – or needed – was any more bad publicity.
 
 
* * *
 
 
After I got off the phone with Marian, I wrapped things up with Detective Marino who was busy directing his men in collecting evidence and photographing the crime scene.  He was busy, and I needed to get upstairs to Tom and explain what was going on.  I knew our rotund GM wouldn’t be happy, especially with his favorite holiday looming, but I didn’t have much choice.  I had to break the bad news.
“I’ve got to get going,” I told the detective.  “You know how to get a hold of me.”
“Will do,” he waved me away, his attentions focused elsewhere.
I knew he’d come calling with a laundry list (no pun intended) of reports he needed, interviews to be conducted, and questions for me to answer when he was ready.  It was best just to leave him to his work and let him find me when he was ready.
I headed back down 2B’s murky main corridor and called a service elevator.  Inside, I slid my manager’s key into the “P” slot on the floor indicator panel and rode up to the newly renovated rooftop “owner’s” suite.  
The owner’s suite had remained empty – and in rather horrendous condition – for decades until I mentioned the idea of rehabilitating it to Tom.  My theory was that a certain M.O.D. (ahem) could reside there, since said M.O.D. already lived on the premises.  Tom however, seeing the opportunity to rid himself of a mortgage as he neared retirement age and ditch hefty Chicago real estate taxes, jumped at the chance to take the space for himself.  I wasn’t one to complain though.  My own little suite on the 23rd floor, one of two hotel Honors VIP levels, was more than sufficient.  And with free rent, the price was certainly right.
Just to be polite, I called Tom again on my way up to let him know I was coming.  Of course he didn’t answer his phone, but I was sure he was there.  Tom rarely left the hotel anymore, often choosing to seclude himself in one of his two little hideaways from the world, his rooftop suite or his office.
Exiting the elevator, I made my way down a short, brightly-lit hallway that ended before a single door.  I rang the buzzer and waited.
Several seconds later, I could hear rustling behind the door and then a garbled voice call, “Who is it?” 
It was Tom, and I could tell that he was eating, which wasn’t unusual for our hotel’s figurehead.
“It’s me, Tom!” I called.  “Robert!”
“Bobby my boy!” he cried, swinging the door open, a dripping Italian beef sandwich sagging in his hand.
It was a rare occasion when Tom referred to me by my given name.  And I knew it was serious when he did.  Most of the time it was ‘Bob’, ‘Robbie’, ‘Bobby’, ‘Roberto’, ‘Bobert’, ‘Hobby-Bobby’, ‘Umberto’, or some variation thereof.  The odd nicknames had taken me a while to adjust too, but now I expected them. 
Last year, Tom had offered to have me replace him in the Lanigan’s top spot, but I had respectfully declined the position, preferring to allow the old duck to remain at the hotel and reap its many benefits – free rent, free utilities, free food, free laundry service, free transportation, and a company credit card and expense account.  I pretty much ran the place anyway.  And old Tom loved it at the hotel.  Tom was always happy to see me since he knew that even if I was the bearer of troubling news, I’d be the one to rectify the situation anyway.  Other department managers often expected solutions from Tom.  But poor Tom hated having issues dumped upon him and often buckled under the pressure, so I did my best to deflect any problems away from him whenever possible.  A murder on the premises though was something I couldn’t quite sweep under the carpet.
Tom took one look at me and his shoulders began to sag while his face grew red.  He could tell just by looking at me that something was wrong.
He put the back of his non-sandwich-holding hand to his forehead. “Oh no…what is it Bobby?” he sucked wind and took a wobbly step back.
“Come on, Tom” I took hold of the portly fellow’s arm and guided him over to a nearby sofa where he could sit.  Tom loved food, and over the past few years, he had packed on the pounds with delicious Chicago eating, and plenty of it.  Now he was about as wide as he was tall.  I plopped him down on the sofa so I could relay the bad news.  
“It appears there’s been a murder,” I explained.
He took a large bit of his sandwich from which a few hot peppers, chunks of juicy beef, and a glob of melted mozzarella slid out its back end and plopped onto the floor.
“Have the police been called?” he asked hesitantly.
“Yes,” I nodded.  “Detective Marino is handling the case.”
“That’s the one from last time?” Tom frowned.
“It is,” I confirmed.
“You informed Steve?”
“Yes…he’s happy to let the CPD handle it.”
“Good,” Tom nodded.  “Good.  That’s the way it should be.  Yes, let the police department handle it.”  He took another bite.  His face still worried, he said, “Who’s working with them?”
“I am,” I nodded.
Tom suddenly looked as though a two-ton boulder had been lifted from his shoulders. “Ah…” he breathed, “…good.  You’ll get them everything they need?”
“Yes,” I confirmed.  I didn’t want him worrying about this.  His poor pudgy body had other concerns, like trying to digest the wad of fat he was currently ingesting.  Therefore, I attempted to lighten the mood.  “But we have bigger issues,” I told him.
I watched Tom’s face as it went from a look of placated panic to one of sheer terror. “Bigger issues than murder!” he cried, having to double-clutch his sandwich as he nearly lost hold of it.
“Yes,” I nodded gravely.  “We have to ensure that you’re ready for tomorrow,” I told him.  
He eyed me, confused.
“The Christmas party,” I reminded him.
“Oh yes,” he sighed, taking another monstrous bite of his sandwich in relief.  “I almost forgot about the Christmas party,” he mumbled around the bite.
“You have your suit ready?”
“Just got it back from the cleaners yesterday,” he beamed, glad to be rid of the topic of murder that had dampened his Christmas cheer for almost an entire sixty seconds.
“Good,” I nodded.  “You know the drill?”
“Been doing it for more years than I can count.  I ought to have it down by now,” he chortled heartily, taking another bite and then washing it down with several humongous gulps from a giant soda sitting on the coffee table before him. 
“Alright then, I’ll leave you to it,” I smiled, standing to leave Tom to work on inhaling the rest of his sandwich.
“Mmmkay…” Tom mumbled over another mouthful while he continued to chomp noisily as I departed. 
How Tom had managed to stay the general manager of a major downtown Chicago hotel all these years continued to elude me, but he was our GM, and we loved him.
 
 
* * *
 
 
Later that night, Detective Marino called to fill me in on our dead guest’s name as well as to request his room be “locked out,” a process in which all access to the room was restricted to a single key that would remain in the police department’s possession.  
At my office desk, I pulled up the guest’s room in our computer system.  The detective had told me that our murder victim was a 29-year-old male named Derrick Statler.  I could see from the information we had in the system that he hailed from nearby Merrillville, Indiana and had booked his room for a total of two nights.
“Twenty-nine,” I mumbled to myself, shaking my head sadly.  “So young.”
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER THREE
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 12/24 MOD Report
 
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Saturday, December 24th

 
Weather: 29/21 Snow                                                                                    
Occupancy: 32%
Arrivals: 343                                                                                                  
Departures: 72  
 
Event Resume:
	Blue Velvet Room (12 p.m. – 1:30 p.m.) – CNA Consulting luncheon 

 
	6th Floor Meeting Rooms – Oak, Elm, Sycamore – (4 p.m. – 8 p.m.) - Dept. pre-event parties (Housekeeping, Property Operations, Sales and Marketing)

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (6 p.m. – 2 a.m.)

 
	Lake Ballroom (6 p.m. – 8 p.m.) – Live jazz for Lanigan holiday party 

 
	Grand Ballroom (8 p.m. - midnight) - Lanigan Hotel all-staff holiday party

 
Notes:
 
* The entire 21st floor will be placed out of order for deep cleaning and a quarterly maintenance check.
 
**All non-scheduled staff: Please enjoy the annual Lanigan holiday party! **
 
***All department managers: Please remind employees not to burden the front desk staff with requests for rooms in addition to the one they have been allotted for the holiday party.***
 
 
***
 
 
The Lanigan Hotel’s annual holiday celebration was an event not to be missed.  Anyone who wasn’t scheduled to work, and typically a good number of those who were, enjoyed letting loose for a few hours.  It was one of several times throughout the year when employees were allowed to stay in the hotel overnight.  Those few wild hours celebrating with co-workers in the Grand Ballroom were just the beginning.  The rollicking times that ensued would ultimately move upstairs to multiple blazing-hot after-parties in employee rooms and that typically took several calls to security to extinguish.   
I personally tended not to partake in the raucous events that the holiday party brought with it.  Someone had to remain sober to handle any incidents of which there were usually a few.  Plus, watching the chaos unfold among the usually tame hotel staff was often far more entertaining than any amount of alcohol I could consume or dancing I could do.
With my regular date for the event already scheduled, I was able to take a little extra time in my preparations for the evening.  I donned my formal tuxedo and then headed down to the Polynesian Restaurant located on the Lanigan’s first sub-street level – or “1B” for short – to pick up provisions for the evening’s entertainment.  
The Polynesian had opened at the Lanigan in 1948.  It offered tantalizingly tasty island fare and was famous for its tiki bar and dinner show that included dancing hula girls and fire twirlers on Friday and Saturday nights.
Having called my order down in advance, it was ready and waiting when I arrived at eight.  The holiday bash also started at eight, but things never really got rolling until closer to nine.  In my to-go bag, there was an order of popcorn shrimp with a Hawaiian dipping sauce, scallops with a honey teriyaki glaze, and fried calamari along with several Mai Tai travelers.  The drinks were mostly for my date, not me, although I was known to sneak a sip or two occasionally just for taste.
I then rode the elevator up to the fourth floor where the party was being hosted in our magnificent Grand Ballroom.  Rather than coming in through the main entrance where arriving guests were formally announced by name as though they were meeting royalty, I snuck around to the ballroom’s rear employee entrance.  There, I made my way up a flight of stairs to a balcony that overlooked the stage and gave me a full view of the entire ballroom below.
My date was already there waiting, a half-finished bucket of beer sitting on the floor beside him.
“You finally made it,” Jason Altman, our director of the front desk and my best friend inside the hotel or out, greeted me as I set our bag of treats down on a small table that sat between several chairs Jay had hauled up for us.  He was also tuxedo clad.  “Fashionably late?” he asked.
I adjusted my bow tie and sat.  “No…just late.  But I come bearing gifts, so I hope that helps.”
“Oooh,” he perked up, eyeing the containers as I dug them one-by-one from the to-go bag and set them on the table.  “Smells awesome!”
I gave him the rundown of what lay in wait inside the containers as I handed him a Mai Tai.     
Jay and I had made this our holiday party tradition for the second consecutive year.  We found our box seats the perfect spot for observing all the rigmarole and hub-bub below while staying safely out of the fray.  I’d gotten a black eye trying to break up a fight between several room attendants at my first holiday party shortly after I’d started working at the hotel, and that’d been enough for me.  Since then, I’d learn to defer my party participation until after the celebration had moved upstairs and I was forced to get involved to protect our guests from unruly or overly-boisterous staff members as well as our staff members from themselves.
Sitting high in our balcony-box perch, safe from the madcap goings-on, I felt like Statler and Waldorf – the two grizzled old timers on The Muppet Show – watching, commenting, and laughing at the scenes, sights, and sounds below.
Right now, the music was tuned to a holiday medley being soothingly piped through the ballroom’s speakers as employees continued to arrive and pick at hors d’oeuvres laid out on a massive multi-table buffet-style spread.  But I knew this restrained inhibition wouldn’t last long.  
I looked at my watch.  It was 8:57 p.m.
“Three minutes and counting,” I told Jay as the rumble of voices below us started to build and more people began to pack the ballroom.

“Awwww yeaaaah,” Jay drawled, rubbing his hands together.  “It’s about to get good.”
“Yup,” I nodded, sneaking a sip of Mai Tai and then popping a sauce-laden shrimp into my mouth.
By the time I was done chewing, things had started with a bang.  As the lights went down, a blast of mega-sized party poppers sent streamers and snowflake-shaped confetti blasting out across the stage and dance floor where party-goers were gathered.  Across the stage from us, Santa Claus descended from the sky in his sleigh, spotlights scanning the ballroom’s ceiling around him as though searching for bombers in the sky over London.  Santa was of course played by Tom, our costume-festooned general manager who had somehow managed to squeeze into his Santa suit for the umpteenth year.
“One year those cables are going to snap and Tom’s going to come down, sleigh and all,” Jay muttered over a mouthful of calamari.  
“He’d wipe out half the crowd in the process,” I nodded.
From above, Santa Tom threw handfuls of dollar bills and lottery tickets from a big bag in his sleigh.  The crowd beneath screamed and shouted and scrambled for the cash.
Tom loved playing this roll each holiday season.  It was probably the highlight of his year.  Who could deny that free cash was a great employee morale booster?  
With the crowd’s pockets padded with some free green, Tom and his sleigh were carefully lowered to the stage where he was pried from within and then guided to the buffet tables by several members of security.
Then the music started.
 Bombastic bass came blasting through the speakers, and it was on.
I looked out across the dance floor awash in elegant evening gowns, gleaming sequined dresses, high heels, suits, ties, and in many instances, canes, top hats of various sizes and colors, and a mixture of other evening attire that did nothing to stand in the way of the Lanigan employees busting out their best moves on the dance floor.  Young, old, big, small, new to the hotel or fixtures for forty years, it was all good tonight.
We continued to sit in our balcony booth where we could observe, eat, drink, and comment upon the events of the evening as they unfolded.  We saw Marvin Garish, the head bartender at Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge arrive with an apparent new boyfriend in tow.  Then we noticed Linda Evans, a multi-decade employee of the hotel whose knowledge regarding the history of the Lanigan had helped solve our last hotel murder.  She wiggled her rear in an eye-shatteringly tight, blue-sequined gown out on the dance floor.  Both the dress and moves took decades off her retirement-age body.  
We tried to pick out couples among other employees as they danced.  The holiday party was where secret lovers around the hotel often sprung their relationships upon the world, sometimes with disastrous and unintended results.  Banquet and facilities department employees were seen bumping and grinding with front desk agents.  Property operations staff was seen with members of the sales department.  Room attendants rubbed elbows with security guards.  And of course there was the constant swapping of inter-department couples that never ceased to amaze me from one year to the next.  Sometimes the cycle moved so fast that a couple we’d observed last year might have had several interim intra-hotel romances before re-coupling for this year’s party.
Most of the time, disputes of the heart were settled amicably, or at least without punches being thrown, but not always.  And one never knew if it would be the men or the women who would be throwing down when it came to blows.  Some of housekeeping’s female room attendants were just as dangerous – or more so – than their male lovers, although by the short skirts, high heels, and shapely bodies that were toned and honed from hours spent in rigorous room-cleaning workout routines five days a week, one would never have guessed it.
Kristen Sparks, the front desk evening supervisor and close friend, arrived just after ten, once she’d finished her shift.  We had worked third shift together for a time last year, and while we got along like two peas in a pod, there’d never been anything physical between us.  It wasn’t that I didn’t find Kristen physically attractive.  In fact, she was a knockout looking gal with brains to boot.  But a sizeable age gap, paired with our positions in the hotel hierarchy, made anything more than a good friendship somewhat inappropriate.  Plus, Kristen had just ended a nearly year-long relationship with Tommy Philstein, our hotel currier, and in her own words, she was “ready for a break.”
“Hello,” she bounced perkily onto the balcony, settling into a spare chair I’d brought up for her.  “So what have I missed so far?”
“Too much to tell.  Lot’s of new couples out there,” I mouthed over a teriyaki-glazed scallop.  “Help yourself,” I motioned to the remnants of the food that were laid out on our small table and that Jay and I had already pretty well decimated.
“Oooh, treats!” Kristen’s eyes lit up, her shock of blonde ponytailed hair dancing behind her as she grabbed a small plate and loaded it with goodies.
“Here,” I handed her a Mai Tai.
“Service with a smile.  Thanks,” she added, giving me a wink.
“My pleasure,” I beamed.  “Happy to serve.”
“I feel so under dressed sitting here with you two gentlemen all done up.”
“Don’t,” I placated her concerns.  “No one sees us up here anyway.  We’re like the two guys in…” 
  “Ooo! Ooo!” Kristen interrupted, pointing down at the dance floor.  “Something’s going on!”
We turned our attention back to the ballroom happenings.  Below us, we could see a small crowd gathered around Marv and his new beau who had moments before been bumping and grinding down on the dance floor.  From what I could gather, it appeared that one of the front desk agents had tried to cut in on their grooving, and while the new boyfriend or gentleman escort or whatever he was, had apparently been receptive to the idea, Marv definitely was not.    
I could see Marv gesticulating wildly, gesturing with his hands, delivering a verbal tirade that was almost audible even over the thumping of the music.  Suddenly, Marv turned to the front desk agent and spit at him, and then turned back to his man friend and slapped him across the face, an act met with a collective “Ooooooohhhh!” from the crowd of onlookers eager for drama.  Then Marv stormed out of the ballroom in a huff.
“Well that was fun,” Jay commented.  “Fight number one is done.  How many more will we have before the night is over?” he pondered aloud.
“I’m sure I’ll be finding out shortly when the calls from upset guests angry about the noise start coming in,” I answered.
“And I’ll be finding out on Monday morning when I read your M.O.D. report,” Jay answered with a grin.  “And with that, I’m heading home to sleep in my big bed alone and without fear of getting slapped, spit on or whatever else.”
“Lucky bastard,” I grinned.
“You know you love the drama here,” he nudged me with an elbow as he rose from his chair.
Kristen and I held on for about another hour, finishing off the rest of the food as I tried to fill her in on the various couplings I’d observed before her arrival.
At a little after eleven, my M.O.D. phone vibrated against my waist from where it was positioned on my belt.
“Uh oh,” I called to Kristen over the din of the music and the alcohol-buoyed swell of the sea of voices below.  “Looks like duty calls,” I held my phone up for her to see the illuminated screen that flashed an incoming call from the hotel’s phone operators who sat in the quiet seclusion of the communication department a floor above us.
“Better get to it,” she nodded.  “I should be going anyway. I still have Christmas presents to wrap.”
We bid each other a quick goodnight and I moved to the balcony’s rear stairway where I could hear slightly better.  “This is Robert, go ahead,” I answered my phone.
The nasal-pitched tone of one of our operator’s came through, “Robert, this is Brenda in communications.  The guest in room 17-271 is reporting a disturbance outside their room.”
“Did you call security?” I asked as my standard follow-up for this type of issue.
“Yes I did,” Brenda paused a moment, “but the guest says it’s two security guards arguing that’s causing the disturbance.
“Oh lord,” I sighed to myself.  “I’ll take care of it,” I told Brenda. 
“Thank you. I’ll let the guest know,” Brenda said, sounding relieved.
I left the party as quietly as I’d come, no one taking notice as I slid, shadow-like through the throngs of inebriated employees to the back of house area where the service elevators awaited.  I rode up to the 17th floor where I could hear yelling the minute I stepped off the elevator and onto the back landing.  Moving my way around several room service “hot boxes” packed with room service trays full of dirty dishes and leftovers waiting to be taken downstairs for cleaning, I made my way out into the guest corridor.  Following the sounds of irate shouting, I quickly discovered Goran and Sebastian – two of our newly hired security guards who had recently emigrated from Serbia.
“Guys, guys,” I said in a hushed tone, pushing my hands down flat toward the floor to indicate they needed to lower their voices.  “Keep it down.  Now what’s going on here?”  
They both turned to look at me, appearing surprised at my arrival.  
I looked at my watch. “It’s eleven forty-five; people are trying to sleep.”
They both started jabbering at me loudly in a combination of broken English and what I took to be Serbian.       
“Whoa, whoa, whoa,” I said, putting my hands up in front of me, “just hold on a second.  One at a time.”  I knew Goran slightly better, so after leading them away from the guest room that had reported the disturbance, I asked him to start explaining what was happening.
“Okay,” he said in heavily eastern European accented English, “Seb called me down in security office to see if room 17-270 occupied.  I tell him no.  He say television on, door open.  He say he turn off, check rest of floor, come back, television back on but door is closed.  He call me again…ask if I sure room empty.  I say yes.  He get mad, say I mess with him.  I say no, I no mess with him, maybe he messed in head.  He say, maybe I messed in head.  I mad now, so I come up, show him no one in room.  But when I come up, he not here, still I find room closed but with television on.  I turn off, close door, go look for him.  I no find.  When I come back, door still closed but television on.  Then Seb come. I know is him mess with me now.  But he say no, room haunted, we argue, then you come.”
I exhaled heavily.  “That’s it?” I asked in exasperation.
Now they were both looking at me like I was the one who didn’t understand. 
“But 17-270 haunted!” said Sebastian, wide-eyed and pointing back down the hall.
“Seb,” I tried to sooth him, “it’s not haunted.  It’s probably just a glitch in the television.  I’ll have property operations take a look at it in the morning.
“No, is ghost,” Seb insisted.  “I get feeling up here on this floor…always this floor…is ghosts here.”
“There are no ghosts,” I said.
“Is what I told him,” Goran nodded.  “No ghosts…see?” he prodded his co-worker.
“Are ghosts!” Seb shook his head, insistent in his conviction that ethereal guests were apparently occupying the room.  “You stay up here by self…you see,” he nodded.  “Strange things happen by 17-270.”  
My M.O.D. phone vibrated again, indicating that another issue had cropped up.
“Either way guys, it doesn’t matter.  What matters is that we have to stay quiet when we’re up here on guest floors.  We save these types of conversations for the breakroom or when you’re down in the security office.  Okay?” I searched their eyes for comprehension of what I was telling them.
They both nodded.
I looked at my phone.  It was the front desk this time.  “Got to go,” I told the men.  “This is Robert, go ahead,” I answered my phone as I walked to the back landing and hit the service elevator “down” button.
“Robert, this is Lashanda at the front desk.  We have a situation with one of the room attendants here.”
“I’m on my way down right now,” I told her.
“Copy that,” she answered, hanging up.
Two minutes later, I was back downstairs.  I could see a tall woman with dark hair, fair skin, and wearing a skintight black mini-dress and four-inch heels standing alone at the front desk.  
Lashanda emerged from the back office as I approached and we met at the far end of the registration desk, away from the waiting guest.
“Lashanda,” I said in a quiet voice, “I thought you said there was a room attendant down here.”
Lashanda rolled her eyes toward the leggy brunette. “Right there,” she muttered.  “Been giving me attitude.  Said she booked an employee room for the night, but I don’t show her anywhere in the system.  She was getting all huffy puffy and wouldn’t listen.  She’s drunker than a skunk too.”
“I’ll handle it,” I said.
“If you don’t, I’m gonna,” Lashanda said, starting to roll up her shirt sleeves.
“Don’t sweat it,” I smiled at her.  “Go take a breather.”
Working at the front desk could be stressful.  Most guests with a problem typically made it known at the front desk, and our staff members got all sorts of stuff dumped on them all day, and night, long.  So I tried to relieve some of that pressure whenever I could.  Our staff was motivated, hard-working, and well-trained, but sometimes I felt they were underpaid for the amount of crap they had to shovel from non-sympathetic guests, or in this case, other employees.
I walked over to the room attendant who tonight looked more like a runway model.  In her heels, she stood a good inch taller than me, and upon my greeting of “Hi, I’m Robert, the manager on…” she wheeled upon me, her eyes fierce.”
“You the manager?” she said in a thick Russian accent.
“Manager on duty, Robert Haze,” I offered a hand, but she ignored it. 
“I’m to have room tonight, but girl say no room for me.  I tell her, yes, room.  But she still say no.”  She was speaking rapid fire.  “I tell her, big housekeeping lady, Ms. Marshall, she say she book for me reservation, but front desk girl say she no see.”
“Just calm down,” I tried to sooth her.  I could smell the alcohol on her breath.
“You no tell me calm down.  She tell me calm down too,” she pointed toward the front desk where Lashanda had been trying to assist her.  “I say no.  I say I need room.  I tired.  I go sleep, then I calm.  She say…”
I turned and began to walk away.
“Hey…where you go?” the room attendant called after me.
“Well, I was going to escort you to your room if you’d permit me to do so,” I paused and turned back around to face her.       
She looked at me confused.
“Would you care to join me?”
“Da…yes,” she shook her head and frowned, catching her homeland faux pas.
Having dealt with these types of situations so many times before, I knew it was pointless to stand at the front desk arguing or listening to her berate me.  She wanted a room, she was entitled to a room (at least for tonight’s party), and I could provide her with a room.  Problem solved.  I didn’t see a need for her to stand around complaining loud enough for hotel guests to overhear.  In the morning, she’d sober up, probably have forgotten all about the evening’s events, and still have a job – something she might not have for long if I let her continue to vent.
She moved toward me, swaying unsteadily, one ankle buckling to the side as her four-inch heel tipped awkwardly.  I extended an arm to help steady her.  She took it and allowed me to guide her over to the guest elevators.
“The guest elevators?” she questioned uncertainly.  “Are we not to use service elevators?”
“It’s perfectly fine, young lady,” I answered, smiling at her.  “Tonight, you are a guest,” I explained as we waited arm in arm.
Inside the elevator, I tried again. “So I’m Robert, but I don’t know your name.”
“Cecilia,” she said, her countenance serious.  “But people call me Cece,” she gave me a nervous, almost imperceptible smile.  It was a beautiful smile from lips that were as shapely as the body they were attached to. 
“Where are you from, Cece?”
“Lithuania,” she said, her answers short, concise.
“Never been there,” I half joked.  “Is it nice?”
“Beautiful.”
“How long have you worked at the hotel?”
“Two months.”
“You like it?”
“Is okay.”
Yep, a regular Chatty Cathy.
The elevator door dinged our arrival and slid open silently.  I guided the fair maiden down the hallway to her room where I opened the door to 17-270 for her with my manager’s floor master key.
She turned around to face me.  “You care to share room?” she moved up close and put a hand on my chest. 
“Thank you, no,” I respectfully declined the highly inappropriate offer.
While the body was certainly willing, the mind, as well my knowledge regarding the booze-soaked brain of the lovely young lady making the invitation, was saying no.  
She looked disappointed, but not overly so.  “Why television on?” she suddenly asked, looking behind her to notice the faint illumination coming from the bedroom television. 
“Got me,” I shrugged, giving her a big smile and a nod.  “Have a nice evening and sleep tight.”
And with that, I beat a hasty retreat, leaving the leggy Lithuanian with the apparent television-watching ghost of 17-270.
Upon my return to the front desk, I had Lashanda formally book “Cece” into her room before I was hit with several more calls.
The first such call involved an apparent lovers’ quarrel between two hotel employees and that I managed to diffuse after several minutes by giving each of them their own individual room.  The second call was again related to a spat between lovers, this time it was Marvin Garish and his new man friend.
Unfortunately, Marv’s boy toy had already departed, having had enough of Marv’s emotional flip-flopping, and leaving me to act as the shoulder on which Marv could cry.  After five minutes of his teary-eyed outpouring about how much he loved this new man in his life and how he just didn’t see how he could go on without him, I was saved by another call regarding an employee party raging up on the 21st floor.  I used the excuse to break away from Marv’s gushing as he clung to my arm, trying to pull me back for more commiserating.
“Please stay,” he sobbed.  “You’re such a good listener.  I could use a man like you right now,” he suddenly perked up, eyeballing me hungrily.
I didn’t stick around to find out what Marv meant by “use” a man like me.
“Sorry Marv, duty calls,” I said, waggling my M.O.D. phone before him and hurrying off down the hallway.   
By around 2:00 a.m., I had quelled the last of the employee after-parties, and by 2:30, it looked as though things were quieting down around the hotel. Therefore, I headed down to my office, and typed up my M.O.D. report for the evening.  
By three o’clock, I’d collapsed into the billowy king-sized bed in my hotel-room home, content with the knowledge of a job well done and another Lanigan holiday party in the books. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER FOUR
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 12/25 MOD Report
 
 
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Sunday, December 25th
 
Weather: 24/15 - Overcast                                                                                    
Occupancy: 15%
Arrivals: 137                                                                                                              
Departures: 449  
 
Event Resume:
	No Events

 
Merry Christmas!
 
 
***
 
 
Christmas morning broke cold, gray, and gloomy – just the way I like it in Chicago.  Days like this made me feel as though there wasn’t a thing I was missing outside and therefore less guilty about hiding away inside the hotel.  I knew that a swift jog along the lakefront or a brisk walk around the currently abandoned-looking city streets would do the body good; but it was Christmas I reasoned, no reason to overexert myself.  And as I stared out my half-frosted bedroom window, watching the wind whip newspapers and other debris down Monroe Street 24 stories below, I inadvertently shivered at the thought.
I gave a good stretch, feeling my back pop in the process, yawned, walked over to put on the four-cup coffee maker in my suite’s little kitchenette, and headed for the shower.
A toasty 23 minutes later, I was showered, shaved, dried, dressed, and ready for the day.  The only change-up for the holiday to my standard wardrobe was the addition of a Santa and reindeer-adorned tie tucked beneath my navy blue suit.
Taking my mug of steaming hot coffee along with me, I rode the service elevator down to the street level where I got a couple pastries from Vitantonio’s Café, the only eatery in the hotel open for business on Christmas morning.  From there, I took the escalator up to the lobby – currently devoid of people – made my way around our monstrous 35-foot Christmas tree, its branches adorned with softball-sized ornaments, its base sprinkled with television-sized faux packages, and walked passed the front desk.  A lone guest service agent stood there with a bored look on her face.  She stared forlornly at her computer on this lonely Christmas morning.  Her name was Hiatt.  She was a 20-year-old college student from Saudi Arabia.  She looked up as I passed.
“Merry Christmas,” she smiled.
“And a Merry Christmas to you,” I nodded back.
I likened the Lanigan to a profitable Midwestern version of the United Nations where people came to stay.  We had employees from 39 states and 52 different countries employed at the hotel, so when it came to catering to the needs of the world’s guests, it truly was an international effort.  And somehow, unlike the world in which we lived, we all managed to get along reasonably well.  Sure, there were always those little inter and sometimes intra-department staff tiffs and rivalries, but all things considered, our hotel functioned as any well-oiled machine should.  This was largely due to the fact that we toiled under the golden rule of management.  We treated each other, from line-level staff member to department head, housekeeping department to finance, as we ourselves would want to be treated.  It was a rule of my creation, and one that Tom had quickly seen the merits in and therefore adopted and charged me with implementing.
I punched a code into the door keypad allowing me access to the back office. When you live at your workplace, and you don’t have any close family, sometimes it’s hard to let go of your work; it becomes a sort of hobby – as it had in my case.  I found that using work as a way to stay busy often helped to waylay some of the loneliness that could accompany the more family-oriented holidays.
In the hallway outside my office door were two humongous boxes, one that stood as tall as me and another that was just as big but turned on its side.  I’d had them special delivered for today so I could get them ready for Jay’s arrival Monday morning.
“Good, good,” I grinned and nodded as I saw them.
Skirting my way around the boxes, I sat down at my desk.  After a long sip of my quickly cooling coffee, I turned on my computer and pulled up the “View Totals” screen purely out of habit.  With the occupancy the way it was today, and hardly any arrivals, there was little reason to check.  I moved the calendar on the screen forward by several days to New Year’s Eve.  We’d picked up about 50 reservations since yesterday and were now close to 90 percent occupancy for the night.  I made a note to have a few more desk agents added to the schedule just to be on the safe side and then sent an email to Marian in housekeeping to ensure that we had enough night cleaners to keep up with what I knew would be a hectic evening, copying John Rodgers, our housekeeping night manager, on the message.
After this, I listened to my voicemail messages that included several that had been forwarded from desk staff regarding guests upset about noise from the holiday bash after-parties.  I made notes of callback names and numbers for tomorrow and forwarded one regarding a room that hadn’t received cleaning service on to Marian in housekeeping.  Then I typed a brief message to Jay regarding my thoughts for next year’s holiday employee room bookings and the need to keep all our staff on one or two floors of the hotel in which no regular guests were staying, also noting that if occupancy allowed, we should block the floors immediately above and below this to keep paying guests safely out of noise-complaint range.     
Just as I sent the email, I heard an excited shout in the hallway outside my office, accompanied by an “Are these what I think they are?”
It was Jay.
“Didn’t expect you in today,” I said, rising from my desk and looking at my watch – it was 10:05 a.m.  “I didn’t even have a chance to get them set up.”
“Parents are out of town on a Christmas cruise, and my brother is in California, so I don’t have anything going on.  Just wanted to stop in and wish you a merry Christmas.  If those boxes are what I think they are, it looks like I’ll be the one having a merry Christmas.”
“They are indeed what you think they are,” I grinned at him.  “Merry Christmas.”
Last year, in an effort to placate the upset head of one of our largest annual conferences, the Midwest Gamers Convention, I had given away Jay’s two 80s-style “staff stress reliever” (as Jay referred to them) arcade video games.  For Christmas, I’d decided to replace his lost babies – a car racing game inside which you could sit while piloting your race car using steering wheel, accelerator, break peddles, and gear shifter; and a multi-game featuring several 80s arcade classics. I could see the excitement in Jay’s eyes as they lit up like a kid at Christmas.  And that’s just what Jay was, a big grownup kid.  
Jay had started at the Lanigan shortly before me, and officially he was my boss – at least according to the hotel’s chain of command.  But Jay was savvy enough to realize that when it came to expertise on most things hotel and hospitality-related, it was a good idea to defer to my extensive experience, especially when it came to matters of critical importance.  While Jason had the book learning of a degree that specialized in hospitality management, I had the hands-on experience that he quickly realized was far more valuable.
Jay preferred to win people over with his irresistibly boyish charm and a smile that would blind the paparazzi.  And when it came to dealing with the litany of issues often encountered at the front office, he had an uncanny knack for not being around when said issues cropped up.  But I loved him nonetheless, and I was pleased to see just how excited he was with his Christmas gifts.
“Wow!  These are awesome!” he cried, tearing into the boxes.  “And brand new!  You’re the BEST!”
“Compliments of the Lanigan Hotel,” I nodded.  “I just did the ordering.  I know your staff needs their stress relievers, and you guys had one heck of a year.  Hard to break the ninety percent mark in guest satisfaction scores, and you guys held close to a ninety-five percent average all year.  That deserves some sort of recognition in my humble opinion.”
Jay wasn’t paying any attention.  He was too busy ripping away at the protective cardboard boxes inside which his new toys were concealed.
I watched for a few moments, a satisfied look on my face, before I noticed something was crammed inside my cubby-hole mailbox nestled among a row of similar mailboxes for front office department staff. 
I walked over to inspect, curious as to whether Santa had brought me a little something too.
Inside sat a small ribbon-topped gift box.  I pulled the box out, untied the ribbon, and opened the box’s top.  There I found a small sheet of paper folded in half.  I pulled it out, and beneath it, I saw a gold chain with attached locket.  The locket was in the shape of a heart broken jaggedly down its center.  I opened the note that read: “Merry Christmas, Robert. From your secret admirer!”
It was signed with a lone heart.
I frowned and placed the locket and note back inside the box and put the top back on.  I walked to my desk and slipped the box inside the top drawer, all the while racking my brain for just who might have left the gift.
I walked out to the front desk.  “Hiatt, did you put something in my mailbox recently or see someone put anything in there?”
“No,” she shook her head.
“Okay…thanks,” I said, going back to assist Jay with maneuvering the now unboxed arcade games into the empty office we used as a breakroom.  It took us a good 15 minutes to get the bulky games slid inside and positioned the way Jay wanted them.  After we got them plugged in, and as we stood waiting for them to upload their software, Hiatt peeked her head in.
“Someone here to see you, Robert,” she said.
“Be right out,” I nodded.  My mind automatically went to the locket, and I wondered if I was going to get to meet my secret admirer.  
Instead, I found Detective Marino waiting for me.
“Merry Christmas, detective,” I greeted him, shaking hands with him over the front desk.  
“Merry Christmas,” he returned my salutation.
“Meet me over at the back office door, and I’ll let you in,” I told him.
Moments later, I was guiding him to my office.  We passed Jay, who was already battling hard against a slew of alien space invaders, pounding away on the stand-behind game panel’s controls.  As we took seats in my office – me at my desk and the detective in a nearby sofa chair – the detective asked quietly, “Who is that?”
“My boss,” I said.
“He’s your boss?” the detective, gave me a half-questioning, half-disbelieving stare.
“He’s brighter than he looks,” I shrugged and smiled.
“DANG IT!” we heard Jay cry in disgust as he was obviously defeated in his alien encounter.
“Sure hope so,” the detective shook his head, looking rather unconvinced.
“Don’t you ever take a day off?” I asked.
“I could ask you the same thing,” he said, an eyebrow half cocked.
“I like to stay busy,” I shrugged.
“Me too,” the detective agreed.
Like me, the detective was a man without close family; and therefore, work became his life.
“Something to drink?” I asked.  “Coffee?  Water?  A little egg nog?”
“No thank you,” the detective replied.  
“So to what do I owe the pleasure of your company today, detective?”
“Take a wild guest,” he said, straight faced.
“Well, of course I know it’s regarding the…incident that occurred the other day.  But how can I be of assistance?”  
“Glad you asked,” the detective finally gave a slight smile.  “First off, let me give you a little background on what we’ve learned so far about the guest in question.  As you already know from when I asked you to put his room out of order, our victim’s name is Derrick Statler and he way staying in room 15-202.  He was age twenty-nine, lived in Merrillville, Indiana, and he worked for an area consulting firm.  He did a lot of traveling around Chicagoland and northern Indiana.  According to his boss, he often spent nights at the Lanigan to avoid the lengthy commute when the weather was less than favorable.  He was unmarried, no kids, his parents passed away several years ago, and apparently his closest family were a couple cousins who live in Missouri and who he hadn’t seen in years.  And as you probably noted when you found the body, our victim, Mr. Statler, was stabbed with a knife that we found among the sheets near his body.  Before that, it appears he had been struck on the top of the head with a blunt instrument, quite possibly the end of the murder weapon’s handle.  It appears that he was killed sometime late afternoon or early evening on Thursday the 22nd.  You didn’t find him until he slid out the linen chute at around 11:30 a.m. the following day when he was due to check out.”  The detective considered.  “Guess he checked out, just not the way he’d planned,” he shrugged and exhaled heavily.  “That’s the general rundown and everything I can tell you on the record.”
“Not much to go on,” I frowned.  “And off the record?” I eyed him inquiringly.
The detective took a deep breath.  “Just remember, this is all confidential, and you’re not to repeat it to anyone.”
“I know,” I nodded.
“As I mentioned, we found the knife that Mr. Statler was stabbed with in the linens near his body.  It was an eight-inch long knife with a four-inch blade.  The initials ‘D.E.P.’ were engraved on its handle.”
“D…E…P…,” I repeated, trying to run through a list of hotel employees in my head to see if anything matched up.  A couple Dave’s and some Daniel’s came up, and I knew there were more, but we had far too many employees for a complete mental processing.   
“Mr. Statler was stabbed a total of twelve times,” the detective went on, “mostly strikes to his upper torso; but there were several deep penetrations to his abdomen as well.  It looks as though the first few stab wounds were delivered to the stomach.  It’s an easy entry point, but not a quick kill, and then the perpetrator of the crime moved his – or her – thrusts up to the chest to finish the job.  We aren’t sure exactly where the murder took place though.  We haven’t found traces of blood in Mr. Statler’s room or in the fifteenth floor linen closet.”
“Hmm…” I frowned, “…interesting.”
“Even more interesting is that our victim didn’t die from the stab wounds.”
“He didn’t?” I said, surprised by the revelation.
“No,” the detective shook his head.  “He died from asphyxiation.”
“He was strangled?”
“Smothered,” the detective said, “by the weight of the dirty linen that was dumped down upon him after he’d been dumped in the linen chute.”
“Uh,” I gave a shiver and grimaced at the thought.
“My sentiments exactly,” the detective agreed.  “As you well know, the weight of linen, especially when comprised of items like wet towels, can add up quickly.  The way Mr. Statler’s body came to rest, head first in the linen chute, meant that any additional linen dropped on him put pressure on his head and face, making it increasingly difficult to breath.  Combined with his injuries and blood loss, and being unable to extract himself from the chute tube as he came to rest between floors, he eventually succumbed to the building pressure of the linens stacking up in the chute above him.”  The detective took a deep breath.  “Pretty horrible way to die if you ask me.”
“Sure is,” I said, trying to imagine myself in poor Mr. Statler’s predicament but quickly realizing the mental torture of doing so was too much.  
“So here’s what I need from you,” the detective continued.
I pulled a pen and notepad from where they sat on my desk over close to me.  “Shoot,” I said, ready for his requests.
“It might take you some effort to get these things together, but they’re necessary considering what we know…or don’t know…so far.  First off, I’ll need to know when the employees working the fifteenth floor on the day of the murder are scheduled next so that I can interview them.  I’ll need a list of their names, contact information, and schedules for the upcoming week.
I scribbled the information on my notepad.
“I’ll also need a list of all the guests who were staying at the hotel on that day and a list of all current employees as well as employees dating back over the previous two years so that I can cross-reference names against the initials we found on the knife,” the detective went on.
I jotted these items down and placed an “HR” beside them to remind me to send them to our human resources department.
“And finally, I’ll need to continue to keep both the victim’s room as well as your linen sorting room closed until further notice.”
Mr. Statler’s hotel room remaining on our out-of-order list wasn’t a big deal, but I knew that Marian in housekeeping would not be pleased about the sorting room.  I made another note to let her know of the continued inconvenience.
“What else?” I asked, looking up from my note taking.
“Is there any way to lock that sorting room?”
“It’s never had a lock on it.  We’ve never really needed one since it’s typically staffed twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week.”
The detective frowned and nodded.  “I think we’ve gotten everything we need out of there, and we’ve taken pictures of the entire space, but I want the doors to remain closed and sealed with crime scene tape until I give you the go-ahead to re-open them.”
“Will do,” I nodded.  “Anything else?”
“I’m sure there will be,” the detective said.  “But that’s all for right now.”
“Okay, I should be able to get most of this to you by this evening, although the employee list will take a bit longer coming from HR.”
“I’ll need it by tomorrow evening at latest,” the detective said.
“I’ll let them know.”
“Thanks,” the detective said, standing and extending a hand.
I rose and shook it.
“You still have all my contact information?” 
“Sure do,” I nodded.
“Then I’ll be hearing from you tomorrow,” he phrased it more as a statement than a question.
The detective wasn’t a jovial man, but he wasn’t typically this serious either.  I could tell that the murder was dampening his holiday spirits, and part of me felt guilty for dumping the burden upon him.  I don’t know why.  It was extra work for me too, but it was my hotel that had added this weight to the already hefty case load that I knew the detective regularly carried.
After the detective left, I ran some reports, pulled some schedules, and spent about an hour compiling much of what he needed when it came to the information on recent hotel guests.  After I sent a couple emails to human resources and housekeeping, I stood from my desk, stretched, and decided it was time for a walk to get the old blood pumping.
 
 
* * *
 
 
I walked down the carpeted, L-shaped stairway leading from the lobby to the hotel’s main entrance. I passed William, the solitary doorman manning the front entrance.  He was wrapped in a long green wool coat, gold scarf, and white gloves.  He stood just inside the entry foyer by the bellman’s station looking forlornly out through the multiple sets of revolving doors.
“Mornin’ Mr. Haze,” he nodded as I passed.
“Morning, William,” I nodded back, pushing my way through one of the revolving doors.
As soon as I stepped outside, I was hit by a blast of icy wind whipping down the street as it headed for the shores of Lake Michigan.  Channeled by the canyons created by downtown skyscrapers, a light breeze could quickly become a torrent of tropical-storm-force wind.
Without winter coat, gloves, scarf or hat, I was exposed to the bitingly-frigid Chicago elements; but I liked it this way.  I pulled my suit jacket collar up high around my neck, nestling myself deeper into the thin layer of protection it provided.  I liked torturing myself just a little.  It made me appreciate getting back into the cozy confines of the hotel all the more when I returned. Plus, I wouldn’t be outside long.  One circuit around the city block that the Lanigan consumed, just to check things out – that would be enough. 
The street was a snowy, slushy mix, yet to be plowed by the city or melted by the tons upon tons of snow-melting salt and chemicals dumped annually.  The sidewalks of the buildings across the street were no better, still covered with a foot-traffic-trampled layer of packed snow.  
I looked up and down our side of the street.  The sidewalks were a chalky white color from dried ice-melt, but they were otherwise clear.  Our third-shift team ensured that the Lanigan’s sidewalks and entrances remained clear at all times.  They prided themselves on their efforts and kept the snow at bay almost as quickly as it fell – which in downtown Chicago wasn’t always the easiest of tasks.  And the hotel did its best to make their lives easy, providing them with a fleet of snow blowers, an array of ice-melt spreaders, dozens of ergonomically designed snow shovels, and enough Lanigan-logoed hats, gloves, and snowsuits to outfit this small army several times over as they waged an on-going war against Mother Nature’s constant winter encroachments.
I headed off at a brisk pace, doing my best to stay warm along the way.  The east and west facing sides of the building weren’t too bad as the wind was buffered by other buildings or the hotel itself, but on the north and south facing sides, where the streets headed straight toward ice-laden Lake Michigan, the wind cut through my thin layers like a knife.  By the time I’d rounded the last corner of my circuit, I was literally power-walking the last few yards to the main entrance, hands shoved deep inside my pants pockets, chin shoved down against my chest.
William was still standing there watching as I pushed my way back inside the comforting warmth of the hotel.  I stood just inside for a moment, rubbing my hands together and doing my best to huff some warm breath onto them.  “Remind me not to do that again,” I looked over at him and grinned as he looked on, a knowing smile on his bored mug.
With my duties done regarding getting the detective the information he needed, and the hotel relatively quiet, which was to be expected at this time of year, I headed upstairs to my room.
I had a mid-sized, three-room suite on the 23rd floor – one of our Honors VIP floors.  The living room included a foldout sofa, several end tables, mini-kitchenette complete with microwave and mini-fridge, flat-screen television, sofa chair, and desk/dining room table and four chairs.  A connecting door divided the space from my sizeable bedroom with king bed.  Between the two rooms was a nice-sized bathroom that was outfitted with a bubble-jet tub.  To the left of my bedroom was a small sitting room that I didn’t use for much other than extra storage of my off-season suits, collection of robes that I’d accumulated – one from each hotel that I’d worked at over the years – a small bar that was on a rolling cart and that held a set of tumblers and a bottle of whiskey, gin, and vodka.  Beyond a few other odds and ends that I’d accumulated over the years, my possessions were minimal to say the least.  I didn’t need much, and I didn’t have room for much.   
I walked over to the living room thermostat and cranked it up.  Then I turned on a portable electric fireplace I’d recently purchased.  I had placed it against the wall next to the entry door more for atmosphere than anything, but today I found it helpful in reheating my chilled blood.  
I kicked off my shoes, ditched the suit jacket and tie, unbuttoned my collar, and sat down in the living room sofa chair, still trying to thaw.  After a giving myself a moment to recover, I picked up the phone on the end table beside me, dialed 9 to get a line outside the hotel, and then the number I wanted.
There wouldn’t be much open today.  I knew that.  Taking a page from A Christmas Story, I dialed our nearest Chinese restaurant and ordered egg rolls and the “Magic” fried rice, which incorporated a variety of meats – shrimp, beef, chicken, pork – into a deliciously oily fried rice. 
15 minutes later, Steve, my regular Chinese food delivery man, was knocking at the door with my order.  After thanking him, wishing him a merry Christmas, and offloading a hefty holiday tip on him, I popped a bottle of beer and settled back down to enjoy my Christmas feast in front of my faux fireplace.  As I forked my first mouthfuls of deliciousness, I flipped the television on to a marathon run of A Christmas Story (imagine that), and slid farther down in my comfortable chair to enjoy a meal befitting the film.
Halfway through my feast, I stood from my comfy seat, headed over to my mini-fridge, grabbed another beer, and walked into the bedroom.  Pulling the curtains aside from the window, I looked over the gray of the Chicago winter day that had rapidly disintegrated into a blur of white as the snow fell outside. The streets far below were slowly succumbing, growing gradually into a pallid blanket of white.
The layer of white that was quickly accumulating made me think back to the floor of linen left behind after we had busted the linen chute in the sorting room.  This in turn had me harkening back to the murder that had occurred on our premises.  
The thought troubled me.  
I knew these types of things happened in major hotels, but I didn’t want our property developing a reputation as a ‘murder’ hotel.  Right now, there was little I could do about it though.  The case was in Detective Marino’s hands, and I’d done about as much as I could to assist him without interfering in the case, which I knew the detective wouldn’t like.  If he needed my assistance, he’d ask.
And so, leaving the bedroom drapes open, I returned to my suite’s living room, settled back down in my chair, and continued my meal.
For all intensive purposes – and my particular tastes and personal preferences – I couldn’t have envisioned a better Christmas.  To many, it might have seemed a sad and lonely way to spend the holiday.  However, to someone like me, who works in a role where his main focus is serving the needs of others, taking a few hours just for myself was exactly what I needed.  Best of all, my gift on this special day was nary a single M.O.D. call.  
But I wasn’t taking my respite for granted, for I knew what was coming – New Year’s Eve.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 5
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 12/28 MOD Report
 
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Wednesday, December 28th

 
Weather: 27/18 Light snow                                                                      
Occupancy: 28%
Arrivals: 153                                                                                                  
Departures: 47  
 
Event Resume:
	6th Floor Meeting Rooms - Sycamore and Maple – (noon – 3 p.m.) – Biofarm Corp break-off meetings

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Blue Velvet Room (10 a.m. – 3:30 p.m.) – Biofarm Corp sales and marketing presentations

 
	The Polynesian – Goldberg birthday party (private event) 

 
 
* * *
 
 
It was 11:58 a.m., and I sat waiting in the Boardwalk Café.  The Boardwalk was the hotel’s oceanfront themed restaurant located just off the lobby.  In fact, all our restaurants at the Lanigan were of an ocean motif.  Why exactly the previous management had seen fit to go this route for the restaurants of a downtown Chicago hotel, I had no idea, but it seemed to work.  
Each Sunday, the Boardwalk featured its famed “Sunday Brunch” that was accompanied by live piano music provided by our resident player, Francesco Rivali.
At 11:59, I saw Detective Marino making his way around and through the tables of other lunch patrons.
I rose from my chair.  “Detective,” I nodded as we shook hands.
“Haze,” he nodded back before we seated ourselves.  
A server was at our table almost instantly, handing us menus and taking our drink orders.  I went with hot tea with lemon.  The detective stuck with water.
We chatted about the weather, hotel occupancy levels, and our plans for New Year’s Eve while the server got our drinks and we waited to order.
“Man, I’m starving,” the detective said as our server set our drinks before us.
“No breakfast?” I asked.
“Donut and coffee,” I detective frowned.
“May I make a recommendation then?”
“Of course,” the detective gave a slight shrug.  “You live here. I think I can trust your judgment on the food.”
“Since you’re hungry, rather than a salad to start, I would go with either the lobster meatballs, which come with lobster bisque, or try the Boardwalk Mac n’ Cheese, which by the way has a blend of five different cheeses and is topped with Italian-seasoned bread crumbs and crumbled bacon.  It’s one of their specialties.”
“Mmm,” the detective rubbed his belly, “mac n’ cheese sounds like it’d hit the spot on a day like today.”
I began my own meal with the honey-glazed pear salad that had a base of organic baby lettuce topped with blue cheese, walnuts, bits of apple wood smoked ham, and was accompanied by a honey pomegranate vinaigrette.   
For our entrees, the detective ordered The Lanigan, our world-renowned burger.  It was a massive 11-ounce grilled Angus chuck patty, topped with smoked Gouda, bacon, port wine shallots, and served on a toasted croissant roll.  Meanwhile, I went with a bit lighter fare, choosing the shrimp scampi sautéed in a lemon oil, drizzled with garlic butter sauce, and served with jasmine rice.
As we enjoyed our meals, we discussed the case.
“Remember, all this is highly confidential,” the detective prefaced our discussion.
“I think you know me well enough by now not to worry,” I took a bite of my mouth-wateringly delicious scampi.
“I know,” the detective nodded. “I just like to remind you.”
“So what about your staff interviews, have you made any progress with them so far?” I inquired, wanting to move past the fact that even though I’d been instrumental in helping to solve the last murder that had occurred at our property, the detective still had some apparent misgivings about my ability to keep my mouth shut.  It’d been a while since I’d last worked with him on this type of endeavor, and I knew detectives could be touchy about someone infringing on the work that they often took quite personally.  Therefore, I let it go.
The detective shrugged.  “Haven’t got much.  None of the staff seem to recall much about Mr. Statler.”
“The room attendant that cleaned his room didn’t see or hear anything out of the ordinary the day he was killed?”
“Not according to her,” the detective said.
“Which attendant was it?” I asked.
The detective pulled a notepad from his coat pocket and flipped it open.  “It was a…” he paused scanning, “…Felecia Gonzalez.”
I sorted through the mental list of employees with whom I was familiar, a list that was quite extensive.  With nearly 200 room attendants in the housekeeping department though – a department in which turnover was relatively high – I found myself drawing a blank.
“Been here about a year,” the detective continued.  “Hispanic female, age thirty-one, divorced, two kids, worked at several other area hotels over the past five years.  Nothing particularly special about her.”  
“Doesn’t remember anything odd about the guest or the room…like maybe the luggage had been gone through or…anything?” I fished.
“Nope…just another room.  She said it wasn’t particularly dirty.  From what she recalled, she mostly just made up the bed, did a quick vacuum, replaced some of the coffee supplies, cleaned the bathroom, took out the old towels, replaced them with new, and that was about it.  Was in and out in around fifteen minutes on the day of the murder.  Said Mr. Statler wasn’t even in the room.”
“Sounds about right for cleaning a stay over room,” I nodded.
“I did find out that one of your housepersons,” he consulted his notepad again, “a Rodrigo Torez, said he lost his key to the fifteenth floor linen closet that day,” the detective added.
“Oh great,” I muttered.  “You think he had something to do with this?” I asked.
The detective shook his head slightly and finished a bite of his humongous burger, “Not sure.  He reported the key loss to security…not something I think he would have done if he wanted to secretly murder someone, but you never know.”  He took a drink of water.  “Speaking of security, you know you have a one-handed security guard?  I had to interview him since he was the roaming guard for the fifteenth floor that day.”
I nodded, “Yeah, Elon Hernandez.  He’s an Iraq vet.”
“Kind of strange having a security guard missing a hand isn’t it?” the detective asked.
“He has a good prosthetic.  You’d never know the hand wasn’t there if you weren’t aware of it ahead of time,” I replied.
“Glad to see your hotel is helping out disabled war vets,” the detective said.  “Lost a good friend of mine over there,” he frowned sadly.
“Sorry to hear that,” I took another bite.
The detective took a deep breath.  I could tell the loss meant something to him.
“What about the floor manager?” I asked.  “Did she see or remember anything about the linen closet from that day?”
The detective shook his head again.  “Nothing much.  She remembers the houseperson reporting his key missing.  Said the room attendant that cleaned the room does a pretty good job.  That’s about it.  Nothing of use.”
“Other room attendants on the floor that day?”
“Two.  A Sarah…Perkins,” he consulted his notepad, “and a Cecelia Sumova.”  The detective paused.  “Hmph,” he eyed his notepad and smiled.
“What?” I asked.
“Neither of them had much to contribute, but I sure wouldn’t mind taking that Cecelia gal down to the station for a little further interrogating if you get my drift.  Tidy little piece of work that gal was.  From Lithuania.”
 “Ooohh,” I drawled, suddenly remembering Cece – the leggy Lithuanian brunette – from the night of the holiday party.  “I know who you’re talking about.”
“I’ll bet you do,” he gave me an incriminating half-smile.  “I envy you sometimes, Haze.  We don’t have women like that in the department.  Can’t say we’d be getting much work done if we did.”
“Neither of them remember anything about Statler?” I tried to stay on topic.
“Ziltch,” the detective shook his head.
“You have to remember, these people do the same jobs in the same areas day in and day out.  A particular day, a particular room, they all just blend together ninety-nine percent of the time,” I tried to explain.  “It can be pretty monotonous work.  Any luck matching up the initials on the murder weapon with someone in house at the time of the murder?”
“Nothing lines up,” the detective shook his head.  “No employees, current or over the last two years, and none of the guests in the hotel at or around the time of the murder had the initials D.E.P. A few had D and P initials, but when we investigated further, the middle initials didn’t match.  I mean, when you think about it, it makes sense.  Who’s going to toss a murder weapon with their initials on it down the chute along with their victim?”
“You never know,” I shrugged.  “It could have slipped out of the killer’s hand or been dropped accidently.”
“I only wish my job was that simple,” the detective shook his head, “Doesn’t appear to have happened that way though.  I think the initials were a red herring.  The killer probably thought their being on the knife would throw us off track.” The detective took a deep breath and sighed, “Which it appears to have done.”  
“What about the lock reads?” I forged ahead.  “You get anything interesting from them?”
“We did,” said the detective.  “It’s kind of weird actually.  We show the last lock entry on the closet door where the linen chute is located at 3:33 p.m. was made by one of the room attendants.  But we have Mr. Statler entering his room at 3:37 p.m., four minutes after the last entry into the linen room where his body was deposited.  That was the last recorded entry on that particular linen closet for the day.  And there were no further readings on Statler’s room door until you discovered his body the next day when he was set to check out and we came up to investigate his room at around 11:30 that morning.”
I took a minute to process what the detective was telling me.
“The killer could have killed him, dumped him in the chute and then used Statler’s key to re-enter his room later either to rob him or just to throw us off track,” I offered.
“I thought that too at first,” said the detective, but Statler’s room key was on him when we found the body…and there was no second key made for that room,” he pre-empted my follow up question.  “And I doubt the murderer climbed inside the linen chute to replace the key in Mr. Statler’s wallet after he was killed.”
“So how did they get him into the linen closet without a key?” I pondered aloud.  “I guess someone could have propped the linen room door open,” I offered after a moment.
The detective huffed and frowned.  “That means our potential suspect pool suddenly deepens substantially.  Without a key being necessary to get inside the linen closet, it means that anyone could have deposited the body there.”
“Did you ask the houseperson?  If he lost his key, he might have asked a room attendant to let him inside the linen closet and then propped the door open so he could re-enter later.  A lot of times when there is a lost key, an employee will wait to file a report, even though they’re not supposed to, so that they don’t lose time coming down to security.”
“We asked him about it, but he said he reported the missing key as soon as he realized it was gone.  Problem is, he didn’t realize it was gone until his shift was about to end at 4:30 p.m.  The last time he used it was a 2:34 p.m. on the fifteenth floor linen closet door, at which time Mr. Statler was apparently still alive based upon his entering his room.  The houseperson said the door to the linen closet closed securely behind him when he left.  Several room attendants were in and out of the linen room after him and reported the door being secured at those times as well.”     
I nodded and frowned, momentarily forgetting about my food while I chewed the side of my check in thought.  I decided to again redirect my line of questioning to the detective.
“Was there any cash in Statler’s wallet when you found the body?”
“You think he might have been robbed?” the detective asked.
“I guess I’d prefer it over other possibilities, since it would likely point away from one of our employees being involved.”
“No cash, but that doesn’t mean much in this day and age of people using credit cards to buy anything and everything.”
“True,” I agreed.  “Cash is trash and credit is king.”  I thought more about the event, envisioning our hotel hallways, the linen closet, and the room type in which Mr. Statler was staying – a small room with a king bed.  “Did you find out any more about why he was staying with us?” I asked, deciding to switch gears away from the actual events surrounding the murder to see if we could pin down a broader motive.
“I talked to Statler’s boss.  He told me that it wasn’t unusual for Statler to stay at the Lanigan.  He did a lot of work downtown, consulting with various companies, and his boss said he often liked to stay here overnight on trips into town so that he didn’t have to make the perilous drive back to Merrillville at night, especially in the winter.”
“Can’t say I blame him there,” I nodded.  
“There weird thing is, his boss said Statler was currently on vacation and didn’t know of any work-related project he might be working on downtown,” the detective added.
“Hmm,” I frowned, “so possibly a private meeting…maybe a little lover’s rendezvous?”
“Could be,” the detective said. “But no one at his work knew of Statler being in a relationship.”
“Doesn’t mean he wasn’t,” I gave the detective a grim grin.
“Doesn’t mean he was in a committed one, if he was,” the detective returned my countenance.
“Sort term tryst?” I tried to put it politely.  
“Hooker,” the detective tore my efforts asunder.
“Mmm hmm,” I took a nervous glance at the hotel guests eating around us, hoping they hadn’t overheard.  “Okay,” I nodded, speaking more quietly now, “you’ve requested my discreetness in this situation, now I’ll ask the same from you.”  The detective eyed me warily.  I took another glance around me to ensure none of the other guests were paying attention, and then said, “Check with the bell captain.”  The detective nodded as though he understood, but I clarified just in case.  “The bellmen often direct arriving…” I looked for the right phrasing, “working girls to the proper rooms when they arrive.  It’s not something our management looks favorably upon, but we can’t really discriminate.  Plus, we’re talking about high-class call girls here, and frankly, sometimes it’s hard to tell the difference.  Turning away a paying hotel guest because we think she’s a lady of the night wouldn’t exactly make for the best kind of guest relations.”
“You’d rather just herd the cattle along upstairs where they’re out of sight and out of mind,” the detective cut me to the quick.
I took a deep breath.  “It’s obviously not the type of service or activity we want to encourage at a hotel of our caliber, but it’s a hotel, what do you think goes on here?  If guests want to do that sort of thing, it’s kind of hard to stop.”
“True,” the detective nodded his understanding of the situation.  “I’ll stop by the bell stand on the way out and see what I can find out.”
“One of them might remember assisting Mr. Statler in setting up a…meeting, or if nothing else, at least directing someone up to his room.  The tips for such things are often quite good…not that I’d know,” I added, not wanting the detective to get the impression that I encouraged or condoned such practices.
The detective polished off his burger and leaned back in his chair, rubbing his hands across his belly and patting it contentedly.  “Man, that really hit the spot,” he exhaled heavily.
“A real gut-washer, huh?” I grinned.
“You can say that again,” he agreed.  “Best meal I’ve had in a loooong time.”
“Glad you enjoyed it.  Compliments of the Lanigan Hotel,” I said, signing the tab our server had brought to the table and billing it to my M.O.D. account.  
Tom allowed me to retain my own “M.O.D.” line on the hotel budget.  He knew that I used it wisely and never abused it, and that having a little discretionary cash to throw around each month went a long way in helping me resolve any number of issues that might otherwise make their way to his desk.
“Makes a meal taste even better when I don’t have to pay,” the detective smiled.  “Thank you.”
“My pleasure.  Tell you what, you mind if I escort you down to the bell stand?”
“Not at all,” the detective said.
“I’m kind of curious to see what they have to say; plus, I know who to talk to about these things and they might be a little more willing to open up to me rather than a CPD detective about such goings-on.”
“True,” the detective considered.
We walked back out to the lobby and downstairs to the bell desk where we found Phil Barlow, our hotel bell captain of over 20 years.  
I made introductions, not getting into exactly why the detective was here, especially since there were a few guests milling about nearby. “So we’re trying to find out who was working last Thursday,” I told Phil.
“Hold on just a second, let me check the schedule” he said, walking over to the bell desk and coming back moments later carrying a thin green folder.  “You want first, second or third shift?” he asked.
“First,” I said.
He opened the folder and ran his finger halfway down a page inside.  “Hmm, looks like it was a low occupancy day on Thursday.  It was only me and Todd Belzer scheduled.
“Do you happen to remember anyone inquiring about rooms on the fifteenth floor?” the detective asked.
Phil frowned, thinking, “Hmm…nothing in particular, I mean, nothing really rings a bell as anything out of the ordinary.
“No special visitors?” I inquired, a knowing eyebrow raised at Phil.
He eyed me warily, and then took a quick glance at the detective. “Noooo,” he drawled slowly, “no, nothing like that.”
“When will Todd be on the schedule next?” I asked.
“He’s here now,” Phil offered eagerly, obviously ready to have someone else under the detective’s steely-eyed gaze.  “Todd!” he called behind him to a series of luggage store rooms in back of the bell desk.  
From one room appeared a young, clean-shaven man with short cropped hair.  He didn’t look like he could be over 20 years of age.  
“Yeah,” he called back, a goofy ear-to-ear grin on his face.  He looked like a happy dog, eager to please, a characteristic that probably garnered him great tips as a bellman.
“Todd, you remember anything special about any rooms or guests up on the fifteenth floor last Thursday.  Any special guests or anything of that sort,” Phil gave the young man a look.
“Oh,” Todd nodded knowingly, “hmm, now let’s see.  The seventeenth floor…”
“Fifteenth,” the detective correct.
“Right,” Todd nodded and smiled his goofy grin, “the fifteenth floor, let’s see,” he eyed the ceiling, obviously deep in thought.  “On Tuesday, you said?”
“Thursday,” the detective frowned.
“Right, right,” Todd, nodded again, “Thursday…Thursday,” he said, rubbing his chin as he thought.  “Seems like there was a lady,” he gave us a smug look, “who stopped by the desk asking for the room of someone up on the fifteenth floor.  Can’t remember who.  She asked to use the house phone here to call up to the room.  It was during lunch, that’s why I remember.  She interrupted me trying to eat my sandwich.”
“You remember what room she called?” the detective inquired.  I noted a hint of hope in his voice.
“Huh uh,” Todd shook his head.
“What time would you say this was?” the detective asked.
“Mmm, I’d say around twelve-thirty maybe.”
The detective looked at me, “Time could be about right.  Anything about a description?” he asked Todd.  
Todd thought about it for a few seconds, “Nooo,” he drawled slowly, “don’t think so.  Maybe late-fifties…grayish hair.  Didn’t look like a working girl though if that’s what you’re after.”
   I could tell the detective was getting impatient with Todd as well as this line of questioning since it didn’t seem to be getting us anywhere.  
“Okay,” he said.  “If you think of anything, here’s my card,” he handed one to both Todd and Phil.
They pocketed the cards and hurried back behind the bell desk, glad to be free of the detective’s inquiring eye.
  “Well that was a bust,” I said.
“Maybe,” the detective said.  “But you never know.  Sometimes you hit the jackpot when and where you least expect it.”  He paused and turned to shake my hand, “Well, thanks again for lunch.  I’ll be in touch.  Let me know if anything surfaces around here that might help with the case.”
“Certainly,” I nodded.
And with that, he pushed out through one of the entry revolving doors and into the bluster of the wintry Chicago day.
I decided to head upstairs to the general manager’s office on the sixth floor and give Tom a rundown of the situation.
 
 
* * *
 
 
I knocked on Tom’s closed office door and waited.
“Come in,” I heard his muffled voice from inside.
I found our fearless leader in the middle of an oily rubdown being administered by Suri, the hotel’s fitness center manager and massage therapist.  He was gnawing on a greasy chicken leg.  It was not a sight I needed after a big lunch, and I felt those shrimp I’d consumed start trying to buck their way back up at the sight of my blubbery boss.  His oil-laden girth was straddling, and in spots, spilling over not one but two massage tables lined up beside one another, his flabby rear barely covered by a full-sized towel that looked more like a hand towel on his sizeable surface area.  
I tried not to make eye contact with the ghastly sight before me.  Looking at the sheen radiating from Tom’s oily back under the glare of his office lights was like trying to stare into the sun anyway.
“Oh, uh,” I stumbled. “Should I come back later, Tom?” I asked, hoping that he’d say yes.
“No, no, Bobby my boy.  Please, have a seat.”
I felt like I’d walked into an episode of The Dukes of Hazzard and Boss Hogg was laid out prone before me.  I angled my way across the room to a nearby – but not too nearby – leather sofa and sat down.  I didn’t want to get splashed with massage oil, sweat, chicken grease, or some horribly grimy combination thereof.
“You sure?  I asked.  “I don’t want to interrupt your massage,” I prodded hopefully.
“Nonsense,” Tom dropped his chicken leg, stripped clean of flesh, into a trash can beside him and rooted in a jumbo bucket on a small table nearby, pulling a fresh leg from inside.  “So give me the good word, Roberto.  What’s new in the hotel today?”
I’m not sure what was worse, the sloppy slurping sound of Tom’s chewing or the smacking of Suri’s hands as they worked his greased-up body.
“Well,” I tried to clear my mind of visions of the traumatic scene taking place before me and get back to the business of managing a major hotel, “there hasn’t been much progress on the…” I paused knowing that Suri was listening, “…linen chute issue.”
“Mmm…” Tom nodded as he laid into his fresh chicken leg, some hot sauce he’d drizzled on dribbling down his chins.  He dunked the wing in a container of blue cheese dressing beside his bucket on the table nearby, and after a few seconds of sucking the last bit of meat off the bone, tossed the remnants into the trash can below him.  “What about New Year’s Eve?” he asked, preferring to ignore the apparently more minor issue of a murder having been committed in his hotel.  
“We’re filling up nicely.  Last I checked we were close to ninety percent.”
“Good, good,” he nodded, fishing for another piece of chicken.
“We have enough staff scheduled?” he muffled over a bite.
“Yes,” I nodded, looking anywhere but at Tom.  “All the night cleaners are onboard, we’ve bulked up the front desk staff, and the banquet, catering, and restaurant managers have all been through New Year’s Eve here before, so they know the drill.”
“What about you?” Tom inquired, chomping noisily.
“I’ll be working a late second shift with Kristen.  She’ll act as my assistant that night.”
“Good,” Tom nodded.  “Sounds like you have everything covered then.”
“I think so,” I agreed as I stood from my seat on the sofa, in a hurry to be on my way.  I took a quick glance at Tom.  Suri was working on pulling at his pudgy little toes.  I gave an inadvertent shudder.  “Guess I’d better get back to it,” I said.
“Good job, Robbie-Bob,” Tom lifted his head to give me a big grin.  “Don’t know what I’d do without you, Billy-Bobbie my boy.  You’re one in a million!”
“Thanks, Tom,” I said as I made my way out of his office, closing the door behind me to help protect any innocent passers-by.  
I walked down the forest-green carpeted hallway, through the parquet-floored foyer, and back to the service elevators where I headed down to my office to do a little work and double check our numbers for what I knew would be a boisterous and lively New Year’s Eve. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 6
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 12/31 MOD Report
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Saturday, December 31st

 
Weather: 31/20 Snow                                                                                    
Occupancy: 94%
Arrivals: 1123                                                                                                  
Departures: 89  
 
Event Resume:
	Grand/Sky Ballrooms (9 p.m. – 1 a.m.) – Lanigan New Year’s Eve Party feat. DJ Fat Noose.

 
	Blue Velvet Room (9 p.m. – 1:30 a.m.) – New Year’s Bash feat. DJ Balldrop

 
	Lake Ballroom (6 p.m. – 9 p.m.) – Live Broadcast of 90.8’s Chicago Ballroom radio program – dinner and dancing

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – 2 a.m.) – Live Music by Sizemore

 
	Triton Club – Grand Opening Event! (8 p.m. – ?) 

 
 
* * *
 
New Year’s Eve started about like I expected.  Every station at the front desk was jammed with arriving guests.  We’d been slammed with partiers arriving to the hotel since about 11 a.m., and I knew the flurry of activity would continue non-stop until around 3 a.m. when the alcohol-soaked and exhausted party-goers finally passed out in their rooms or scattered haphazardly about the hotel.  Each year, it never ceased to amaze me at the spots guests managed to find their ways into in their drunken stupors.  
It was now 4 p.m. and we still had about 350 arrivals left.  I looked out across the sea of faces staring back at me, my row of desk agents standing their ground like steadfast sentries attempting to hold back the Mongol hoards.
The lines were about five people deep, and I stood watching agents’ fingers fly on computer keyboards.  Plastic key cards were being swiped in key machines and then placed in guest packets that were printed with informational tidbits and marketing information about the hotel, its restaurants, and available amenities.  Guests signed registration cards, handed over credit cards, and asked questions about checkout times, restaurant locations, and room details.  Guest service agents pointed out elevator banks, scribbled notes regarding times and locations of events on key packets so that new arrivals wouldn’t forget, and handed back credit cards as they worked to process the incoming guests with equal amounts of the efficiency, polite eye-contact, smiles, and friendly banter expected from those employed by the world-renowned Lanigan Hotel.
I was stunned – but pleased – to see that even Jay was manning a station, leading his troops from the front line.
Many waiting guests stood with coolers or cases of beer in hand, anxious to get their drinking under way.  Some had ditched the patience act and were drinking mysterious concoctions from red party cups or slurping from cans in foam beer holders.
Kristen rolled in at just after six o’clock.  She peeked her blonde head of hair – made to look even brighter by the black suit she was wearing – inside my office door upon her arrival.
“You ready to rumble?” she asked, her blue eyes sparkling and full of life, ready for any challenge that awaited us.
“Ah to be young, fresh-faced, and feeling alive again,” I muttered.
“Oh come on,” she grinned.  “You’re not old.”
“I’m not young either,” I snorted.
“You’re only as old as you feel!” she shot back, her positivity trying hard to break through the barrier of skepticism I was feeling about the long night ahead.
“Huh, don’t put it that way,” my shoulders sagged.  “That’d put me somewhere around a hundred and two.”
“Does Jason know I’ll be with you tonight?” Kristen ignored my self-loathing.
“I told him,” I nodded.  “He wasn’t happy about having to give you up for the evening, but he knows it’s better to have us putting out the fires before they spread down here where he’ll have to deal with them, so he didn’t put up much of a fight.”
“Good,” she gave her head a vigorous nod so that her ponytailed bounty of bound blonde hair bounced buoyantly behind her.
“We should probably grab something to eat before we start getting inundated with calls.”
“What were you thinking?”
“I’d like to hit the Polynesian, but all the hotel eateries are going to be slammed, and I don’t want to add to the pressure they’ll be dealing with tonight, so I’m afraid it’s the cafeteria for us.”
“Uh…” Kristen’s shoulder’s sagged as the energy suddenly left her body like the air escaping a balloon, “…not the cafeteria.”
“Sorry,” I said, getting up from my desk and shrugging into my suit jacket.  “Sometimes we have to suffer for the benefit of the hotel.”
“I’d rather be waterboarded at Guantanamo,” she wriggled her freckle-smattered little nose sweetly at me.
“It’s not that bad.”
“Hmph,” was her only response.
On the way out from the front office, we maneuvered our way through the throngs of waiting guests and across the lobby.  Along the way, we quickly loaded ourselves with armfuls of beer bottles, glasses, and other party leftovers from lobby tables.  We made a beeline for Carlisle’s where we dropped off our gatherings and quickly found the lounge’s manager, Aesop Raskin helping clear a table.  The lounge was already packed with patrons and all hands were on deck.
“Aesop!” I called to him over the din of noisy chatter the dark and heavily-leathered space had become.  “Can you have a busser sweep through the lobby occasionally?  A lot of your glasses are ending up out there.”
“Sure,” he nodded, grabbing a passing employee and directing him in his new duty.
“Thanks!” I called back, leaving him to his work.
 As we exited the lounge and made our way upstairs to the cafeteria, I called Sherry Simpson, the housekeeping’s second shift public space manager, on my M.O.D. phone.
“This is Sherry,” she answered.
“Hi, Sherry, it’s Robert.  I just wanted to give you a heads-up on the lobby.  We’re getting slammed down here.  A lot of people are waiting to check in and milling around drinking, and your lobby attendant is getting overwhelmed.  I just stopped in at Carlisle’s and asked them to put a busser out to help clear glasses and trash, but you might want to pull an extra body or two to put down here until we get everyone checked in and the party moves upstairs.”
“Copy that,” Sherry said.  “I’ll pull a couple of the room attendants since there isn’t much for them to do right now.”
“Sounds good,” I said.
Housekeeping was my trump card when it came to nights like tonight.  The public space cleaners of second and third shift were integral components to keeping our hotel looking pristine, but if a few of the lesser used spaces didn’t get vacuumed for a night, the service elevators didn’t get cleaned, or the marble floors weren’t polished to eye-bedazzling brightness, the place wasn’t going to collapse.  Therefore, on nights when things were really hopping – Fridays and Saturdays, during big conventions, and on New Years Eve especially – I often relied upon these employees, using them as a general might use his cavalry or mechanized forces, moving them from spot to spot to counter enemy (or in our case, guest) thrusts when and where necessary.
Our first mission of the evening complete, we moved from the raucous lobby to the peaceful back hallways of the second floor, cut through the hotel’s main kitchen, and made our way to the cafeteria.  
One of the perks of working at the Lanigan was free employee meals.  Across the board, line level employee all the way up to Tom, everyone ate for free in the employee cafeteria if they so desired.  Much of the fare included leftovers – even desserts and pastries – from the day’s banquets or various catered events throughout the hotel.  Considering the level and variety of culinary cuisine, the food often consisted of gourmet-tier meals.  Unfortunately for the second and third shifts, if the hotel was having a low occupancy day or few events had been scheduled throughout the morning and afternoon hours, there might not be enough leftovers to go around.  The menu was then left to the whims of the evening chef, Habeeb Havimaway or “Habeebee Baby” or just “Habeebee” as some of the employees lovingly referred to him.
Habeeb was from Iran, and he looked like Chef Boyardee outfitted in his all-white chef’s outfit, white hat, and sporting a white mustache to boot.  He was a wonderfully friendly fellow and always eager to please which turned out to be his one downfall.
The cafeteria was decorated in 50’s-era style with shiny stainless steel chairs and stools topped with sparkling red vinyl seats set among Formica tables that were spread out over black and white checkerboard floor tiles.  Kristen and I gathered our lunch trays, plates, and silverware, and fell into line.
“What is it today?” I craned to see around the employees waiting in line ahead of us.
Kristen was up on her tip-toes, peering around as well.  “Looks like spaghetti.”
“Hmm,” I pondered.  “I might do a burger tonight.”  
I often fell back on burgers and fries when the fare didn’t strike me as particularly appetizing or it just didn’t hit my mood.  However, I knew that going against Habeebee in regard to what he was serving wouldn’t be easy.  He didn’t speak much English, but one thing he did know was how to push whatever he was serving upon those who were lined up before him.  He kind of reminded me of a happy Soup Nazi from that one Seinfeld episode.  Rather than “No soup for you!” Habeebee’s response was more along the lines of “Lots of everything for everyone!”
Stepping up before the pleasant Persian, who was grinning ear to ear, I decided to give it a shot.  “Burger and fries please.” 
His smile remained, almost as though he’d had it fixed in place for so long it’d become stuck that way, but his shoulders sagged.  I knew he’d created the oozy mixture of overly-runny red slop he was calling spaghetti sauce himself, and he was probably taking it as a personal insult that I wasn’t eating it, as well as a personal challenge to get me to.
He waved a set of tongs dripping with red sauce across the massive tray of pasta.  “What?  No pasta for you?” he crowed confusedly.
“Just not in the mood for Italian tonight,” I explained with a smile.
“Ah…come on,” he shrugged.  “Pasta good, fill up belly.  Burger too greasy.  Pasta healthy, put meat on your bones.  You too skinny,” he chided, pointing at me with his dripping tongs, his goofy grin still fixed firmly in place.
“No, I need to loose weight,” I argued.
“Aggghh,” he shook his head.  “No, no, no, no, no…you try, you like,” he nodded, unwilling to take no for an answer.  “I promise.  You don’t like, you can cook tomorrow,” he laughed heartily, holding his belly as if this were the funniest thing in the world to him, and in the process smearing red sauce all over his white apron.
I took a deep breath and held out my plate. “Okay,” I nodded, not wanting to offend.
Habeebee always over-served.  He hated to waste food; and therefore, he piled it high on every plate he could lay his hands on.  In the process, he probably wasted more food than if he’d just served normal portions.  
Tonight he was in rare form.
Ditching the tongs and digging a big serving spoon out from under the counter, he landed a huge plop of spaghetti and sauce on my plate.
“That’s good,” I waved him off after I saw the immense pile.
“Oh no, no, no,” he shook his head, and landed another huge plop atop the existing pile.
“Good god,” I cringed.  “That’s more than enough.”
“Ha!” was Habeebee’s only response, digging into his tray of mess and landing a third humongous serving atop the ever-growing mound.
“Ohhh,” I groaned giving up.  Hanging my head in defeat, he landed the death knell to my plate as well as my appetite.
I don’t know how he accomplished it with the runny consistency of his spaghetti, but he managed to laden my poor plate with what I’d estimate at close to a good three pounds of the stuff.  
“Sheesh,” I looked at Kristen as noodles slid over the side of my plate. “It must be piled at least five inches high,” I eyed the pile warily.
“Lots for you, because I like you!” Habeebee handed me the plate, happy at having straddled me with a feast beyond comprehension or consumption.  “You need eat, keep up energy!” he nodded merrily.
“Thanks,” I waved a hand behind me as I grabbed a carton of milk and an ice cream bar from a nearby refrigeration unit.
Kristen joined me a moment later, a similar mound of pasta on her plate.
I saw Charlie Johnson, a former homeless man I’d befriended a year ago and who I’d hired on at the hotel, sitting alone at a table.  Charlie had quickly moved from the role he was initially hired into as a housekeeping houseperson, to a position as a prep cook in the main kitchen.  Charlie had expressed a long-time interest in food and cooking, and he’d jumped at the opportunity when the position had become available.  He’d proven himself a hard worker and had adapted rapidly to his role in the kitchen.
“Care for some company?” I asked as I approached Charlie’s table.  He was a man of few words, but we always seemed to have gotten along well and were never at a loss for something to chat about.  I think that Charlie’s time spent on the street had bred a certain level of distrust among his fellow human being; but during his time at the hotel, I’d seen a change in him.  Slowly but surely, he seemed to be opening up and making strides in forming new relationships with the other hotel staff members.
“Sure,” he nodded.  He was also working on a massive plate of spaghetti.
“It’s not that I don’t like spaghetti,” I said, sitting down and staring forlornly at Old Smokey piled on the plate before me, unsure of where to begin.  “It’s just soooo much that it just kills your appetite.”
“You know it, I know it, everyone who eats here knows it, but he never will,” Charlie gave a little smile and nodded over to ol’ Habeebee Baby.
Kristen sat too, shaking her head as she picked up her fork and then hesitated as she also tried to decide which part of her mountain to attack.
“He must get paid by the pound served,” I said.
“Or by the pound gained by those he serves,” Charlie said.  “I didn’t eat for almost four days straight once when I was living on the streets.  Even on that fourth day I couldn’t have eaten all this,” he nodded at his piled-high plate.
“How things going in the kitchen, Charlie?” Kristen asked.
“Pretty good,” he nodded.
“You like it alright?” I asked.
“Love it.  Best job I’ve ever had.  Work is hard, and there’s a lot of it, but best of all, I can eat as much as I want.  With a history like mine, you don’t know what that means.  Don’t tell anyone, but I’d be happy just working for the food.  I’ll take the paycheck too of course,” he grinned at us.
“I’m glad you like it,” I nodded.  “How’s the apartment hunt coming?”
Charlie had been living in a shelter for the majority of the past year as he got his feet back under him, but recently he’d been looking for a place of his own.
“Good,” he nodded, taking a bite of spaghetti, half the soupy sauce from which slid through his fork before he could get it to his mouth.  “Signed a lease for a one-bedroom place last week.  I move in at the start of February.”
“Awesome,” I smiled, happy for my friend.  “I’m glad to hear it.” 
After about 20 minutes, I’d say that we’d managed to consume maybe a sixteenth of the food set before us before we surrendered and laid into our ice cream bars.
By the time we were finished with our dinners, it was nearly seven o’clock.
“Better get ready,” I told Kristen.  “We should probably pop back by the front desk and then head upstairs.”
Kristen nodded.
We said our goodbyes to Charlie, dumped the remnants of our food, and disposed of our dirty dishes in a pass-thru area of the cafeteria that led to a dishwashing station.  Then we walked back downstairs where we took a moment to digest, played a few rounds on Jason’s new arcade games, and steeled ourselves for what we knew was coming.
With only 72 arrivals left, my M.O.D. phone still quiet, and as the crowd in the lobby starting to dissipate, we could relax for a minute. I knew that most of our guests were now likely pre-partying upstairs in their rooms or having dinner and drinks in the hotel’s various eateries.
With a bit of time on our hands until things started heating up, I gathered Kristen from where she was battling the world’s greatest electronic drivers in Jason’s racing game, and led her out to the lobby.  The lights were gleaming from the space’s towering ten-foot-tall floor lamps and the massive gold-leaf candelabras affixed to the white travertine walls.  The century-old, basketball-court-sized ceiling mural glowed pristinely.
“Where are you taking me now, Mr. Haze?” Kristen eyed me coyly.  “You’ve always got something interesting up your sleeve.”
“Just wait,” I said playfully, deferring my answer to allow Kristen’s curiosity to get the better of her.
“Fine,” she huffed with a faux frown that made her mouth curl down cutely at the corners.
Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge was still abuzz across from us, but that wasn’t my intended destination.  Instead, I took Kristen by the arm and escorted her to the sweeping stairway that led up half a flight to the eighteen-foot-high double entry doors of the Lake Ballroom.
“Oooo…the Lake Ballroom?” Kristen cooed.
“Yep,” I nodded.  
The Lake Ballroom was the hotel’s crown jewel of ballrooms and had hosted some of the most prominent performers and entertainers of their day starting in the early 1920s.
Tonight, the Chicago Ballroom radio program was being broadcast live from the confines of the famed spot.  After showing our hotel identification badges at the door, we were allowed entrance to the dinner and dance festivities taking place within.  
We found ourselves entering into a lavish affair.  The radio announcer’s booth was set up in the rear of the ballroom.  A live band was playing on the stage.  Dinner was already finished, and couples were on the dance floor before the stage.  Kristen and I didn’t quite fit in with the tuxedoed men and ball-gowned ladies, and we were the only couple we could spot in our immediate vicinity under age sixty, but we didn’t let this slow us down.  It was New Year’s Eve, and everyone was focused on enjoying themselves, so we just blended into the fray.
“Care to dance, my lady?” I held out my hand to Kristen as we approached the dance floor.
“Why of course,” she took hold of it as I guided her out among the couples.
The band began to play Moonlight Serenade, and as we danced, I gazed about at our surroundings.  I tried to envision the sorts of events that had graced these halls over the years as well as what the people enjoying those events had seen, experienced, and felt.  
The ballroom’s two massive crystal chandeliers glowed dimly above us as we swirled our way around, through, and between the other couples.
  “Just imagine the people who were here before us,” I said to my lovely dance partner.  “Sinatra, Lewis and Martin, Garland, Bennett, Armstrong, Torme…the list goes on and on.”
“You wish you’d worked here then, don’t you?” Kristen tilted her head as she looked at me.    
“I don’t know,” I shrugged.  “I love the hotel the way it is now.  I would have liked to experience a few nights back then…just to see what it was like.  It probably wouldn’t have seemed all that special to me if I’d worked during those times.  It would have just been the norm.”
“That’s the trick,” Kristen smiled.  “You have to make the now special.  You have to realize that what you’re doing, seeing, and experiencing today will one day seem like what those people did, saw, and experienced 50 or 60 years ago.  That’s why you have to grab hold of everything, every aura, every essence, every sensation, right now,” she squeezed me tight to her.
“You’re wiser than your years,” I looked deeply into her eyes.
The song finished, and then we danced to Moon River.
When the song was over, Kristen said, “Okay Mr. Sentimental, now it’s my turn to take you on a little adventure.”
“Mmm,” I said inquisitively, giving her a raised eyebrow.  “Sounds intriguing.”
It was after eight o’clock, and I had an idea of where Kristen was taking me, but I let her enjoy her moment as she guided me out of the ballroom. 
As soon as we arrived at the lobby stairs leading down to 1B, I knew for sure where we were headed.
Tonight was the grand opening – or for a few of our longer-term employees, grand re-opening – of the once famous Triton Club (formerly the Street Light Club) down on our first sub-street level. Mismanagement had led to the shuttering of the initial tenant, the Triton Club’s predecessor the Street Light Club, and poor marketing, as well as several drug-related incidents in the early-70s, had resulted in the demise of the Triton Club itself.
I had convinced Tom to rehabilitate the space last year.  He thought it a grand idea to further our efforts at bringing the Lanigan back to its former glory and retain its place of prominence atop the list of famed hotels known the world over.  
The revamping of the Triton Club had been a project a year in the making.  The hotel had hired several well-known designers to study the history of the space during its prime.  They had gathered documents, photos, and other memorabilia, all the way down to finding samples of the matchbooks, napkins, stir sticks, and glassware used, from the hotel archives, online auction sites, as well as souvenirs sent in from former guests who had an interest in seeing the club revived.  We’d had several articles in the Tribune and Sun Times newspapers that had helped pique interest in the project among the general public, but to this point, most of the rehab efforts had largely been conducted in secrecy.  Only a few select photos of the work while in progress had been released to the general public.  Even I hadn’t been allowed access to the area for the past few months once the tear out work was done and the rehabilitation work had begun.  
In its heyday, the club down on 1B – whether The Street Light or Triton – had catered to wealthy guests and businessmen, offered top-tier entertainment, and often acted as an after-hours hangout for the Lake Ballroom performers who would sometimes put on impromptu jam sessions.   And of course, like all the other food and beverage outlets in the Lanigan, the Triton Club had been modeled on an ocean theme.
“Looks like they’re going to have quite an opening night,” I said as we walked the island-print sherbet green and pink carpet of 1B.  We circumvented a lengthy line waiting to get into the hotel’s newest venue and cut around to the back-of-house area behind the club so that we could enter relatively unnoticed.
Inside, the club was packed nearly to capacity.
The designers had truly outdone themselves when it came to returning the space to its former glory.  They had issued in a new age of late-60s, early-70s vintage style but in glowingly new furnishings.  Gleaming vinyl and thick paint sheened blazing oranges, lime greens, heavy browns, and scathingly bright yellows that screamed their presence from around the club’s revamped floor plan.  It was as though we’d walked through a time warp.
Lounge chairs set around tiny cocktail tables were filled with partying hipsters, many of whom were outfitted in retro-style garb and thick black glasses that could have blended right into the fashions of the day when the clubs down here were first in operation.  Along one wall was a long orange cushioned bench that was packed to capacity.  Lining the wall behind the seating area was a row of round portholes, their glass painted with ocean and island views.  The lounge was modeled after a late-60s, early-70s cruise ship lounge.  A small stage featured a simple nightclub act – just a singer with piano accompaniment.  A faint scent of fresh stain and varnish wafted occasionally from around the horseshoe-shaped bar where several nautical-themed jacket-wearing bartenders (who reminded me of the Love Boat’s bartender, Isaac) worked.  Cocktail waitresses in knee-high white leather boots and wearing single-piece, Lanigan logoed go-go style green miniskirt uniforms with gold trim, and white sailor’s caps worked the floor serving thirsty patrons.  
I liked the uniforms.  They were revealing enough to be attention grabbing, but not so short as to seem improper, and they fit the time period for which the new club was aiming, although I had to admit, they reminded me more of airline stewardesses than cruise ship employees.
I was glad to see that the place was packed, and I hoped it would stay that way for the foreseeable future.  The Lanigan needed something new and trendy down on 1B to perk things up a bit.
Kristen led me over to the bar.
“What’ll it be, cowboy?” she gave me a sidelong glance and a grin. 
“Since you phrased it like that,” I looked at Kristen, “a Roy Rodgers, please,” I addressed the bartender.
“You sure we should be drinking?” Kristen whispered, leaning in close.
“Just how young are you?” I joked.  “There’s no alcohol in a Roy Rodgers.”
“Oh,” Kristen look uncertain, then turned to the bartender.  “Then make it two, please.”
A minute later, our drinks in hand, we managed to weave our way over to one of the few spots left to sit in a far corner near a life-sized carved wooden figure of a sailor.  He was similarly clad to the Gorton’s Fisherman mascot and wore yellow rain gear.  He had a bushy beard, and a corncob-style pipe was clamp tightly in his jaw.  His nicotine-stained form had been cleaned and refinished since we last met more than a year ago.  
“Kristen, meet Bushy.  Bushy, Kristen,” I nodded.  “He’s a man of few words,” I whispered confidentially to Kristen.  “He’s been a fixture here since before either of us was born,” I explained.  I then took a moment to explain how “back in the day” the chauvinistic businessmen who whiled away their after-work hours at the club would give the passing cocktail waitresses a little tweak to the tush or grope of the thigh as they passed or served their drinks.  “Then they’d blame poor ol’ Bushy here.  He was their favorite scapegoat.”
“Sounds like a lovely work environment,” Kristen feigned a smile, her eyelids half closed to emphasize her sarcasm.
We sat sipping our drinks for a few minutes, largely in silence, as we enjoyed taking in the ambiance and entertaining ourselves by way of our people watching.  Working in hotels, both Kristen and I had become avid admirers of the human beast.  We often took pleasure in observing the odd, yet intensely fascinating creature, interact with others in its habit.  A hotel was just a little self-contained city, and we could monitor, study, and scrutinize the nuances of the homo sapien without ever having to leave the comfort of our workplace.  It was like our own private reality television show.
At close to nine o’clock, I said, “We’d better head up to the fourth floor.  Things have probably started getting pretty busy up there.”
 
 
* * *
 
 
“Pretty busy” was an understatement regarding the situation on the fourth floor.  People were packed like sardines into the waiting areas outside the ballrooms hosting the hotel’s main New Year’s Eve events.  The entrance to the Blue Velvet Room (a ballroom whose walls were indeed clad in actual blue velvet) and the Grand and Sky Ballrooms (the dividing walls of which could be opened for events like tonight’s to make one titanic ballroom) were only about 50 yards apart.  And with close to 1000 party-goers having already arrived for the night’s events, I could tell that things would quickly get out of hand if we didn’t get the ballroom doors open and the booze flowing soon.
I looked at my watch.  It was 9:04 p.m.  The events were to have started at nine.
I could already hear the grumbles of displeasure beginning to grow around us as Kristen and I worked to push our way through the masses and up to the entrance of the Grand and Sky Ballrooms where the largest of the two events was to be held.  The scent of cologne, perfume, body spray, and alcohol hung heavy in a vaporous mist of body heat around us.
“What’s going on?” Kristen yelled over the din of the crowd.
“Not sure!  But I’m going to find out!” I yelled back.
As we approached the doors, I could see Tess Wiggins, the hotel’s main event coordinator, looking frazzled as she talked animatedly with her hands to two expressionless men in shirts and ties who looked less than interested in whatever she was saying.  Several security guards held back an increasingly rowdy mob forming up around them.  
Tess was a South Carolina belle with an angelic face that could have placed her within the pages of Vogue if she’d had half an inkling to try her hand at modeling.  And she had a heart-melting accent to boot.  But Tess was a social bird, and she loved planning events not posing for magazines.  What she didn’t love was dealing with last-minute issues that even the best event coordinator could not have predicted.  That’s when this delicate southern flower tended to wilt in the heat. 
“Oh, Robert, I’m so glad you’re here,” she looked relieved by the arrival of reinforcements.  “We have a real situation here,” she explained in her southern drawl.
“It appears so,” I said, looking around us at the massing crowd, the crush of their weight forcing the front of the line ever closer to the ballroom doors.  I opened one of the ballroom doors just wide enough to slip inside, guiding Tess along with me.  Kristen and the two tie-wearing men followed so we could escape the tumultuous clamor of the gathering multitudes.
“These are the agents for DJ Balldrop and DJ Fat Noose who are hosting tonight’s events,” Tess explained.  “This is Mr. Robert Haze, the Lanigan’s manager on duty,” she introduced me to the two men who seemed indifferent to the fact.
“So what’s going on, Tess?”
“Ugh, Robert, I just don’t know what do,” Tess’s shoulders sagged in frustration.  “DJ Balldrop is upset because he’s playing in the Blue Velvet Room.  It’s a smaller venue so he wants to switch with DJ Fat Noose.  But there’s no way Fat Noose is going for that, so now Balldrop is refusing to play at all,” she shook her head in exasperation.
“So this Fat Noose guy, he’s fine, right?”
“Yes, he’s happy and ready to play.  But I don’t know what to do about Balldrop.”
“Tell you what, Tess.  You go tell Fat Noose to get the party rolling in here.  Tell security to start letting people in, but make sure they do it in a calm and orderly manner.  I don’t want eight hundred people pouring in here all at once.  And make sure they’re checking tickets.  I definitely don’t want the people that have come to see Balldrop sneaking in here thinking he’s not going to play the Blue Velvet Room.”
“Are you sure?” Tess eyed me.  She looked almost fearful.  
“It’ll be fine,” I placated her concerns.  “Now where is DJ Balldrop?”
I was directed by one of the agents to a far corner of the ballroom where a small entourage of people clustered around someone. Kristen was a few steps behind me.  After seeing the fear in Tess’s eyes regarding the situation, I expected to find an intimidating presence in this DJ Balldrop character.  
“Who here is Balldrop?” I barged into the center of the tiny crowd.
A pasty looking kid eyed me from his throne – a banquet chair – centered amidst his subjects, several teenage looking girls.  He couldn’t have weighed much more than a hundred pounds soaking wet.
“That’s me,” he stood up.  He was maybe five foot four at best.  “You here to fix my venue set up.”
“Yes I am,” I nodded, holding out a hand for him to shake.  He shook it limply.  His hand was warm and moist, like holding a damp dishrag.  
I always tried to start off friendly in these types of situations, but I didn’t plan to stay that way for long.  Sometimes it took a little “shock and awe” style campaign to rattle the cages of prima donnas like this.
“Now what I want you to do…” he started, but I cut him off.
“No, what I want you to do is get in the dj booth that was set up specifically for you in the Blue Velvet Room, one of the most famous ballrooms in Chicago I might add (I tried to stroke the pipsqueak’s ego just a little), and start your show.” 
He looked caught off guard by my direct approach, but he recovered quickly.  “There isn’t going to be a show if I don’t get this ballroom right here,” he waved around him dramatically with a hand, putting on his own little show for the teen hangers-on clustered around him.  Then he stood staring at me defiantly.  The kid couldn’t have been older than 18 or 19-years-old at best.
“Sorry, that’s not an option,” I said matter-of-factly.
“Well then, neither am I,” he retorted defiantly, a nasty little smirk on his face.
“Listen,” I said, unfazed by his demeanor and sticking to the facts, “you’ve signed a contract with the hotel to play tonight.”
“So what?  Try telling that to all my fans when I refuse to play.  Tell them that I ‘signed a contract’,” he said the last three words in the voice of a whiney child.
I bit my tongue to keep from saying something I’d regret.  I was quickly loosing my patience but retained my composure.  “Okay,” I nodded.  “I will.”  Balldrop looked uncertain as I called his bluff.  “I was a DJ in college,” I lied. “And this lovely young lady beside me,” I gestured to Kristen, “would love to be my assistant for the night.  She starts breaking loose and ditching some of this baggy work attire, and I guarantee she’ll definitely be attracting a hell of a lot more attention than your scrawny little butt would.”  
“Nobody knows you,” Balldrop sneered.
“Who cares,” I shrugged.  “You think anybody’s really going to give a rat’s behind who’s playing the music tonight?  Half of those people out there are already so trashed I could put on an 80s mix tape and they wouldn’t know the difference.  They just want to party.  So, as I see it, you have a choice; you can do the job you were hired to do and get paid, or you can leave and I’ll do it for you and have the hotel pay me.  The tickets have been sold, the hotel’s made their money either way, you want to piss off your fans and not get paid, well, that’s not my problem.” I started to turn around to leave, and then paused, “Oh, and by the way, if someone gets hurt out there should a couple of those people actually care that you’re not playing tonight and try to start something, not only will I have you arrested for public endangerment, but the hotel will be suing you for breach of contract.”  And with that, I turned and walked away, calling over my shoulder as I left, “And I’d be careful what you do with those little girls you’ve got hanging around.”
Kristen and Tess hurried to catch up as I left.
“Think he’ll play?” Tess asked worriedly.
“He’ll play,” I nodded.  “I’ve dealt with self-indulgent entertainers like him before.  I don’t like to be that way, but sometimes it’s the only way to get through to them.  They’re so used to having everyone say ‘yes’ to them that they forget what the word ‘no’ sounds like.  We have the safety and wellbeing of our guests to look out for…not to mention their New Year’s Eves would be ruined.”
“Especially if you were the DJ,” Kristen nudged me.
“What?  I know good music,” I feigned insult.
“Yeah, from the 1930s and 40s.”
“I listen to the tunes of the day,” I defended myself.  “Don’t really like them…but I listen.”
“You weren’t really a DJ in college were you?” Kristen eyed me.
“Ahh, yet another mystery to add to the Lanigan’s long list,” I gave her double-raised eyebrows.  
Ten minutes later people were filtering into ballrooms where both DJs had started their shows.  For the next hour and a half, Kristen and I made the rounds roaming the busiest sections of the hotel that took us around the 4th floor ballrooms, down to the mezzanine overlooking the lobby, then on down to the lobby itself.  From there, we continued our downward descent to the street level arcade and entrances, outside for a circuit around the building, back inside, and on down to 1B, and then back up to the fourth floor to start the route all over again.  Along the way, we would often radio housekeeping regarding various messes we’d discovered or call security to report rowdy or incapacitated guests.  
As we finished our third such cycle, my M.O.D. phone vibrated its request for my attention.  
“Uh oh,” I said to Kristen.  “What’s up now?”
 
 
* * *
 
 
The hotel’s pool was what was ‘up now’ according to the hotel operator on the other end of my M.O.D. phone.  From what I could gather, a group of guests had somehow accessed our pool area after hours.  I didn’t bother to ask why the operator was contacting me regarding this matter rather than security.  It needed to be dealt with by someone, and apparently I was going to be that someone.
The Lanigan’s Olympic-sized swimming pool was attached to our spa and fitness center facilities that contained tens of thousands of dollars worth of workout equipment, lotions, scrubs, oils, and related Lanigan-logoed items available for purchase.  Having guests in the area unsupervised could not only leave the hotel liable for any accidents that might befall the guests while there, but result in significant loss due to damage or theft.  Therefore, Kristen and I took the service elevator directly up to the 7th floor.
The pool was situated halfway between the 6th and 7th floors so that one had to go down half a flight of stairs from the fitness center to reach it.  Just to the left of the pool, and down another half flight of stairs, was a palm court area with tables and chairs where guests could sit, read, and otherwise relax after their swim, workout, massage, or spa treatment.  This space opened up to the 6th floor through two sliding glass doors.  At times, employees opened these doors for increased airflow during the day, but forgot to lock them or locked them improperly when leaving at night.    
Tonight, some inebriated and particularly wily guests had managed to discover this access to the pool area and had apparently called a bunch of their friends to assist them in exploiting the breach.  There were at least 20 intoxicated and naked guests frolicking wildly in our pool.  Several more were lounging in one of the hot tubs nearby.  Socks, shoes and assorted other clothes were strewn haphazardly around the pool deck.
“Well, there’s something you don’t see every day,” Kristen said as we stopped at the pool’s edge, casually observing the nude bathers.  Our presence didn’t seem to disturb their enjoyment of the hotel’s pool facilities in the least.  “What are we going to do?” she asked, staring around her in wonderment.
I cupped my hands to my mouth.  “May I have everyone’s attention?” I called.
Nary an eye turned toward us at my request.
“Ahem,” I cleared my throat loudly.  “May I please have everyone’s attention!?” I called louder this time.
The frolicking partiers didn’t miss a beat in their revelry.
“That worked well,” Kristen said.  “Any other ideas?”
“We could join them,” I suggested smugly.
“Be a heck of a lot more fun that working,” she considered.
“Come on,” I said, walking over to a rack that held rows of clean pool towels.  I grabbed a stack.  “Hold out your arms,” I told Kristen as I began to load up her arms with towels.  When I was done with her, she couldn’t even see over the top of the stack.  I took a fresh towel in one hand and Kristen’s arm in the other so that I could guide her over to the edge of the pool where I scanned the waters, searching for the least inebriated guest I could find.
Finally, I picked one still wearing his tighty-whities and singled him out.  “Excuse me, sir?” I said, moving closer to where he was treading water in one corner of the pool.
He looked up at me nervously.  “Yes?” he said hesitantly.  I could tell he was embarrassed.  They were just having a good time, and I really didn’t want to ruin twenty-some guests’ good times at the hotel on New Year’s Eve.  
“Could I have a word?”
“Sure,” he nodded.
I waited as he climbed from the pool and then handed him a towel in which he could wrap himself since his white undies weren’t doing much to maintain his modesty.
“These your friends?” I nodded to the pool full of partiers.  
“Most of them,” he stood shivering.  The temperature of the pool’s water, as well as the ambient air in this part of the hotel, was lowered at night.  This was one the hotel’s many energy-saving actions that had placed it at the top of the list among environmentally-friendly hotels nation wide.   “We picked up a few people we don’t really know on the way here,” he added as he worked to dry himself with the towel I’d given him.
“Tell you what,” I said.  “I know that you’re just having a good time, but I can’t allow you and your friends to be here after hours.  It’s a liability issue.  But I don’t really want to call security since they would likely remove you from the hotel, and that wouldn’t be a pleasant ending to your evening.  So here’s what I’ll do,” I pulled a pen and a leather-bound flip-top notepad from my suit jacket pocket.  It was my “comp” book.  Taking a page from Las Vegas casinos, I’d convinced Tom shortly after my assuming the role of manager on duty, to allow such books to be distributed among department heads and managers, the hotel M.O.D., and anyone who might be serving as temporary M.O.D. on the rare occasion when I wasn’t on the hotel premises.  The notepad was filled with tear-off coupons that things like complimentary appetizers, drinks, discounts on various hotel services, hotel logoed t-shirts and robes, and similar amenities could be distributed to guests when problems arose.  It saved time and confusion about how to efficiently resolve guest service issues, and it provided management with a way not only to keep our guests happy but to market and direct more business to the hotel’s various outlets.  Sure, it cost the hotel money in the short run, but we more than made up for it with the free advertising and the additional purchases guests often made when they partook of their freebie.  It was seldom that a guest showed up to one of our bars and only had their one free drink or appetizer.  There was typically a follow-up drink or three, or an entrée and maybe a dessert ordered as well.  Or they brought a spouse, friend or family with them.
I scribbled on my pad, then ripped off the attached coupon and handed it to the man.  “Our new establishment, the Triton Club down on 1B, is having their grand opening celebration tonight.  This coupon is for one free drink of your choosing,” I explained.  “Just tell them that Robert, the hotel manager on duty sent you, and they’ll take care of you, okay?”
“Oookay!” the man perked up.  
“Now round up your friends and I’ll write one of these for each of them.  I’ll let you hand them out.  You can be the go-to guy for free drinks tonight.  How’s that sound?”
He was back to the poolside gathering his cohorts in seconds, waving the coupon I’d written him in his hand and yelling, “Hey!  Free drinks!  Free drinks everybody!”  
Kristen and I stood nearby, me writing free drink coupons and her handing out pool towels, and within ten minutes, all the naughty nudists were dried, dressed and on their way downstairs.  I was sure that the Triton Club would welcome the additional traffic, even if the patrons were still a little damp and smelled strongly of chlorine.
“Guess you know what you’re doing after all,” Kristen grinned at me as the last few guests made their way back out the way they’d come through the 6th floor sliding doors that I made sure were secured behind them.
“Hard to believe, isn’t it?” I smiled.
We walked back up to the pool area where we picked up a few towels that hadn’t made their way into the dirty towel bin.
As we worked, my M.O.D. phone chirped a beeping alarm.  I pulled it off its position affixed to my belt and looked at it.
“One minute ’til midnight,” I held it up for Kristen to see.
“Let me see that thing,” she said as I handed it over to her.
She held it in her hand, pulling her own phone out to compare the two.  “You need an upgrade.”
“I know,” I nodded.  “It’s been a couple years.”
She continued to watch the phone’s screen.  “Okay…here we go.  Ten…nine…eight…seven…six…five…” she put both phones on the deck as we stood beside the pool, continuing to count, “…four…three…two…one…” and with that she lunged toward me, pushing me hard in the chest.  As I reeled backwards toward the pool, I managed to grab hold of her arm, pulling her with me as I splashed down into the chilly water.
We both came up laughing and sputtering, wiping the water from our faces.  A second later, Kristen tried to dunk me, only partially succeeding as I returned the favor.  She resurfaced, mascara running but otherwise makeup free.  I was amazed at just how amazingly beautiful the girl was even without all the cosmetic fixings.  
Suddenly she pulled me close and planted one square upon my kisser.  The kiss wasn’t too long, wasn’t too short, wasn’t too hard, wasn’t too soft – no tongue or anything like that – and conducted at just the right moment so not to appear as inappropriate or unjustified.  Just a perfect kiss to celebrate the moment.   
“Happy New Year, Mr. Robert Haze!” she smiled at me.
“And a happy New Year to you, Ms. Kristen Sparks,” I smiled back.  “By the way,” I asked as a sudden afterthought while we floated treading water, the kiss leaving me thinking back to my mysterious secret admirer, “you didn’t happen to leave something in my mailbox on Christmas morning did you?  A little box?”
“No,” she frowned, shaking her head.  “Why?
“Oh, no reason…just curious.”
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 7
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 1/1 MOD Report
 
 
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Sunday, January 1st

 
Weather: 28/19   Heavy snow (blizzard warning)                                          
Occupancy: 32%
Arrivals: 174                                                                                                              
Departures: 1217   
 
Event Resume:
	No events

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge – (5 p.m. – 11 p.m.)

 
	Triton Club (Closed Sunday & Monday)

 
 
** Happy New Year!!!!!! **
 
 
 
* * *
 
I slept late New Year’s morning since I didn’t turn in until almost three.  By the time Kristen and I had dried and redressed, it was nearly 12:30 a.m., and after handling a few more minor issues, it was close to two.  By then, the ballroom events were over and most of the calls reverted back to security.  Therefore, we returned to the front office to write up our managers’ report for the evening and then sent out the hotel-wide M.O.D. report.
When I finally arose some time after eleven, I walked over and pulled my bedroom curtains (complete with blackout blinds since my hours were often erratic) aside to reveal a blur of white outside.  I knew the weather forecast was calling for possible blizzard conditions, but in the Chicagoland area such predictions could be hit and miss.  Due to the size of the area, stretching from the southern Wisconsin border to northern Indiana border, and with the lake effect conditions often coming into play, the weather could change drastically and dramatically in the points in between.
I left the blinds open and flipped the television on to the local new station.  There was a “special weather statement” running, and the portly, bespectacled weatherman was standing before a screen of whites and grays passing over the Chicagoland area indicating the various snowfall levels.
Poor fella.  Working on New Year’s Day.  “Definitely earning your overtime,” I said to the television.  
I turned up the volume.
“…continued snow throughout the day,” the weatherman was gesturing toward the screen behind him.  We’ve already received anywhere from five to eight inches depending upon where you are in the viewing area, and that’s just the start.  Things won’t really pick up until around nightfall when, according to our storm model, the brunt of the storm is predicted to hit and the snowfall will really begin to intensify.  Most of the Chicagoland area could see up to an inch or more falling per hour throughout the night and into the early morning when the majority of the storm will have passed except maybe for our southern viewing area around Hammond where some lighter bands of lake effect snow might linger.  Meanwhile, a cold front will sweep in behind the snow bringing with it plunging temperatures that will drop into the single digits.  Gusty winds associated with this front could push wind chills into the negative twenties and even thirties.  Tomorrow’s rush hour could be a real mess,” he finished his report.
“I guess we’re lucky this is all starting on a Sunday as well as a holiday.  It will at least give people, not to mention road crews, some time to get started on snow removal,” one of the newscasters said to the weatherman.
“Yes, but with most of our snow falling tonight and into tomorrow morning at such a heavy rate, it’s unlikely that road crews will be able to keep pace, so caution is advised for the drive in to work tomorrow,” the weatherman explained.  “We’re already getting reports of area school closings in the northern suburbs and all Chicago Public Schools are closed as well.”
I turned the volume on my television back down, made a pot of coffee, and dug some leftovers from the Polynesian out of my mini-fridge, warming them in the microwave.  Then I enjoyed my mid-morning meal as I sat before my bedroom windows watching the storm from my cozy perch high above the ever-deepening snow.
While I ate, still tired after last night’s late hours, I decided a nap was in order for today.  I felt that with the snow coming down, the day shift would just have to endure, and it would be best to utilize my time and efforts throughout the evening and early-morning hours when the worst of storm was predicted to hit.
After finishing my brunch, I headed downstairs for a vigorous workout in the fitness center, some soaking in the hot tub to clean out the pores, and a good swim to cool down and loosen up a few tight muscles.  There wasn’t a soul around as the majority of our guests were either nursing hangovers, packing to leave after their revelry last night, or some combination thereof.  For most people this morning, thoughts of exercise were best left to New Year’s resolution lists. 
Suri, the fitness center manager, met me as I dried myself after my swim, donned my Lanigan hotel robe, and prepared to head back upstairs to shower, shave, and prepare for my nap.
“Heard we had another incident,” she leaned in confidentially, even though no one else was around to hear.
I took a deep breath, hesitating as I decided how to respond.  I didn’t like it when employees questioned me about matters involving the police because I had to tread carefully.  I didn’t want to appear as though I was trying to keep them out of the loop, even though it was really none of their business; but at the same time, I didn’t want to misstep and say something that might betray Detective Marino’s confidence.  As someone who was often involved in thefts, injuries, and yes, the occasional murder, it was critical to keep Chicago’s finest on my good side not only for the well-being of the hotel but to make my own job easier as well.
“Unfortunately,” I nodded to Suri.
“Heard he was stuffed in the linen chute,” she continued to whisper.  “And you found him.”
“I was in the linen sorting room looking for a lost and found item,” I skirted a direct answer.
“Do they know what happened?  Do they think one of the employees killed him?”
“I’m really not sure,” I was able to answer directly this time.  “The police are investigating.  They don’t always communicate everything they find back to the hotel.”
I knew that such events were the subject of gossip and conjecture around the hotel whenever they occurred.  Therefore, it really didn’t matter what was true and what wasn’t regarding the events surrounding Mr. Statler’s death, it was just a juicy non-work-related subject to discuss among employees during breaks and downtimes.
“I heard that he was stabbed,” Suri pressed.  “Was it…bad?”
I didn’t see how being stabbed could be particularly good, but I again tried to answer without really answering, “You know, Suri, it was such a shock when it happened, I wasn’t really paying attention to the wounds so much as to whether the guest was still alive.  After I realized he was dead, I was so busy calling emergency services and security that I didn’t take a lot of time to inspect the man’s injuries.”
“Hmm,” she frowned, pondering.  “I think I would have looked closely.  I’ve always been interested in things like that…murders and stuff.  I love watching murder mysteries on PBS.  I think I would have made a good detective.  Have you ever seen the show…”
She went on for the next ten minutes discussing various detective shows that I just had to see, describing characters, detailing certain favorite episodes, and giving me times and channels said shows were airing.
“I’ve got to get upstairs and get showered, Suri,” I was finally able to break in.  I was starting to turn into a block of ice standing there in my wet swim trunks and robe.
“Okay,” Suri smiled.  “Have a happy New Year,” she called after me as I retreated from the pool area.
“You do the same!” I called back over my shoulder, pushing my way outside into the 7th floor hallway where I was greeted with a blast of even chillier air.
“Ugh,” I shivered, hurrying to the back landing and taking the service elevator up to the 23rd floor where my warm shower and cozy king bed awaited.
25-minutes later, I was snuggly beneath crisp white linens that housekeeping had placed upon my bed while I was at the pool.  I fluffed my pillow, inhaled deeply of that freshly-laundered linen smell, and pulled my billowy comforter up around my neck in the blackout-curtained darkness of my bedroom.
I was asleep in a matter of minutes, not to awaken again until after five o’clock, at which point I found my stomach rumbling angrily, out of sync with my odd schedule of the past day and in turmoil after not being tended to following my rigorous workout.
I arose, dressed, and dialed room service.  Most of the hotel eateries were closed for the New Year’s Day, and I didn’t mind eating in my room, especially on cozy days like today when my homey little hovel was a welcome environment in which to hunker down.
I was in the mood for something warm, yet filling, so I ordered the white bean and artichoke potage topped with bacon and shaved Asiago cheese to start.  I followed up with the prime filet medallion trio which consisted of three, three-ounce steak medallions each with an individual topping that included crab meat stuffed jumbo shrimp, bacon and blue cheese, and marinated mushrooms.  The dish was served with butter-laden shallot mashed potatoes, and bourbon sauce marinated green beans.       
While I ate, I watched the storm coverage on television beside my little electric fireplace in the living room.  Downtown was already up to 12 inches of snowfall, and certain southern and far west suburbs had already hit the 14 to 15 inch range.  But my mind eventually turned back to the murder of Mr. Statler.  Suri’s prodding had stirred my mental pot, but I didn’t have much to work with.  Detective Marino had given me some basic background information, but from the sound of things, he didn’t have a lot to work with either.  Therefore, I decided to do a little digging of my own and see what I could come up with.  But first, I needed to make sure the hotel was ready for tomorrow after the night’s storm.  While Tom might not have looked like it from his outward appearance, he was a stickler for attention to detail when it came to his hotel.  The last thing I wanted when he came downstairs Monday morning was for him to see his baby not looking up to par.  Even a blizzard of epic proportions wouldn’t keep him from expecting the best of the best for his precious property.
After dinner, I turned the television down and pulled out a copy of Charles Dicken’s, Bleak House.  I’d been bouncing back and forth between this tome and a copy of Upton Sinclair’s, The Jungle – both of which I’d been making slow but steady headway on for the past couple years.  The two somewhat depressing novels just seemed to fit my reading itinerary for the long Chicago winters.
At a little after nine, I closed my tome, put on my suit jacket, and headed downstairs.  
Sitting down at my desk, I flipped on my computer and immediately checked the “View Totals” page.  All our departures had been checked out, most of our guests having fled earlier in the day in an effort to beat the worst of the storm or having extended their stay to ride it out.  We only had 22 remaining arrivals, most of whom I wasn’t counting on actually making it to the hotel due to the severity of the storm.   Our occupancy had risen by about 100 rooms since yesterday with the storm stayovers that I was sure housekeeping hadn’t planned for and likely wouldn’t have attendants to clean.  But most of the rooms had only extended their stay by one night, and moving forward, the hotel wasn’t booked over 60 percent at any point during the seven-day occupancy forecast.  This meant that housekeeping could “hang” some of the vacant dirty rooms if necessary.
“Hanging” was a process in which housekeeping would temporarily wait to clean rooms for a day or two after the guests had checked out and once a few additional room attendants could be scheduled to cover the extra work load.
Room attendants are the workhorse of any hotel, but they can only clean so many rooms.  Sometimes extra rooms would be “sold” to room attendants for additional pay if the attendant could handle the work.  But housekeeping managers had to walk a fine line between quantity and quality.  A room attendant might be able to handle 20 rooms if they were all stayover rooms or they had some guests who refused service, but “churning and burning” when it came to cleaning rooms could leave a lot to be desired when it came to quality.  With the Lanigan at the top of the charts on guest room cleanliness surveys, guest satisfaction wasn’t something we liked to chance.  It was better to put off cleaning a few rooms to ensure that they were handled properly by room attendants who weren’t pressured to get in and out too quickly.
  I sent a quick email to Marian in housekeeping to let her know about our pickup in room count due to the storm.  With the other items appearing in my email inbox and the several voicemails I’d received in my absence easily handled, I decided to walk our most heavily trafficked areas and see how they were holding up against the storm.  
I started by heading down the lobby’s main entry stairs, the carpeting of which had been heavily soiled and was looking dingy from a mixture of snowy slush and residue from the ice melt we’d been using to keep the hotel entrances clear.   
I walked through the main entrance’s revolving doors, noting the ice-melt stained entry mats.  Outside, a wet, storm-driven snow instantly began affixing itself to my suit jacket the minute I stepped outside, and the icy wind cut me to the bone, taking my breath away.  We were at shift-change, and in the interim between when second shift wrapped things up and third shift began, at least an inch of freshly fallen snow had covered the sidewalks.  The remnants of the ice-melt the second shift had put down had kept the main entrance relatively clear, but it looked as though the snow was starting to get a foothold in certain spots.  I knew it wouldn’t be long before that area was covered too.
I ducked back inside, walking the street level’s arcade shopping area.  As I did so, I noted the level of mucky debris and footprints that dulled the typically glossy gleam of the honed white travertine floor with diamond-shaped black marble inlays.
 “Tom’s not going to be happy,” I mumbled to myself as I hit a button on one wall to open a set of black double doors that blended in almost seamlessly with that portion of the arcade’s hallway wall.  I made my through them and up a ramp and around a corner near the hotel’s dock area to the service elevators.  I then rode an elevator upstairs, calling John Rodgers, the night housekeeping manager, along the way.
“This is John, go ahead,” he answered his radio.
“Hi, John, it’s Robert.  You in your office?”
“Just got here,” he answered.
“Copy that.  I’m going to stop by.”
“Okay,” he said.
As I stepped off the elevator on the 25th floor, I almost bit it in a puddle of water left standing on the back landing floor.  Marian Marshall, the director of housekeeping loved to use floor wax.  She’d have any floor surface she could find sealed or waxed.  Marian wore thick glasses and blinked a lot, often squinting.  If Mr. Magoo had a wife, Marian would have fit the bill.  I often wondered if she used the shiny layers of floor wax that she had her floor techs constantly applying and buffing to eye-blurring shines as a way to guide her around the hotel.  She even had them wax the granite entrances outside the hotel.  It made these surfaces look great but turned them to ice skating rinks whenever they got wet.
I looked down at the floor.  There must have been ten coats of floor wax on the back landing’s concrete surface.  “Jesus,” I shook my head.  “We ever strip off all this wax and the hotel’s going to collapse.”
I found a rag, wiped up the wet spot, and made my way down the hall to John’s office.
There I found him in his office that offered a glimpse of Lake Michigan (on a good weather day) if one looked through a tiny porthole-shaped window and past a large skyscraper.  He sat sorting a pile of paperwork at his desk, a brass library lamp with green glass shade serving as his only light.
“What’s up, Robert?” he looked up as I entered.
“Well, this storm for one,” I nodded at his little porthole, the sill of which was half filled with snow.
“No kidding,” he nodded.  My train in to work was half an hour late.  I about froze my you-know-what off.”
“I bet,” I snorted.  “How you looking for staff tonight?”
“Not too good.  I’ve got three call-offs on what was already a lean night.  I only had twelve people scheduled to begin with.”
“Ouch,” I said.  “Well, I hate to add to your burden, but the snow’s starting to pile up again, the lobby stairs need to be shampooed, the entry mats need to be cleaned, and the arcade looks like crap.”
“I know,” he nodded.  “I saw it when I came in.  Won’t matter if we do the arcade floor tonight.  It’ll look just as bad after it gets trampled tomorrow morning by the morning rush hour traffic.”
The arcade was a notorious shortcut as area workers took the opportunity to save an extra minute – and get out of the cold or rain when the weather was bad – by cutting through the center of the block where the Lanigan sat.  In turn, they trailed the mess from their foot traffic across the arcade’s floors. 
“Yeah, you know that, I know that, but Tom’s not going to care,” I said.
John frowned and nodded.  “I’m going to have enough trouble as it is.  I’ve got to pull cleaners from their regular routes for snow removal.”
“Tell you what,” I said.  “I’ll do some snow clearing if that’ll help you out.”
“Sure would,” John smiled.  “I can handle the carpet and the entry mats.  I’ll have my marble technician run the floor machine over the arcade and spot mop the really bad spots.  If we do that, we ought to be okay.”
 
 
* * *
 
 
It turned out to be a night to remember to say the least.  The snow came down in buckets.  I’d never seen a Chicago storm like it.  I worked clearing snow with four of the housekeeping night crew – Ozell Palmer (the head floor tech), Ronnie Bucket, Maurice Jackson, and Terrance Phillips.  They were all hardworking fellows that didn’t do a lot of talking, but I wondered if their lack of chatting tonight came more from the presence of a manager among their ranks than lack of topics of conversation.  I had a feeling that the volume on what would otherwise have probably been some pretty loud complaining had been turned down due to my addition to their ranks.  
Even with the cold, I found myself sweating profusely in my suit, scarf, heavy gloves, and long wool coat.  We toiled tirelessly until lunch time at 1 a.m.  
After lunch, Ozell approached me in the cafeteria.  He had a funny, high-pitched, stuttering kind of way of talking that almost sounded like he was angry and yelling.
  “Ya…ya…you alright, boss,” he told me matter-of-factly, handing me a package.
“What’s this?” I asked.
“Sn…sn…snowsuit,” he nodded.  “Ya…ya…you one of us now, boss.  Ya…ya…you a hard worker.”
“Thanks Ozell,” I nodded, then shed my coat to don my protective suit.
By the time we were done eating and got back outside, you could hardly tell we’d done anything, so we got back to it double-time.  
Half an hour later, my M.O.D. phone buzzed.  Fishing it from beneath my snowsuit, I cringed – it was Tom.  
“Oh boy,” I said, when I saw his name flash up on my phone’s screen.
Ozell peered over my shoulder.  “HA!” he laughed loudly seeing the name, then called to the others, “Bi, bi, big boss on da horn.”  Then there was some gibberish yelling from Ozell to the others that, from what I could make out, sounded something like, “One big boss only da big boss ‘til da other big boss come.  Then he ain’t da big boss no more, he da little boss, and he gotta go running like we do.”
I had to admit, he was right.  
I ducked inside the hotel to talk.
“Go ahead, Tom,” I breathed heavily, still out of breath from my shoveling.
“Roberto…I was just down in the arcade.  It looks terrible…especially the area right around the main entrance.  We’ve got to get the marble crew on this asap.  I want you to make sure they really drill down on this thing and ram it home by morning time.”
I wondered what the heck Tom was down here at this time of morning – probably sneaking into the main kitchen to steal a midnight snack.
“I’m down here now, Tom.  I’ll get with John Rodgers and the marble guys and make sure they jump on it.”
“Good boy, Mr. Roboto.  I’ll see you in the morning.”
As soon as I got off the phone with Tom, I found John using the hand extractor machine to clean the stairway carpet leading from the main entrance up to the lobby.  I explained to him what was going on and asked him to give his stone care guys a call.
“It’s only Maynard here tonight,” he explained.  “Don called off.”  
“Darn!” I hissed, remembering that John had told me this earlier in the evening.  “Well, have him meet us here anyway with his equipment,” I told him.
Five minutes later, Maynard arrived pushing a floor polishing machine in one hand while pulling an old bell cart full of supplies in the other.  “Got to go back for a few more things if we’re polishing the floor tonight.  Not much time left before guests start getting up, so we’ll have to hurry,” he said, looking dismayed.
I glanced at my watch.  It was almost 2 a.m.  Guests would start trickling into this area of the hotel starting around six, and the side entrances to the arcade would be opened at about the same time.
“How long does it take to polish the floor?” I asked Maynard.
“A section like this?” he gestured around at the area below the lobby stairs.  “Almost an entire night to do a full cut on the stone,” he explained.
“A full night?” I said in exasperation.  “We’ve got three…maybe four hours at best.  Are there any other options to get it looking good but in a shorter amount of time?”
Maynard considered.  “We could just use some of the slurry on it to shine it up a little, but this floor here looks pretty beat up from all the salt coming in.  I’d say we’d at least have to go red-up on it.”
“What’s ‘red-up’?” I asked.
“There are different colors of diamond pads we use to polish the marble – green, black, red, yellow, gray, blue, and orange.  To get the best shine on the stone, it’s better to start with the green pad and go all the way up through orange, but we can still get it honed and looking good by starting at the red pad and going up from there.  It’ll cut a couple hours off the process, but without a mop and vet-vac man here to assist me, it’ll add that time right back on.” 
I liked to learn as much as I could about different departments and employee roles within the hotel, and sometimes trial by fire was the best way to do so.  “Tell you what, how much time you got left on the stairs?” I asked John.  
“Almost finished,” he said.
“I don’t mind helping Maynard with the stone polishing if you want to switch off and shovel snow for a while.”
“Sounds like a plan to me,” John nodded.  “I’ll put this stuff away upstairs and then head outside.  How are things looking out there?”
“Pretty good, but the snow is still coming down as fast as we can clear it.”
Ten minutes later, Maynard and I were set up.  It was my job to mop the floor clean before Maynard began each cut and then use the vet-vac to suck up the slurry he left behind.  The interim between the two duties was mostly a lot of standing and watching, but I picked up some good tips on how to polish stone in the meantime. 
Almost as soon as Maynard and I got started, a voice boomed behind me, “Haze!  What the hell you doing?  They got you polishing floors now?”
I looked behind me to see Sergeants Grakowski and Mitts, two night-shift CPD officers who regularly stopped by the hotel as part of their nightly routine.  More often than not it was just to get inside out of the weather, do a little chin-wagging, and grab something to eat from the cafeteria.  The two reminded me of Jake and Elwood Blues or maybe a couple of Bill Swerski’s Superfans made famous in the Saturday Night Live skits in which they spouted, “Da Bears” or “Da Bulls” in heavy Chicago accents.
“Just helping out where I can,” I replied, shaking hands with the two officers.  “Snow’s got us a little shorthanded tonight.”
“Helluva storm out there,” Grakowski nodded.  “Barely made it over here.”
“Yeah, you’re running late tonight, lunch is already over,” I laughed.
“Oh come on!  We stop by for more than just lunch!” Mitts guffawed.
“Oh yeah?” I eyed them warily.
“Sure…we have to make sure you guys aren’t knocking off any more of your guests,” Grakowski quipped.
“Thanks a lot,” I gave a wry half smile. “We appreciate all your efforts. You two had any updates on the case?”

“You know they don’t fill us in on stuff like that unless they need us to act as errand boys for the detectives working the case, then they only tell us what’s absolutely necessary.  You probably got a better chance of hearing something from them than we do,” Grakowski frowned.”
“So what was for lunch?” Mitts asked, getting back to more serious business.
“Chili and cornbread.  Perfect for a night like tonight.”
“Mmm,” the sergeants’ eyes both half-closed, their hands going to their bellies at the thought. 
“Who’s working the kitchen?” Mitts asked.
“Your favorite…Habeebee.  He’ll probably whip you up some leftovers if he’s still down there.”
“Awww,” they moaned in discouraged unison.
“I’m hungry, but I’m not that hungry,” Grakowski shook his head.
“He’s a great guy, but he just gives you sooo much,” Mitts added.
“You’re preaching to the choir on that one,” I shrugged.  
“Well, I guess we’ll go see what damage we can do down there,” Grakowski mumbled.
“More like what damage that crazy cook’s wheelbarrow full of food will do to us,” I overheard Mitts’ grumbled interjection as they sauntered off in the direction of the cafeteria.
 
 
* * *
 
 
For someone who doesn’t get a heck of a lot of exercise besides a little walking in his daily routine, the night was exhausting yet invigorating for me.  In the process, I made some new employee bonds with the night-shift crew and learned much more than I ever thought I’d know about stone care.  Maynard even let me do the final polish to the arcade floor on my own.
By the end of the shift, the arcade was sparkling, the entry mats and lobby stairway carpet were clean, and the snow was as cleared as it was going to get considering the storm continued to lay down layer upon layer of white.
I made my way back to my office where I collapsed into my desk chair.  It was twenty minutes to seven.  I wanted to check a few things related to Mr. Statler’s murder, but I was just so tired.  So I wrote up a brief M.O.D. report for the evening, mostly recounting the housekeeping night shift’s fantastic endeavors at keeping our hotel spotless on such a challenging evening, and then headed up to my room to have a quick shower and catch some shuteye.
On my way upstairs, I took a quick detour to the 15th floor linen closet.  The room attendants had yet to receive their room assignments from their managers this early in the morning, so the area was still quiet.  
I used my manager’s master key to enter the room, fumbled for the light switch in the dark, and flipped it on.  I did a slow scan of the room.  I’d estimate the space at about 30 feet by 30 feet.  To my right, several metal shelving units were piled with a variety of fresh linens and towels.  There was a folding table directly in front of me for room attendants to stack or refold linens as they prepared to load their carts.  To my left there was a row of room attendant carts all lined up in one corner of the space.  Their Lanigan logoed ends faced me.  A floor number and section assignment to differentiate which cart belonged to which room attendant – 15-1, 15-2, 15-3, and so forth – were stenciled in white paint below each Lanigan logo.  Beside these sat four open-topped houseperson carts with similar logos.  The hotel housepersons were charged with keeping the hallways, back landings, guest elevator areas, and stairwells clean as well as with bringing up fresh linens to the closets and disposing of the dirty linens that accumulated in room attendants’ carts.  The housepersons filled their own carts with soiled linens from guest rooms and hauled their loads back to the linen closet where they could be dumped down the linen chute.  The linen chute itself was located on the wall to my immediate left, just beside the entry door to the room and adjacent to the garbage chute.
 The bases of these two chute doors began about two feet from the floor, and each door was about 20 inches wide by 20 inches tall.  There was a gap of about two feet between the two doors.  I moved over so that I could inspect each.  Both had handles set at their tops, and both had latches to secure them.  
The proximity of the two chutes to one another made me wonder why the killer hadn’t used the garbage chute.  Doing so would have deposited Mr. Statler’s body directly into the hotel’s trash compactor and would have made it less likely that his body would have been discovered.  
I took a moment to unlatch and open each door.  In doing so, I understood why the killer had avoided the garbage chute.  Trying to load an adult-sized body into the garbage chute would have been a much more difficult task.  Pulling the door outward toward me and down, I realized that it only opened to about a 45-degree angle from the wall as an old-fashioned flour bin in an antique hutch might have.  I guessed that the door had likely been constructed this way as a safety feature in the old days to keep a potential stray child – or even an employee – from falling down the chute at a time when it had exited directly into the hotel’s incinerator.  Falling into the linen chute might not have been much better, but chances were, it would likely have resulted in a softer landing.  With the garbage chute door built the way it was, it would have meant the killer would have had to lift the full weight of Mr. Statler up and over the top of the door to drop him down inside, a sizeable feat for anyone of non-superhuman strength.
Meanwhile, the linen chute door, while opening in the same way, retracted all the way to a 90-degree angle, making it much easier to load both bulky linens as well as bodies. 
I opened both doors again and let them slide back on their hydraulic hinges.  I could hear the soft sucking sound as the pressurized hinges pulled them tightly closed again.  I repeated the process several more times with the linen chute door, trying to envision what had occurred here, thinking about poor Mr. Statler and his final moments as he was loaded inside the chute and then released.  Even at the door’s relatively low height, it wouldn’t be an easy process to heft a lifeless body up and into the chute.  And with the door’s hydraulic hinges attempting to pull the door shut during the loading process, it would leave the killer having to manhandle the body while at the same time keep the door open, making the job even more difficult.  Once the body was onto the chute door, its weight would have held the chute door open, and once the body was a good third of the way inside the chute tube, gravity would likely have pulled the rest of it inside and down.  
Had Mr. Statler been aware of what was going on?  Had he attempted to fight back?
I looked around the chute door for signs of a struggle – blood spatter, hair, scratches on the wall, anything of note – but I saw nothing.  I figured the police would have caught such clues in their search of the area, so I don’t know exactly what I was looking for.  I guess I was just curious, wondering what had led to such a strange demise.  I could see someone being stabbed, but why ditch them in the linen chute?  I guess it was a quick way to buy the killer some time to escape or cover their tracks.
I shook my head and took a deep breath, saddened by the macabre thoughts of Mr. Statler’s final moments.  As much as I enjoyed working with and observing them, I never would fully understand people.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 8
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 1/2 MOD Report
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Monday, January 2nd

 
Weather: 12/-5 Morning snow/afternoon flurries                            
Occupancy: 56%
Arrivals: 523                                                                                                              
Departures: 187   
 
Event Resume:
	Grand Ballroom (9 a.m. – 3:30 p.m.) – DST Truckers Asso. annual convention

 
	3rd Floor Meeting Rooms – III, IV – Lanigan new hire orientation 

 
	6th Floor Meeting Rooms – Oak, Elm, Sycamore – Chicago Oil Painters Guild

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Triton Club – (Closed Monday)

 
	Blue Velvet Room (6 p.m. – 10:00 p.m.) – DST Truckers Asso. dinner 

 
 
*** A special thank you to the housekeeping night shift for keeping the hotel looking fantastic during the blizzard!!! ***
 
 
* * *
 
 
I was awakened at just after 11 a.m., just three hours after I’d fallen asleep following my post-nightshift shower, by the sound of my M.O.D. phone that sat on my bedside table.  I wanted to pretend that I didn’t hear it, but that wasn’t an option.  As I reached for the phone, I felt the soreness in my muscles.  My back was tight, my arms and neck were stiff, and my legs ached.
My eyes felt like they were glued shut.  After fumbling around in the darkness of my blackout blind darkened cave for several seconds, I finally found the phone.  Never opening my eyes, I punched the talk button.  “This is Robert, go ahead,” I said in my best ‘wide-awake’ voice, which this morning, I had to admit, didn’t sound very wide awake.  
“Good morning, Robert.  This is Mike from the finance department.”
Mike Andrews was a recent addition to the hotel, having transferred from a much smaller property in Indianapolis to replace our former director of finance who had retired.  I think Mike was having a tough time adjusting to the size and scope of the financial picture at the Lanigan.  He was doing his best to walk the walk and talk the talk while managing to fumble his way through the first few introductory months at a property five times the size of his last hotel. Still, it was hard for him to disguise that he was in a little over his head, especially to someone who’d been around the block as many times as I had.
“Yes…what can I do for you this morning, Mike?”
“Well, I was hoping you’d be in your office, but I don’t see you down here.”
I didn’t like it when people questioned my hours.  They assumed that if you weren’t at your desk from 9 to 5, then you were slacking.  But I ignored the implication.
“Worked third shift last night, Mike.  What can I help you with?”
“We’ve got a situation with a missing cash drop from one of the front desk agents in today’s bank deposit.  I’ve spoken with Jason, and he’s talked with the front desk agent who made the drop, but we’re coming up with nothing.  We were hoping that you could assist with our investigation.”
I took a deep breath, still trying to wake up.  I really didn’t want to help since I was running on fumes after last night, but it was my job. “No problem.  Just give me ten minutes and I’ll be down,” I replied evenly.
I quickly washed my face, brushed my teeth, gave my hair a good brushing, threw on a fresh suit, hit myself with a couple squirts of cologne, and I was on my way down to the front office.
I found Jason, Mike, and Melissa, the front desk agent who had made the bank drop at the end of her shift yesterday.  Melissa was a 25-year-old part-timer who was studying art history at an area college.  All were chatting in my office, apparently just killing time until my arrival.
“What’s the good word?” Jason beamed merrily upon my entrance as though nothing in the world could spoil his day.
“You tell me,” I answered as good-naturedly as I could, all things considered.
“Missing a bank drop,” he said.
“The entire drop or was there just a variance?” I clarified. 
“The entire drop is missing,” said Mike.  “There was an amount posted to the system, and Melissa’s drop on the safe deposit sheet matches that amount, but there was no corresponding drop envelope this morning when the safe was opened to make the count verification.”
There was a stack of paperwork on my desk that I guessed was the documentation related to the incident. I picked it up and quickly leafed through it.  There was the “Safe Deposit” sheet from yesterday with Melissa’s drop in the amount of $300, signed as dropped by her at 2:47 p.m., and verified by a co-worker, Jared Erikson, as per internal control standards.  The same line on the deposit sheet that was dropped inside the safe at the end of the second shift each day was unmarked with initials by the finance department supervisor and accompanying front desk supervisor who opened the safe together in the morning, showing that the deposit was not received.
“There was no envelope inside the safe at all or the envelope was empty?” I asked anyone who wanted to answer.
“No envelope at all,” Mike answered.
“And you’re sure you made the drop yesterday?” I asked Melissa.
Melissa was an employee of nearly two years, and we’d never had an issue with her honesty or integrity.  In fact, I couldn’t even recall a time when her front desk drawer had been off by more than a dollar or two.
“Yes,” she emphasized.  “And Jared saw me make the drop and signed off for it.  I remember it all because the cash was from a single guest who paid for his room with three, crisp, one-hundred dollar bills, so it stuck out in my mind.”  
 “That was it?  Just the hundred dollar bills?  No checks or anything?”
“That was all,” Melissa said.
“Well that’s a plus.  I really wouldn’t want to have to contact any guests or groups over missing checks or potential check fraud.  That could make this situation a whole lot worse, not that it’s not bad enough already.  From what I see, we’ve got a thief in our midst.”
“But what could have happened to it?” Mike frowned.  “If Melissa made the drop, and it was verified, how could the envelope disappear?”
“You checked the safe and made sure it didn’t get stuck somewhere inside?”
“With a fine tooth comb,” Mike said.  “Nothing.”
“Hmm,” I pondered.  “You reviewed the video footage?”
A security camera was positioned facing the drop safe for just such incidents.
The group staring back at me all nodded in unison.  
“It shows Melissa and Jared there at the safe.  We can see her put the envelope in the drop safe, rotate the drop cylinder handle, and Jared sign off on the drop sheet that the deposit was made,” Mike explained.
I stood thinking for a few more seconds.  
The safe itself stood around three and a half feet high and was about 18-inches wide on all sides.  The top of the safe had a sunken steel cylinder about 6-inches in diameter with a curved bottom into which deposit envelopes could be drop.  A handle on the safe’s side was turned to rotate the cylinder and the drop deposit envelopes into the safe.
“Well, let’s go watch the video again,” I said, wanting to see first hand what had transpired.
Therefore, we all took a little field trip over to the security office.  Our director of security, Steve Sukol was already aware of what had happened and I’m sure he was hoping we’d recover the missing money so he wouldn’t be bothered with having to make a report.  He looked relieved to see that I was involved.
“Back to watch more front office home movies?” he asked, guessing our intentions.
“You know it,” I nodded.
He assisted us in pulling up the footage from the particular front office camera, found the portion with the time of Melissa’s drop, and hit the play button.  We all stood silently, watching the events transpire just as Melissa had said.
“See!” she insisted as we watched her place the envelope securely in the safe’s drop cylinder.  “I even pushed it down inside so it wouldn’t get jammed when I made the drop.”  
In the video, we could tell that Jared was talking to her as she reached over and cranked the handle to rotate the cylinder.
“What was Jared talking to you about?” I asked.
“Oh, I don’t know,” Melissa frowned and shook her head.  “Some nonsense about a party this weekend that he wants me to go to.”
The body language between the two informed me of Melissa’s likely answer to Jared’s offer, but I asked anyway, “So what’d you tell him?”
Melissa shrugged as if it were unimportant, “I said okay.”
We kept watching as Jason signed off on the drop sheet while Melissa finished cranking the safe handle.  Then they both left and the video reverted back to uneventful footage of the solitary safe.
“You’re sure that the envelope dropped?” I asked, since from the camera’s angle, we couldn’t see down inside the actual drop cylinder.
Melissa shrugged, looking somewhat uncomfortable, “I mean, how could it not?  I cranked the handle all the way around so that the open part of the cylinder came back around to the top.”
I nodded.  “What time was the next drop?” I asked.  
Mike referred to the drop sheet.  “3:56 p.m.”
“By whom?” I asked.
Mike again looked to his paperwork, “Mmm, looks like it was Sheldon Epperson.”
“Let’s watch that drop,” I told Steve.
He fast forwarded the proper amount of time.
“I don’t know this guy,” I said to Jason.  “Is he new?”
“Been here about a month.  He’ll be lucky if he makes it another month.  Constantly late, poor guest service skills, and I catch him back on the video games all the time now.”
We watched as Sheldon made his drop.
“Look at the way his body is positioned?” I noted.
“Yeah,” said Jason.  “So?”
This time, Steve stepped in.  “When we mounted that safe camera, we positioned it at an angle so that you could still see the cylinder while the drop was being made.  We didn’t want someone blocking the view of the drop. But look at the way he’s standing.”
We all observed that Sheldon had positioned himself toward one side of the drop safe so that his body completely obscured the drop cylinder.  Then he leaned over awkwardly to turn the handle and make his drop.
“I think that’s you’re culprit,” I said.
“But how?” Mike questioned.  “If Melissa made her drop like she said she did, how could he have managed to get a hold of it?”
“I think I know,” I said.  “Come on.”
I led our little group back to the front desk’s drop safe.  Once there, I pulled a deposit envelope from a nearby stack beside the safe, took out three, reasonably crisp bills from my wallet, and inserted them into the envelope.  Then I sealed the envelope, dropped it into the safe cylinder, and cranked the handle until the cylinder had completed one full revolution.  Everyone watched as I did this.
The cylinder came up empty, the envelope having dropped into the safe as it should.  
“I just don’t understand,” Melissa said in exasperation.  “It’s just like I said.  So how could Sheldon…or anyone else for that matter, have taken it?”
“But it’s not just like you said, Melissa,” I eyed her.  
She looked at me nervously.
“Mike, Jason, you want to open the safe?”   
The safe had a two lock entry system.  The front desk and finance department each kept a secured key to the safe in separate locations which made it a dual employee, dual department process to open it.
I waited as they opened the safe and fished my dropped envelope from within, handing it back to me.  “Now watch,” I placed the envelope back inside the drop cylinder.  “You said you didn’t just place the envelope inside, Melissa, you pressed it down to make sure that it wouldn’t get jammed when you rotated it.”
She nodded that this was correct.  I put my envelope back into the drop cylinder and then used my fingertips to press it downward.  The envelope flexed under the pressure and then curved downward so that it formed itself to the shape of the cylinder.  I then rotated the handle.  Moments later, the cylinder – having made its full revolution – revealed the envelope still in place, it having adhered itself to the rounded bottom of the safe’s drop cylinder.
“Watching that video, Melissa, I could see that you never really checked to see if the envelope had dropped, and I can’t really say I blame you.  99.9 percent of the time, there’d be no reason to check.  The envelope’s weight would have pulled it down into the safe.  However, the combination of the light weight of just the three bills inside, and the fact that you pressed the envelope down so that if form-fitted itself to the cylinder, kept it from dropping.” 
I held up my sample envelope.  The front was outlined with printed spaces in which to write the various denominations of bills and checks inside.  “My guess is that when Sheldon arrived to make his drop, he saw your envelope still sitting inside the drop cylinder.  It would only have taken him seconds to read your drop amount and seen that it consisted solely of cash.  Realizing that no one was watching, and that there was a quick and untraceable three hundred dollars in cash just within reach, he moved so that the camera view was blocked, grabbed it, and shoved it in his suit jacket pocket.  Had it been checks inside, he might not have chanced it, but cash…well, that’s unfortunately a different story.”
“But how do we prove it?” asked Mike.  “We can’t see him take it, so we can’t actually prove that it was him.
“Oh, it was him alright,” Jason grimaced.  “I can totally see him doing something like that…shady little character.”
“Yeah, but we can’t fire him based solely upon that,” Mike frowned.
“Like Jason said, he’ll probably be gone soon anyway,” I offered.  “What I would do is sit him down and confront him about this.  I’d tell him that if he resigns and we get the money back, we won’t involve the police; otherwise, the cops are getting called and he’s our prime suspect.  See what he does.  If he didn’t do it, he’ll say go ahead and call the police; but if he did do it, he might think twice.  It’s a bluff we may not win, but even if he doesn’t own up to it, he’ll know that we’re watching him, and it’s only a matter of time before he’s out of here on attendance or some other infraction.  Where’s this kid on performance documentation so far,” I asked Jason.
“He’s already up to a written record of a verbal warning for being late and not following proper guest check-in procedure.”
“And he’s only been here a month,” I added.  “That means he’s still on his introductory probation period.  Technically, we could cut him loose for those infractions alone.  But I’d go ahead and confront him first and see if we can get the cash back.  He’ll probably deny it and say ‘I’ll pay the $300 just to quit this stinking job’ or something like that.  And that’s just fine.  It’ll kill two birds with one stone.  We’ll get the money and be rid of a bad apple.”
“Good thinking,” Mike nodded.
“He’s scheduled for this afternoon,” Jason added.  “We can take him over to Steve and let him sweat it out with the big man.”
“Anything else?” I asked, ready to get back to bed.
“No,” Mike smiled.  “Thanks a lot for your help, I really appreciate it.”
I could tell that he was relieved to have the issue figured out.  “No problem,” I said, yawning.  “Oh, and by the way.  I’d get with property operations and see if they can rig up a base-filler for that drop safe cylinder to eliminate the chance for any such future events.  And now, if you’ll excuse me, I’m heading back upstairs to try my hand at a bit more sleep.”
As I left, Melissa hurried after me, catching me by the hand.  She was a fetching young lady with curly dark hair and full pouting lips.  “Thank you so much, Robert.  I really appreciate your help back there.  It’s so amazing how you figured that out,” she gushed.  
Suddenly I had the feeling that Melissa had momentarily put thoughts of Jared and his party on the back burner.  I couldn’t help but note the ‘appreciation’ she was feeling for my assistance in clearing her name through her body language as she moved closer to me.
“My pleasure, Melissa,” I nodded and smiled innocently. 
She glanced at her watch.  “It’s almost noon.  Would you care to grab a bite to eat with me down in the cafeteria?”
“Uh, no thank you.  I had a really late night and I’d like to get a few more hours of sleep before I have to work again.”
“Maybe next time,” she gave me a sweet smile and a lingering look as she turned to leave.
I don’t know what it was about hotel romances.  I wondered if it was all the beds being in such close proximity to employees that seemed to have their minds constantly turning to thoughts of romance and relationships.  It seemed like all the hotels where I had worked had been boiling pots of love and lust. 
The thought brought me back to a lingering question, and I figured I’d give it another shot.
“Melissa?” I called after her.
“Yes?” she paused and turned expectantly.
“You didn’t happen to leave something in my mailbox on Christmas morning, did you?  A little gift box?”
“Huh uh,” she frowned, shaking her head.
“Okay…thanks anyway,” I nodded as she continued on her way.
I walked back to my office and sat down at my desk.  I opened my top drawer and pulled out the tiny box with the jaggedly broken half-heart locket inside.  I fingered the jewelry a moment, then closed the box and put it away.
I was still beat from last night, but there was one thing I wanted to check before I tried to get back to sleep.  Turning on my computer, I pulled up the front desk screen and opened the ‘Reports’ page.  There, I scrolled through the list of dozens of available reports from which I could choose.  Finally, toward the bottom of the list, I found the one I was looking for.  Clicking on the “Room History Report” I sorted my search criteria by “Guest Name” and entered “Statler” in the “Last Name” field and “Derrick” in the “First Name” field; then I entered the past 90 days as my search timeframe, clicked the “Search” button, and waited while the computer scanned for results.  
Running the history of a room or particular guest was an often useless endeavor.  It was a seldom used report that typically generated little more than the dates of stay, times of check-in and checkout, form of payment, and notes entered by the agent making the reservation.  Due to its obscurity, Detective Marino hadn’t asked to have a copy of it run for Mr. Statler, and I wondered it he was even aware of its existence.  About the only time I ever had cause to run the report was when trying to delve into an issue such as when we billed a “no show” reservation and a guest disputed whether they had actually stayed at the hotel or even intended to book the reservation in the first place.  With internet travel sites often being used by prospective guests to check rates and dates, sometimes rooms were booked inadvertently or unwittingly without the person ever knowing they’d actually committed themselves to paying for a room.  Being able to see where the reservation had come from and how it had been created often helped us clear up whether the billed party should actually have been charged or not. 
It turned out that according to Mr. Statler’s room history; he had stayed at the Lanigan a total of nine times over the past 90 days.  It seemed like a lot, but considering his type of work and the length of his commute from northern Indiana to downtown Chicago, it didn’t seem unreasonable.  There were two reservations in October, three in November, and four in December.  I assumed that the increase in reservation frequency likely corresponded to the deteriorating Chicago weather as winter made its presence known.
As I scanned the room history report for each reservation, I noticed something interesting.  At the bottom of each page, in the “Notes/Details” section was written, “Guest requests 15th floor room in the 200 block.”
I sat back, trying to think of why Mr. Statler would make such a request.  I closed my eyes, attempting to envision the layout of the hotel surrounding this particular portion of the 15th floor.
I quickly found myself nodding off as I attempted the exercise.  Rather than continue in my failed efforts, I decided it would be best – both for better noting the details of this part of the hotel, as well as to help keep me awake – to go upstairs and investigate the area in person.  Before I left, I printed out copies of the room history report pages and then checked the status of 15-201.  It was listed as “VR” for “Vacant/Ready”.  I quickly flipped it to “OOO” for “Out of Order” status so that it wouldn’t be sold to a guest before I got upstairs.  The room that Mr. Statler had been staying in on the date of his demise, 15-202, was still locked up tight by CPD, but I wanted to get an idea of the view from a comparable room so that I could better understand what Mr. Statler might have seen and why he was requesting a room in this section of the hotel.
 
 
* * *
 
 
The Lanigan’s floors from the 7th, where the fitness center, pool, and spa facilities were located, all the way up to the 24th, above which sat the housekeeping department, were laid out pretty much the same.  
The hotel had been completed just before Great Chicago Fire of 1871 and rebuilt right after.  The hotel as it was laid out now had largely been constructed around and overtop of the first structure during an expansion in 1925.  With the exception of a renovation of the hotel rooms themselves in the 1940s that knocked out walls between almost 3000 rooms, taking the hotel down to its current total of 1883 much larger rooms, and multiple updates to modernize the hotel since then, the structure as it sat now was the same structure constructed in 1925.
The best way to describe the Lanigan was to envision a sky-view down upon a building formed into a gigantic E-shaped configuration.  From the 7th floor down, the spaces between the arms of the outstretched “E” were filled with the hotel’s meeting and convention space, fitness center, pool, spa, restaurants, lobby, ballrooms, etc.  But from the 8th floor on up to the top of the building, there was open air between these branched extensions.  And each of these branches contained several separate corridors worth of rooms.
The lengthy back side of the “E” contained the “200” numbered rooms such as Mr. Statler’s room, 15-202, and the room that I was currently on my way to, 15-201.  These rooms faced across the street to a wall of towering skyscrapers.  The three shorter extensions of the “E” faced out toward the rear of the building, running parallel to one another with open-air spaces between them.  The views from the “100” rooms located along the outer facing portions of these sections were of other buildings, while the interior facing rooms looked out across the gap of about 50 yards that stretched between each extension. 
As I exited the service elevators and walked down the hallway to where 15-201 and 202 were located, I slowed my pace to more carefully note my surroundings.  15-201 was located down the hall from the service and main guest elevator banks, close to a secondary bank of guest elevators.  These particular elevators exited into a smaller foyer on the street level near the entrance on this side of the building and therefore offered a bit more privacy, something a guest trying to stay out of the public eye might enjoy.  There was also an entrance to a stairwell about five doors down from Statler’s room.  I noted that the linen closet, located near the center portion of the E’s three branches, wasn’t in close proximity to the room.  This meant that Mr. Statler’s killer would likely have had to conceal the body to haul it the good 100 or 200 feet spanning the distance between 15-202 and the linen closet’s entrance.
Reaching 15-201, I slid my manager’s master key into the lock and waited for the flashing green light to appear, indicating the key-read was successful before I entered the room.
Inside, I began a slow inspection of the room.  It was exactly the same layout as its neighbors, 15-200 and 15-202.  I entered a small foyer to which the bathroom was attached.  The adjoining, and only other room in the space, was the bedroom with a king-sized bed.  
I walked over to the curtains drawn across the majority of the bedroom windows and pulled them open.  It was snowing lightly outside, the sky a steely gray.  Across the street loomed several skyscrapers constructed well after the Lanigan’s last rebuild.  Their height and girth rudely blocked the scenic views our property once presented of Lake Michigan’s ocean-like expanse and its oft-choppy waters.  Now the majority of the rooms on this side of the hotel simply peered into a wall of glass and steel.  I stood staring, trying to think of why Mr. Statler might be interested in this particular side of the hotel.  
“Think, Haze,” I said to myself.  “Think, think, think.  Mr. Statler worked in consulting.  He often did work for downtown firms.  Could one of those firms be located in a building across the street?” I pondered aloud.  “And if so, what was he looking for?”  I stood staring at the buildings a hundred yards away. “What could he possibly see from here that would provide him with information related to his role? Was he watching for something…someone?  Was he timing something…watching for what hours someone worked…or didn’t work?”
I pulled a notepad from my coat pocket and jotted a note to ask Detective Marino the next time I saw him: “Binoculars in Statler’s belongings?”
If Statler had brought binoculars, a telescope or other viewing equipment with him to the hotel, maybe he was watching a computer screen, possibly gathering insider information – data related to a company or their finances.  With technology these days, I’m sure that it was possible, and in his role as a consultant, maybe Statler had stumbled across something in his work that had led to a potential money maker.  But not everything had to point to Statler being the wrongdoer.  Maybe he had uncovered illegal activities taking place in one of his client’s companies and he was working to gather proof of their underhanded dealings.  Maybe that was what got him killed.
If Statler had such viewing equipment among his belongings, it would go a long way to confirm such theories.  Otherwise, maybe he was just an oddball who liked this part of the hotel for some reason.  It wouldn’t be the first time we’d had guests request certain rooms or areas within the hotel for no other reason than they were a tad superstitious, a little obsessive compulsive, found a particular number or series of numbers lucky, or they just liked a particular view of the city. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 9
 
 
Before I headed back to my own room to hit the hay, I contacted the front desk to have room 15-201 put back into service.  Then I called Detective Marino to set up a breakfast meeting at the Boardwalk Café for tomorrow morning.
After I got off the phone with the detective, I warmed some leftovers from my dinner the other night and ate a quick lunch.  By the time I shed my suit and crawled into bed, it was close to two in the afternoon.  
The bed sheets felt heavenly, and I was quickly back asleep.
Amazingly, I slept soundly and uninterrupted by calls until after 9 p.m., but I awoke still feeling tired.  The extended sleep had been so long and felt so good that it left me wanting more.  I closed my eyes again, just wanting five more minutes; plus, I wanted to finish my dream.  
I’d been dreaming about a college love interest, a relationship I’d pursued, but one where the stars had never aligned.  She’d been a senior, preparing to graduate and venture into the working world.  I was but a naïve sophomore, largely uneducated in the ways of women.  
In my dream, the lovely young woman and I had dinner before seeing a show, and just before I’d awoken, I had escorted her back to her college dorm room.  Unlike the real life event my dream was shadowing, in my dream, I was preparing to kiss her goodnight, an opportunity I’d missed during the actual date and had regretted ever since.
Now I wanted my dream shot at closing the evening out right.
But just as in real life, my dream wasn’t molded to perfection.  Rather than sealing the deal, I re-entered a dream segment that instead landed me in the 15th floor linen closet.  I felt myself being crammed into the linen chute by an unknown entity, and then tumble down, down, down into darkness where I eventually plopped face first into hot, soft, wet towels and sheets.  I tried to push myself up and out of the mess, but I didn’t have the strength or the room to maneuver my way out of my predicament.  I felt more linens being dropped down upon me, the pressure building upon my legs, feet, head, and face, and the little bit of spare space around me was being filled with more cloth.  My movements became ever-more constricted, and I was overcome with a feeling of terrified claustrophobia as my movements succumbed to the pressure and my face was pushed forcefully down into the suffocating sheets surrounding me.  
I woke with a start, sweat-covered and gasping for breath, the tucked sheets of my bed having bunched themselves tightly up around my shoulders.  My head was nearly covered by my pillow.
I found myself with a renewed appreciation for and understanding of the horrific way in which the unfortunate Mr. Statler had met his demise.  The feeling of having experienced his death – even if only in my dream – left me sad, angry, and more determined than ever to try to be of assistance in any way possible to help Detective Marino uncover the person responsible for such a traumatic fatality.
I sat up in bed, taking several deep breaths and immediately shedding myself of my constrictive bedding.  I felt myself lucky to be able to do so, unlike poor Mr. Statler.  I did my best to shove aside the claustrophobic feeling that still enshrouded me. 
I shivered in the blackness.  Sleep was no longer an option.  I looked at the alarm clock beside my bed.  It read 9:56 p.m.
I got up and walked over to the bedroom windows.  Pushing the blinds aside, I looked outside.  The thoroughfares below were aglow in the haze of yellow streetlights.  Snowflakes fell gently.  Even from my lofty perch, I could see the mounds of snow the city plows had pushed up along the street edges.  At one corner, a front end loader was filling a dump truck with loads of snow, presumably to be hauled off and dumped into Lake Michigan in an effort to keep the sidewalks and streets from becoming veritable canyons of snow.  With further accumulation apparently inevitable, it appeared to be a race against time.  A powdery fluff of white had built itself into a newly formed inch-high lining along the base of my window sill where it sat waiting for a strong gust of wind to dislodge it.  Unlike the past few days, it appeared relatively calm outside, a slight wisp of wind occasionally blowing the falling snow slightly askew. 
I stretched and walked to the bathroom for a quick shower in an effort to wake myself up more than anything else.  Then I donned some long underwear, my newly presented snowsuit along with my boots, grabbed my gloves, hat, and scarf, and hustled upstairs to housekeeping to link up with the night crew.  I’d been cooped up in the hotel too much lately, possibly part of the reason for my claustrophobic dream, and I wanted to get some fresh air.  I’d enjoyed the physical labor the other night.  For someone who spends so much of his time indoors handling guest service issues, it was nice to undertake more physically taxing yet less mentally stressful work once in a while.  The other night’s work, and the resulting muscle stiffness, had proven to me just how therapeutic (and apparently much needed) such efforts could be for someone who did just a little too much chair warming during Chicago’s long winter months. With occupancy still low, and there not being many events going on in the hotel, I decided another reprieve from my usual routine was in order.
I found the night shift just getting underway up on the 25th floor, John Rodgers having already handed out the nightly assignment sheets.
“You back again?” he looked surprised.
“Couldn’t resist,” I grinned. “This kind of work is good for me sometimes, and I learned a lot working with your crew last night.”
“Well, I’ve got a full staff tonight, but I’m sure the guys wouldn’t mind some extra help with the snow we’ve got tonight.  I think they’re starting to get fed up with being stuck outside in the cold for hours on end.”
“Sure thing,” I nodded agreeably, ready to help where needed.
I saw Ozell headed toward me from the equipment room.  He was pulling a snow blower behind him.
“Ozell,” John called, “Robert is with you guys again tonight.”
“Su, su, su, sure thing, boss,” he said.  “You na, na, know how ta, ta use one dez?” he stopped beside me with the snow blower.
“Been a while, but I don’t recall it being too difficult.”
“Den, da, da, dar ya go, boss!” he shouted angrily but with a smile that told me everything was a-okay.
The snow ended at just after 11 p.m. and we worked clearing the hotel’s sidewalks until just before 1 a.m. when we then went inside for lunch.
The cafeteria was lively with a mixture of banquet, catering, front desk, facilities, property operation, and housekeeping staff.   
Of course ‘ol Habeebee was there too and up to his old tricks.  As usual, I found my best attempts to deter his gratuitous serving sizes thoroughly trounced.  Carrying the monstrous tray of food, piled high with several inch-thick slabs of meatloaf and a second plate mounded with at least two pounds of buttery mashed potatoes, my stomach began to rumble, not with hunger pangs but with revulsion.  But this time would be different I told myself.  I was not to be dissuaded.  I would show this so-and-so that the mashed potatoes massed higher than the snow banks outside, and his hunks of ketchup-glazed meatloaf were no match. I steeled myself, determined to make a good showing and bolstered by a healthy appetite from my work outside.  Looking at my tray, I felt like I was on one of those eating challenge shows.
I sat down at a big table with my fellow snow movers.  They were all chomping heartily at the piles of provisions that Habeebee had laden them with.
Ozell Palmer, Ronnie Bucket, Maurice Jackson, Terrance Phillips, and I were joined tonight by Willard Scott (no, not the weatherman, but yes, that really was his name).  Willard had been with the hotel nearly ten years and was typically assigned to cleaning and doing routine maintenance on the housekeeping department’s fleet of vacuum cleaners when he wasn’t assisting with snow removal.  He was a rather portly man, having gained much of his girth from hours sitting and disassembling vacuuming cleaners.  
Our party of six was demolishing our food.  There was little talk over the noise of our eating until Ozell paused for a moment to ask me, “So wha, wha, what about dis murdered guy?  Umbody dun ta, ta, tabbed him up good…tuck ‘im in da, da, da linen chute?”
It wasn’t a question I’d been expecting from Ozell, and it was a topic I really didn’t want to get into after my dream earlier in the evening.  I finished chewing, “Yes, that’s pretty much it,” I nodded, hoping that my answer would lay the question to rest.
“They know who did it?” Willard asked.
“Not that I’m aware of,” I shook my head and loaded myself with a heaping mouthful of mashed potato-lathered meatloaf in an effort to waylay more questions.  
It didn’t work.
“How many times they stab him?” Terrance glanced up from his food.
“I don’t know exactly,” I shook my head.  “Quite a few from what I recall.”
“They find the murder weapon?” he continued his probing.
“Yes.  It came down the chute with the body.”
“Dey, dey, dey know where it’d come from?” Ozell jumped back in.
“Not that I’ve heard.”
“Well, do dey know whe, whe, whe, where he killed?” Ozell nearly shouted.
We received several curious stares from nearby diners.  I could see some of them start to lean over in their chairs as they attempted to listen in on our conversation.  
“He was staying up on the fifteenth floor,” I said, a bit more softly, not wanting to be inundated with more questions about the murder from the casual eavesdroppers.
“So what!” Ozell exclaimed.  “Do, do, do, don’t mean da, da, da, dat’s where he done ga, ga, ga, got hisself killed,” he stuttered excitedly.
I nodded, thinking.  “I guess that’s true,” I said softly and half to myself.  I felt so stupid for not thinking of it earlier.  Just because Mr. Statler was staying on the 15th floor didn’t necessarily mean that this was the floor where he was killed.
“Did the police measure where he came out of the chute?” Terrance asked.  “Maybe they could tell where he was killed that way.”
“Would have been impossible because we’d already busted the chute…but they don’t need to,” I added after a second, “because I might know where he was.”  
I looked down at my plates of food.  I’d made it through two slabs of meatloaf and half the mashed potatoes.  My stomach was packed solid and bulging outward.  I felt somewhat nauseous, but overall I was pretty pleased with my efforts not just in the food eating realm, but I hoped with the murder solving aspect as well.
“It’s been a pleasure, gentlemen,” I said standing.
“You lee, lee, leavin’ us already!” Ozell barked.
“I have a meeting in the morning,” I explained.
“It’s be, be, been a pleasure,” Ozell outstretched a hand.
“Same here,” I said, shaking it and then accepting similar gestures from the others sitting at the table.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 10
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 1/3 MOD Report
 
 
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Tuesday, January 3rd

 
Weather: 18/8 Clear                                                                        
Occupancy: 55%
Arrivals: 73                                                                                                              
Departures: 48   
 
Event Resume:
	Grand Ballroom (9 a.m. – 3:30 p.m.) – DST Truckers Association annual convention

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Triton Club (Open 4 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Blue Velvet Room (6 p.m. – 9 p.m.) – DST Truckers Association convention dinner

 
 
* * *
 
 
The meatloaf and mashed potatoes managed to put me into a deep enough food coma that I managed a few more hours sleep once I returned to my room.
By six though, I was wide awake and the idea of more sleep wasn’t even an option.  Therefore, I showered, shaving slowly – since I didn’t want to rush right down to a dull front office on a low occupancy day – dressed, and took a slow walk around the hotel’s public spaces starting on the 6th floor and working all the way down to the lobby.
Things looked good.  John Rodgers and his night crew kept the place looking immaculate.  I could tell that some light shampoo work had been done on the carpet outside the 4th floor ballrooms by the arcing patterns the cleaning machine had made in the carpet’s fibers.  Some dirt spots and stains had probably been left by the previous day’s meeting activity – coffee spills, some crumbs from muffins and pastries being ground in, maybe a gum spot or two.
Then I headed downstairs to my office where I killed a little time playing on Jason’s video games, checked my mailbox, read some emails, listened to a couple voicemail messages about nothing important, and chatted with Kristen who had been covering the third shift last night.
“This bouncing back and forth stuff is getting old,” she complained, plopping down in my office’s sofa chair, kicking off her shoes, and wriggling her bare toes.  “They say that working third shift decreases your lifespan by three to five years and significantly increases your risk of heart disease.”
“Oh yeah?” I said.  “Who says that?” I said, swiveling in my office chair to look at the spry young woman so vibrant and full of life.
“Heard it somewhere,” Kristen shrugged. 
Jason had recently assigned Kristen to a shift that I’d personally despised coming up through the ranks – we termed it the “bounce” shift.  It entailed three nights on the second shift, a day off, and then two nights on the third shift, and then another day off.  It helped cover the off days of the regular third shift manager.
It was considered by most of the younger managers to be a “life killer” since it pretty much ruined any hope of doing anything with your evenings or days off since your circadian rhythms were so out of whack, all you really wanted to do was sleep in your spare time.  
“Sucks to be good at your job,” I said, doing my best to help her understand that this wasn’t punishment so much as experience for the next step in her burgeoning hotel management career.  
“They have an interesting way of showing their appreciation around here,” she grimaced.
“Ah, pretty soon you’ll be bucking for my job, and I’ll find myself out on my rump,” I scoffed.
“I’ll never know the things you know,” she sighed.
“You’d be amazed what comes with age,” I said, turning back to my computer and clicking a tiny trash can icon on the screen to send six selected emails to their electronic demise.
“How old are you?” Kristen pushed.  “You always keep it a secret from me.”
“And I’ll take that secret with me to my grave,” I gave her an evil grin.  “Plus, if I told you, I’d lose all hope of you ever yielding to my advances,” I joked in the voice of an octogenarian.
“Oh, you could have defiled me long ago if you’d really wanted to, you dirty old man,” Kristen returned my mischievousness.
“Thanks…I think,” not exactly sure whether to take her interesting juxtaposition of phrasing as compliment, insult or some combination thereof. 
Jason peeked his head inside my office.  “Morning all!” his smiled cheerily.
“Morning,” we replied tiredly and in unison.
“Alright, my relief has arrived.  I’m outta here,” Kristen said, as she extracted herself from my cushiony chair and slipping her shoes back on.  
“You still got ten minutes left on your shift,” Jason said, looking at his watch.  
“It’s not how much you work but how well you work when you’re here,” Kristen replied matter-of-factly.
“Now that is a future front office manager talking,” I grinned at Jason.
“I already sent the M.O.D. report.  No major issues,” Kristen continued.
“Good,” Jason nodded.  “Thanks.”
“No prob.  See you tonight,” she laid a hand lightly upon my shoulder as she passed.
“Sounds good,” I called after her.
My meeting with Detective Marino was scheduled for eight o’clock at the Boardwalk Café, so I headed over a little early to get us a table and order coffees.
The detective arrived at two minutes to eight.
“Right on time…as usual,” I stood and greeted him with a handshake.
“Do my best,” the detective said.  He didn’t look like his usual clean-cut self.  He appeared tired; his sunken cheeks a hair more concave than usual.  Maybe it was just the multi-day layer of stubble that made them appear this way, I wasn’t sure.  He was carrying a dark leather attaché case with shoulder strap that he let slide to the floor beside the table as he sat.
“I already ordered us coffee,” I explained as we each took a seat.  “I figured we could just pick from the buffet unless you’re in the mood for something off the menu.”
“Sounds good to me,” the detective said, as though he couldn’t have cared less.
“Trouble with the case?” I asked.
“Cas-es,” he clarified.
“Oh,” I said, doing my best to sympathize with the pressure he was apparently under.
“Seems like everything is moving in slow motion.  The holidays have really set me back.  Forensics, fingerprints, lab results, the companies we outsource some of our work to…they’re all behind due to holiday staffing levels.  Doesn’t keep the heat off me though.  The captain only cares about one thing…progress.  And lately, that’s the one thing I haven’t been making.  A murder case starts molding fast when left out to sit.”  He took a long drink of coffee.  “Hope you got something good for me, Haze,” he studied me intently with his piercing brown eyes.
I hesitated, less sure of myself now that I understood the frustration the detective was feeling and the pressure he was under.  I didn’t want to be a burden on him.  The assurance I had been feeling in my ability to be of assistance had suddenly drained at the realization of the detective’s dissatisfaction with his progress in the case.  
“I’ve had a few thoughts,” I told him.
“I’ll take anything at this point, Haze” the detective pounced readily at my offering, his eagerness helping to reinvigorate my confidence in the theories I had.
“First, I think you’ll find these interesting,” I handed over the copies of the room history reports that I’d run on Mr. Statler.  I’d highlighted the comments in the “notes” section.
The detective scanned the sheets, flipping through them.  “Two hundred side of the fifteenth floor.  Hmm,” he pondered.
“I was thinking about the location of Mr. Statler’s room,” I said.
“Go on,” the detective nodded, looking interested.
“From his room, you can see across the street to several office buildings.  I was thinking that in Statler’s line of employment as a consultant, he might have been doing work for a client located across the street.  Maybe he stumbled across something interesting…maybe some information he was accumulating to blackmail the client or conduct insider trading or even turn over to the authorities.”
The detective was giving me a stale looking stare as the gears in his mind spun.
“I was wondering, did you find viewing equipment…telescopes, high-powered cameras, binoculars, anything like that when you inventoried his room?” I pressed.
The detective let out a notable sigh, “No…nothing like that.  Still, it’s an idea.  Maybe he was simply watching the movements of particular employees, gauging their work hours from the lights of their office or the glare of computer screens…something that would have been noticeable with the naked eye from his room.  But why the fifteenth floor?  I could see requesting the two hundred side, but what would be visible from the fifteenth floor that couldn’t be seen from the fourteenth or sixteenth or twentieth?”
I shrugged, “Maybe nothing, or maybe he just found that it gave him the best line of sight from that particular angle.”
“These reports go back three months,” the detective noted.  “A long time to be on a stake out.  And most of Statler’s room charges were going to his employer.  They probably would have raised some concerns if he was spending this kind of dough for some sort of personal gain or to reign in the bad guys.”
“I don’t know,” I took a deep breath, feeling somewhat dejected that the detective had poked some notable holes in my theory.
“Like I said, I’ll look into it.  I’ll see if any of the tenants in the building across the street match up with clients that Statler’s firm was working with.  That ought to help clear things up pretty quick.”
“Let’s grab something to eat before I give you my other thought,” I said.  
We took a couple minutes to load up plates of goodies.  I returned with some fresh fruit and a lightly buttered croissant to help counteract some of the unhealthy effects of last night’s binge.  The detective had loaded up on bacon, scrambled eggs, and of course, a couple chocolate cake donuts.
“Okay, so let’s hear the rest of it, Haze,” he bit into a piece of bacon.
I could tell he was itching to hear more, probably praying I had something better for him than what I’d already divulged.
“Okay, so most of the evidence you’ve collected has come from the fifteenth floor, correct?”
The detective nodded his silent confirmation of this fact.
“But what if the murder didn’t occur on the fifteenth floor?” I eyed him.
“We’ll that’d kind of put a kink in the works,” he said.  “Where do you think Mr. Statler was killed if not on the fifteenth floor?”
“We’ll, I’m not totally positive.  I mean really, he could have been killed just about anywhere.  We just kind of assumed that he was dumped in the fifteenth floor linen closet chute because he was staying on that floor, right?”
The detective nodded silently again.  I could tell his wheels were spinning.
“But remember the whole reason I was down in the linen sorting room to begin with?”
“The child’s lost blanket.”
“Right.  Well, that blanket came from a room on the thirteenth floor.  And it exited the linen chute right ahead of Mr. Statler.”
“So you think he was killed on the thirteenth floor?”
I shrugged.  “I don’t really know for sure.  It could just be a coincidence, the timing of his body being dumped in the chute correlating with the time the load of linen containing the blanket was dumped.  But if the blanket was in with a thirteenth floor linen cart, it’s a possibility that such a cart…possibly a thirteenth floor cart…was used to transport Mr. Statler.  A linen cart is open on the top and has deep enough sides to easily conceal a body.”
“Hmm…” the detective thought, and chewed, and then finished his piece of bacon.
“Interesting, Haze.  I like it…but it means I’m going to have a whole new series of interviews to conduct.”
“Yeah,” I nodded.  “Well, I tried to make your job a little easier.  Here,” I said, handing him another stack of paperwork.
“What’s this?” he asked.
“A list of assignments for the people working the thirteenth floor the day of the murder…housepersons, room attendants, security guard, floor manager…it’s all there.  There’s also this week’s schedule and contact information for those people so that you can schedule your interviews.”
“Darn,” the detective shook his head.  “I wish we could have gotten in that closet right after the murder.  By now, any evidence that remained will either have been destroyed or compromised.”  He shook his head, frowning and seeming to sag dejectedly in his seat. “I guess I’ll have my work cut out for the day.”  Then he recovered, taking a deep breath. “Thanks for this,” he held up the handful of paperwork that I’d presented him.  “You’ve definitely made my job easier.  You’re alright, Haze,” he nodded.    
“Thanks,” I smiled.  “I’d have to agree with that assessment.  I just hope that some of what I’ve said helps.  I’d hate to think that I’m just sending you on a wild goose chase.”
“You and me both,” he said, rescanning the paperwork.  “Looks like a good number of these people are working today.  I think I’ll go ahead and get started.”
“Sounds good.  I’ll give Marian in housekeeping a call and let her know that you’re on your way up and that you’ll need to steal a few of her people for a bit.”
“Thanks,” he nodded and stood.
“I’d be happy to conduct the lock read on the thirteenth floor linen closet to help save you some time,” I offered.
The detective considered.  “Sure,” he agreed.  “I don’t see any harm in that.”
“You want to meet back for lunch and exchange data.”
“Sounds like a plan.”
“Navigator’s Club…noon?”
“I should be done by then,” he agreed.
 
 
* * *
 
 
It was a good thing that the detective and I met up again so soon because I had some interesting news to relay to him.
“You get anything good?” I asked.
“Interviews were largely a bust,” the detective shook his head.  “Nobody seems to remember much of anything about that day.”
“Well, here,” I said, sliding the printout of the key reads of the 13th floor linen closet for the past two weeks onto the table.  “This might perk you up.”  I’d highlighted a portion of the printout that read: 13 L.C. – 15:52 – Hsp 15-2.   
“Care to translate?” the detective said, looking at the jumble of numbers and letters on the paper.
I pointed, “Okay, 13 LC stands for the thirteenth floor linen closet, then the military time that translates to 3:52 p.m., and then Hsp fifteen dash two…that’s the key…figuratively and literally,” I said.  “That, my good detective, is the mysterious missing key that the houseperson, Rodrigo Torez, from the fifteenth floor reported lost that day.”
 
 
* * *
 
 
Unfortunately, we never got to enjoy our lunch at the Navigator’s Club.
As soon as we’d compared our notes and realized that things were looking increasingly bad for Rodrigo Torez, Detective Marino decided it was time to take Mr. Torez on a little field trip down to the station for further questioning.
“Is that absolutely necessary?” I asked, not wanting to protect a potential killer but at the same time finding myself with a sense of duty to protect the best interests of the hotel and its employees.
“I’m afraid so,” the detective replied.  “I’ve learned over the years that a suspect’s attitude changes dramatically when you get them out of their comfort zone and down to the station.  Things suddenly seem a lot more serious.  They start thinking about prison terms, missing their family, and fellow inmates getting a little too friendly.  More to the point, they realize that it’s no joke when they get hauled in.  While it’s still just routine questioning, it takes on a different feel, a more grim tone so to speak.”
“I guess that makes sense,” I considered the psychology behind the strategy.
“It doesn’t always work,” the detective continued.  “Sometimes a suspect just clams up or immediately requests legal counsel.  Other times, they’ve gone though it before, so it’s nothing new.  But I’ve run a background check on Mr. Torez, and other than a couple minor traffic violations and a few outstanding parking tickets, there’s nothing on him.  So if this is our guy, it might rattle him enough to shake something loose.”
“Okay,” I said.  “Well, you know where to find him upstairs.  I’m going to break the news to Tom.”
And with that, we headed off on our separate missions.
I found Tom in his office, sitting behind his desk, a spread laid out before him on his desktop.  But rather than paperwork, this spread consisted of a huge hoagie sandwich sitting on wax paper, its top bun off.  Tom appeared to be conducting some investigatory work of his own, a lineup of various bottles and jars before him.  He was inspecting them closely – mayo, ketchup, mustard, sweet pickles, jardinière, hot sauce, Worcestershire, tartar sauce, horseradish, green olives, black olives, and several different salad dressings.  With speed I’d never seen from Tom, he suddenly grabbed a bottle, dug in it with a knife, and started smearing a layer of horseradish atop the empty bun.
“Flobert!” he glanced up from the project at hand.  “Arcade floor looks great!  Good job steel-poling that project through to fruition!” he smiled jovially while he began a new layer of spread, switching from horseradish to mustard.
“Thanks,” I nodded.  “Tom, I have some bad news.”
“Oh yeah?” his eyes lifted from his smearing, but only for an instant.  
As I explained the situation regarding the possible involvement of Rodrigo Torez in the murder of Mr. Statler, I watched in horror as Tom continued to slather layer upon layer of condiment atop his hoagie bun.  The pace of his daubing and quantity of application increased as I laid on the bad news that one of our own might have killed a hotel guest.
Guest-on-guest murder was one thing, but the last thing a top-tier property like the Lanigan needed was the publicity regarding a hotel employee murdering a guest.  We didn’t want “luxury execution” listed as one of our opulent guest amenities.  While the saying goes, “There’s no such thing as bad publicity,” in this type of situation, I had to disagree.
“Not good, not good at all,” Tom worked frantically on his sandwich, picking up a bottle of 1000 Island dressing and giving it a good squeeze as he ran it back and forth over the bun-top’s length.
“There’s no reason to panic at this point, since we don’t know anything for certain.  I’m sure that Detective Marino will do his best to keep things on the down low if it turns out Torez was involved in some way.  And I’ll make sure that Ken Prouce is aware of the situation and is ready to jump on things if they start going bad.”
Ken was the hotel’s public relations manager and hotel historian.  He had a lot of contacts in the local media and could be instrumental in heading off any bad press resulting from a case like this.
“Good, good,” Tom muttered.  I could see the sweat breaking out on his forehead.  I wasn’t sure if it was from the bad news and concern over the hotel’s reputation or the effort he was putting into his sandwich preparation.  
I couldn’t help but stare as he manhandled the monstrosity he’d constructed, jabbing its giant end into his jowl-giggling face.  An eruption of condiments exploded from the saggy end of the sandwich, along with some guts of shredded lettuce and sliced tomato.
I couldn’t take any more. “I’ll keep you posted on the case,” I said as I headed for the door.
“Goo boy, goo boy,” Tom spluttered over his mouthful. 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 11
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 1/4 MOD Report
 
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Wednesday, January 4th
 
Weather: 32/16   Cloudy                                                                       
Occupancy: 51%
Arrivals: 106                                                                                                              
Departures: 178   
 
Event Resume:
	Grand Ballroom (9 a.m. – 3:30 p.m.) – DST convention

 
	3rd Floor Vista Rooms – V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, X – Chicago Public Schools administrator training classes

 
	Blue Velvet Room (7 p.m. – 12:30 a.m.) – DST convention finale party

 
	Triton Club (Open 4 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
 
* * *
 
It was just after 6 a.m. when my phone rang.  Groggily, I fumbled to answer.
“Haze…it’s Marino.  You got time to meet this morning?”
“Sure,” I said, still half asleep.  “You want to have breakfast?”
“No time,” he said swiftly.  “I’m heading out to meet with Statler’s boss.”
“Really?” I said, fully awake now and interested.  “You come up with something?”
“Maybe, I’m not sure yet.” 
I eyed my alarm clock.  “How’s seven at Vitantonio’s Café down on the arcade level sound?  We can just grab a cup of coffee and some pastries.”
“Perfect.  See you then,” the detective ended the call abruptly.
His rush to get off the phone gave me hope that he might have broken the case and that Torez wasn’t his man.  Maybe there had been something to my theory that the murder was indeed related to Statler’s consulting work after all.
 
 
* * *
 
 
Vitantonio’s Café was located near the hotel’s east entrance and was bustling this morning.  The windows were slightly steamed from the mixture of artificially pumped heat from the hotel’s boilers and the crush of warm bodies crowded inside to grab their morning treats before work or meetings.  If nothing else, a warm coffee was an excuse for commuters to take a break from the bitter temperatures and gusty winds outside.  The huddled masses stood wrapped in cushiony coats, bulky boots, soft scarves, Gortex gloves, and similar winter wear.  We managed to finagle a table for two near a street-view window.
“So what’s the word, Detective?” I asked as we sat down with our coffees and light breakfasts of a croissant lightly drizzled with a dark chocolate glaze for me and a warm cinnamon bun for the detective.  
“Good news and bad news,” the detective took a sip of his steaming hot coffee.  “Which one you want first?”
“I guess the bad news,” I shrugged.
“Well, my bad news might be your good news,” the detective frowned.
“That’s a good thing…I guess.  Fire away.”
“I don’t think Torez is our guy.”
“Why do you say that?”
“The times don’t match up.  That last lock read on the thirteen floor linen closet, the one with Torez’s lost key, was at 3:52 p.m. But between 3:30 p.m. and 4:30 p.m. when he clocked out, Torez was either down in the security department filling out the lost key report or up in housekeeping getting documented for losing the key.  We have several security personnel, as well as the housekeeping floor manager for Torez’s floor and the assistant director of housekeeping who verify his alibi.  It pretty much eliminates him as a suspect.  It could have been anyone who picked up that key in the meantime, and we don’t even know with one hundred percent certainty that the person who used the key was even the killer.  It could have been a curious guest, another employee, or some kid just playing around with it.”
“True.  So if the bad news for you is good news for the hotel, is the opposite true?”
“Not really,” the detective cut a small piece from his hot cinnamon bun, its white icing dripping down its sides in thin streams.  “Turns out, the building across the street indeed houses one of Statler’s consulting firm’s clients.”
“Really?” I said, taking some pride in my own detective work.
The detective gave a slight nod and took a bite of bun.
“Was Statler working with the client?”
“No idea.  I wasn’t able to speak directly to his boss,” the detective mumbled over his chewing.  “I made an appointment to meet with him today, so I should know more by this afternoon.”
“Definitely keep me posted,” I said, my spirits lifted.  I decided not to tell Tom just yet.  I didn’t want to get his hopes up, nor my own, too soon.
    “Before I leave, I’d like to take a look out of 15-202…with these,” he reached inside his leather attaché case and pulled out a pair of high-powered binoculars.
“Definitely,” I said, excitedly.  “You mind if I accompany you?”
“It was your theory.  I don’t see why not.”
I plowed through the rest of my croissant while the detective finished his cinnamon bun and then we took the guest elevators up to the 15th floor.
Inside Mr. Statler’s room, things looked completely normal, as though he was just out for a meeting or grabbing a bite to eat and would be back at any moment.  A suitcase sat open on a chair beside the bed, the bedroom curtains were half open, and there was a coffee mug still full of liquid on the nightstand.  The bed that was made, but it appeared someone had sat upon it or laid down.  One pillow was propped against the headboard, probably for television watching.
“Did you find any blood in here?  Any signs of a struggle or anything?” I asked.
The detective shook his head. “Nothing,” he said as I followed him over to the bedroom windows.  
“I wonder where he was killed?” I said, half to myself.
The detective already had his binoculars out and was peering through the windows.
“See anything?” I asked as he scanned the view outside.
“Make out a couple desks…some computer screens…file cabinets…stuff like that.  No details though.  I can’t read what’s on the computer screens without something stronger than these,” he held out the binoculars to me.  “Take a look?”
“Sure,” I said, taking my own glimpse of the gap between our aged building and the modern glass and steel construction of the skyscraper directly across from us.  I handed back the binoculars.  “Unless he had some spy-quality equipment, I’m not sure he could have made out anything of use,” I huffed.
“Like you said, maybe it was more about the comings and goings of certain employees or the hours they were keeping,” the detective said.  “It’s worth the trip out to Merrillville to check with Statler’s boss,” he added.
 
 
* * *
 
I walked the detective out and then spent the next hour handling a couple guest service issues left on my voicemail.  I then took a brief meeting with Tess Wiggins, our lovely event coordinator, and Greg Hildebrand, the president of DST Trucking, the company who’d been holding their annual convention at the hotel for the past few days.  Greg was happy with the way things had gone thus far, but he had a few suggestions for tweaks we might make for next year’s meeting.
As we wrapped up the meeting, my M.O.D. phone vibrated my awareness to an incoming call.  I shook hands with Mr. Hildebrand, thanked him for his business, and bid Tess farewell, ensuring that we’d touch base to discuss Mr. Hildebrand’s ideas for next year.  Then I excused myself to take the call.
“This is Robert, go ahead,” I answered
“Uh, I got a situation down here,” Jason greeted me.
“And a good morning to you too,” I replied, doing my best not to mask my sarcasm.
“You’d better get down here…quick,” he said.
“Be right there,” I hung up.
When I arrived, I found Jason cowering in the hallway outside my office door.  “We got a problem,” he said as soon as he saw me.
“Yeah, so you said.  So what exactly is up?”
“What’s ‘up’ is waiting in your office,” he nodded toward my partially open door.
I peeked inside to see a hulking fellow who must have stood seven feet tall waiting just inside.
 “Who is that?” I hissed to Jason.
“Bounty hunter,” he whispered back.
“Is he here for me?” 
“He wanted to speak to the general manager, but I knew there was no way I’d get Tom down here, so I called the next best thing,” Jason explained. 
“Thanks,” I frowned.  “What’s he want?”
Jason shrugged, “I assume he’s here to collect someone.”
“Well duh…that’s all you got for me?”
“Look at the guy,” Jason said, wide-eyed.  “I’m not going to interrogate him.”
“Sheesh,” I shook my head, pushed the door to my office open, and went inside.
“Robert Haze, hotel manager on duty,” I said in my most confident tone, extending a hand to monstrous beast of a fellow.
The man wore sunglass, days-old stubble, a black leather jacket, blue jeans, and massive black boots.  He loomed above me, taking my comparatively child-sized hand in his.
“Bear Robertson, bounty hunter,” he growled with a slight western drawl.  “Pleasure to make your acquaintance.”
 “How can I be of assistance, Mr. Robertson?” I asked, wondering whether this was a joke Detective Marino had put this colossal man up to.  But I decided that sort of thing wasn’t Marino’s style.
“I’m here for one of your housekeepers.  Goes by the name of Catherine Edens, aka, Kat Elder, aka, Catherine Elder.”
I though for a moment. “Name doesn’t ring a bell.  We get a lot of turnover in the housekeeping department though.”
“My information says she’s been working here for about three weeks under the last name Elder.” The gigantic bounty hunter removed his sunglasses and looked at a sheet of paper he held in his hand.
“What’s she wanted for?”
“Skipped bail on several charges…driving under the influence with a child in the vehicle, no proof of insurance, and operating a vehicle without a license.”
“Great,” I frowned.  “We do background checks on all our people.  Makes me wonder what else we miss.”
“Probably due to the assumed name.  It’s a stolen identity and is clean…or at least was clean until she got a hold of it.”    
“Mind if I call our security department to let them know what’s going on?”
“Actually I do,” Bear, which I had to admit was a fitting name, stared at me.  “You see, the more time I waste, and the more people who become aware I’m looking for this woman, the greater the chance she’ll get wind of my being here.  I’ve been hunting her for several weeks and this is the closest I’ve been.  I wanted to speak solely to your general manager, but the desk people said he wasn’t available.  I’m only speaking to you out of courtesy to your hotel and to keep the possibility of an overblown scene to a minimum.  I was also hoping you’d being able to tell me on what floor of the hotel Ms. Edens is working.”
I nodded, “I appreciate your consideration, Mr. Robertson.  But I’ll have to contact the housekeeping department to find out what you need to know…and I’ll have to review your paperwork and identification as well as accompany you as a witness for the hotel’s own security and liability.”
“I understand…just try to keep the number of people you have to speak to in the housekeeping department to a minimum,” he said as he handed over his personal identification and the paperwork he held in his hand.  I noted a handgun, correlating in size and scariness to the man carrying it, jutting from a shoulder holster beneath his coat as he reached for his identification.
“Mind if I make a copy of these?” I nodded to the documents he’d provided. 
“Be my guest,” Bear nodded.
I made a quick review of the information and studied the attached headshot of Ms. Edens.  She was Caucasian, had dirty blonde hair, wasn’t unattractive but I wouldn’t say was particularly attractive either, and looked to be in her mid to late-30s.
I quickly contacted Marian in housekeeping while making my photocopies.  Without going into too much detail, I got the information Bear needed.  Then I led the way to the service elevators, receiving several lingering stares from wary guests along the way.  The watchful eyes didn’t seem to bother Bear in the least.  I figured that a man his size was probably used to them.
“If you could just try to keep any disturbances to a minimum, I’d appreciate it,” I said as we rode to the 21st floor where Ms. Edens was reportedly working.
“I’ll do my best,” the gruff bounty hunter said.  “Can’t make any promises.  You never know how someone will react when they’re cornered.”
“I understand,” I nodded.
I had to admit that I felt somewhat sorry for the Ms. Edens.  Here she was, trying to make a fresh start, and the blocks were all going to come tumbling down in a matter of moments.  But then I thought about how she’d endangered the child riding with her when she was pulled over for her alcohol-related incident and I didn’t feel quite so bad.  I wondered where the child was now, how it was related to her, and I hoped it would be well cared for in Ms. Eden’s absence.
The service elevator door slid open and we exited right beside the swinging double-doors that led to the guest corridor.  Bear was right behind me as I pushed through them.  We stopped just outside, instantly recognizing Ms. Edens about 20 feet down the hallway to our right.  She was pulling several clean towels from her cleaning cart and glanced up, noticing us.  She began to smile, probably assuming we were guests or other hotel employees, until she noticed Bear.  Her growing smile froze in place as her eyes went from Bear, to me, and then back to Bear.  Before I could say a word, she dropped the towels and bolted toward a stairway entrance directly across the hall from her.  
It all happened in probably less than two seconds.
“Wait!” I put out a hand as Bear took off after Ms. Edens. But it was of no use.  I watched as he disappeared through the stairway door behind her.
I took a deep breath, shaking my head as I walked back to the service elevator landing, pressed the down button, and caught the same service elevator that we’d just arrived on.
I punched the button for the 6th floor and watched my progress as each floor indicator lit and went dark, lit and went dark, lit and went dark from floor to floor as I descended.
About ten seconds later, I was standing outside the same stairwell that Ms. Edens and bounty hunter Bear had entered on the 21st floor a few moments prior.  I opened the door and stood listening.
I could hear the pounding of footsteps and shouting above me.  I stepped back so that I was standing just outside the door to the stairway.  Several more seconds passed.  The footsteps and shouting grew louder so that I could hear them from where I stood in the hallway.  Suddenly the door was yanked open by Ms. Edens.  She shrieked in surprise as she saw me and jumped backward straight into the meaty paws of her pursuer.
If Bear had just listened to me, he would have saved himself some effort and a lot of sweating and heavy breathing.  What he (and apparently Ms. Edens as well) didn’t know was that this particular stairway didn’t descend all the way to the ground floor.  There were a total of 16 stairways sprinkled throughout the hotel, but only six of them actually went all the way from housekeeping on the 25th floor down to the street level, and of those, only four continued all the way down to 2B.  Obviously this stairway was not one of them, exiting instead at the 6th floor.
I quickly confiscated Ms. Eden’s floor key, while Bear thanked me for my assistance and handcuffed the wily room attendant.  After this, I took the elevator back upstairs to break the bad news to Marian and the 21st floor housekeeping manager regarding the fact that they’d need to find a replacement to cover the rest of their fugitive employee’s rooms.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 12
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 1/5 MOD Report
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Thursday, January 5th
 
Weather: 11/7 Clear                                                        
Occupancy: 23%
Arrivals: 213                                                                                                              
Departures: 736   
 
Event Resume:
	Triton Club (Open 4 p.m. – mid.)

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – mid)

 
 
* * *
 
 
With the departure of the DST Trucking convention, hotel occupancy dropped again.  But I didn’t feel guilty about the drop off in my related duties.  In fact, such days were few and far between, and I more than earned my keep when the hotel was packed solid and calls were nonstop.  Plus, I knew that we’d be picking up transient guests over the weekend now that the majority of the snow had been cleared and the forecast wasn’t predicting any more accumulation until late next week.  Families and couples would be looking to break the winter doldrums and shake the cabin fever by booking a hotel room for Friday and/or Saturday night.  The couples would order room service and a bottle of champagne, take in the dinner show at the Polynesian, and have some cocktails at our lounges.  Parents would let the kids folic in the pool while they soaked leisurely in the hot tub.
I knew my respite would be short lived since next week the hotel was the site of the annual convention for one of our city’s Major League Baseball teams (I won’t mention which one – suffice to say that it was the better of the two).
I liked to take downtimes like these to better familiarize myself with other departments in the hotel and their various policies and procedures.  Today, I was conducting several room cleanliness inspections for housekeeping.  Then I was going down to the sales and catering department to take part in their weekly inter-department resumé meeting.  This was a meeting where we discussed the upcoming groups and events taking place at the hotel as well any special needs or notes that might be associated with said events.  And after this, I was scheduled to meet with Mike in finance to assist with a regularly scheduled internal audit that called for the participation of an outside department manager.
It was as I was finishing my fifth room inspection for housekeeping that the most interesting event of the day occurred.  My last room being on one of our Honors VIP floors (these were rooms reserved for members of our Shared Resorts frequent guest program and were located on the 23rd and 24th floor), I decided to walk the two flights up to housekeeping.
As I opened the door to the stairwell, I instantly caught a glimpse of the bottom portion of two pairs of legs through the open handrails a flight above me.  Each flight of stairs was broken into a switchback with a small landing halfway up.  The landing between the 23rd and 24th floor is where I saw the legs, facing each other, and in close proximity.  I could tell that the couple, whoever they were, hadn’t heard the door open, and they were speaking in hushed tones.  Employee or guest, I wasn’t going to let their presence deter my progress considering that this was a public space.  So I started up the stairs – stepping maybe just a tad more lightly than I might have otherwise.
Just as I was able to glimpse the two people – a housekeeping houseperson and a room attendant – they must have recognized my presence because they quickly pulled apart from their embrace.  
I’d heard that the stairwells were frequent meeting spots for amorous employees.  Guests rarely used the stairs to navigate the hotel, preferring the elevators instead, so their secluded nature made them nice spots for private engagements if only for a minute or two. 
The two housekeeping employees stood apart, waiting awkwardly, only nodding a slight greeting as I passed.  I didn’t interfere since they weren’t my department’s employees, and technically, they weren’t doing anything wrong – a least not at the moment.  When I turned my inspections over to Marian in housekeeping however, I did make mention of the incident.
She nodded, frowning, “I bet I know who it was.  I’ve had trouble with two of my people on the Honors floors getting a little frisky with one another in the stairwells before.  Thanks for bringing it to my attention.”
“Not trying to get anyone in trouble or ruin love lives or anything.  I know this is a hotel and it tends to breed that sort of thing, but it’s got to be kept outside of work hours.”
“I know it, you know it, but try telling it to some of those horn-dogs on my staff,” she grimaced.  “It’s like musical chairs around here when it comes to romances.  There are more rumors floating around about who is hooking up than we have actual staff.  And by the time you actually do find out something is going on between two of the employees, they’ve already switched partners and are dancing with someone new.”
“It’s not much better at the front desk,” I shook my head.  “There are just a lot fewer dance partners.”
 
 
* * *
 
 
The rest of the day dragged on.  While I thought the low occupancy would make for an easier day, it really just made for a longer one.  Without the regular calls on my M.O.D. phone to break things up, the hours seemed to slide by tediously until around four, I broke away from the sales and catering department and went down to the front desk to see if Jason was still around.  I figured he’d already left for the day, but I was surprised to find he was still working…well, I guess “working” is a strong word.  He was in the breakroom, shooting for a new high score on one of his arcade games.
“Yes!” he celebrated as he broke the necessary points barrier but kept pounding away on the “fire” button to shoot little electronic bleeps of bullets from his spacecraft.
“How you feel about an after-work drink to commemorate this crowning achievement?” I asked him as I watched from behind.
“Hold on,” he breathed, bobbing his head and weaving his body as he guided his craft, as though his physical efforts had any bearing on how his joystick-maneuvered-craft performed.  “Ahhh,” he cringed after a moment, leaning back and batting the joystick with his hand when his spaceship disintegrated into a puff of smoke as an enemy vessel plowed into it in a kamikaze-like move.
He turned to look at me after he confirmed that it was indeed his last craft that had been decimated.
“A drink?” I asked again.
“On you?”
I nodded.
“Sure,” he perked up.  “Carlisle’s?”
“Let’s try the Triton Club,” I looked at my watch.  “They just opened.  Probably not too many people down there yet, so we should be able to grab a quick drink or two.  I want to give them some business.”
“You like that musty old 1B, don’t you?” Jason gave me a look.
“Always have; always will,” I nodded.
“Why?” he asked incredulously.
“I don’t really know,” I shrugged.  “Just do.  I’ve always felt at home down there…at peace…as though my mind becomes clearer.”
“You’re weird,” Jason grinned at me, grabbing his suit jacket off the back of a nearby chair.
“I know,” I said, and left it at that.
 
* * *
 
 
The Triton Club was almost empty when we arrived.  A young couple sat at a small table in the corner, but besides me and Jason, that was it, and that was just fine with me. I was here for a drink, not for people watching.
We took seats at the bar on refurbished vintage absinthe green vinyl stools.
In keeping with the atmosphere, I ordered a Harvey Wallbanger, heavy on the Harvey.  Jason ordered a Tequila Sunrise.
“Your day was so bad you had to have a drink?” Jason questioned, turning to me with an eyebrow raised.  “That’s not like you.  You must have some really heavy stuff on your mind.”
“It’s not that so much as…well, I don’t know.  Something has just been bothering me about this murder.  I can’t shake the feeling that I’m missing something rather obvious.”
“Well, don’t ask me,” Jason took a long sip of his drink.  “Ahhh…that hits the spot.  Detective work is definitely not my thing.  So that’s where you’ve been all day, out working the case for that detective buddy of yours?  What’s his name?  Marino?”
“No, I was doing some cross-training in other departments.  Caught a couple of housekeeping’s people making out in the stairwell.”
“Well now, that’s exciting,” Jay perked up.  “Pray tell.”
“No, it really wasn’t like that,” I said.  “Nothing exciting.  They’d pretty much broken up whatever was going on by the time I got there.”
“No naughty bits dangling?” Jay grinned.
“No…nothing like that,” I snorted, shaking my head.
I paused and took a long drink.
“Jay, you didn’t happen to leave something in my mailbox on Christmas morning, did you?  Like a gag gift or something?”  I decided to shift gears.  I figured chances were slim that it was him who had left the broken heart necklace; but knowing Jay, there was always a chance.
“No way.  You know me and holiday shopping.  I’m lucky to get my mother a gift, let alone my close friends.”
“Yeah, you’re such a sweetheart,” I mumbled.
My phone rang.  It was the detective.
“Hello,” I answered hopefully, thinking he might have some good news from Statler’s boss regarding the client in the building across the street from the hotel.  But I could tell immediately by the sound of his voice that things hadn’t gone our way.
“You got a second, Haze?” he asked.
“Sure,” I said.  “What’s up?”
“We struck out.  The whole theory that Statler was watching the client across the street was a bust.  Statler’s firm only did some minor work for that client and Statler wasn’t even involved.”
“Are you positive there was no chance he picked something up about that company?  Maybe he snooped on a file from a co-worker who was working more intimately with the client and learned something he shouldn’t have.”
“I’m pretty positive.  It was only a two-day job, and there was hardly anything in the file they had on hand.  It’s a tiny little tech startup that’s struggling just to make it.  Nothing illegal looking about it, and no big money there for the taking that I could see.  Looks like another dead end,” the detective sighed into the phone.
“Thanks anyway for letting me know,” I said.
“Sure thing,” the detective hung up.
“What is it about hotels and romance?” Jason said, getting back to the important stuff.  “There’s always so much hooking up going on around here.”
“I know,” I nodded.  “I’ve always thought it was all the beds.  They kind of radiate desire or send out subliminal messages or something.  Constantly keeps sex on the brain.”
“Maybe,” Jason said.  “Fine for the guests…okay for the employees, as long as they keep it on the down low…but god forbid the two sides ever meet.”
Yeah,” I agreed.  “I’ve seen a few such situations…employees intermingling with guests…the results never end well.”  I stood up abruptly, sloshing my drink and nearly knocking over my bar stool.  “That’s it!” I cried.  
Jason sat staring at me as though I was crazy, and was apparently a little freaked out judging by the look on his face.  
“Well…maybe that’s it,” I reconsidered.  “I’ve gotta go, Jay,” I said, throwing a twenty dollar bill down on the bar.  “I’ll catch up with you later.”
“Okay…” Jason sat mouth-opened, drink in hand as I rushed out of the club and back to the service elevators where I rode up to housekeeping.
At this point in the afternoon, most of what little housekeeping staff there was on a lower occupancy day like today had already departed for the day, but I found several managers still milling about the main office.  They nodded their greeting as I entered.
“Need to check some paperwork,” I explained my presence.
“You know where to find it,” Maria, one of the floor managers nodded at a nearby file cabinet.
“Thanks,” I said, pulling open one of the drawers.  It took me only a few seconds of rifling through the paperwork for January to realize that what I needed wasn’t there.  “Where’s the stuff from previous months?” I asked.
“Gone,” Rhoda, another of the managers, explained.
“Gone where?” I asked, feeling my stomach drop as I prayed it hadn’t already been shipped to the offsite storage and disposal facility where the hotel’s less important paperwork went to die.
“In the back,” she tilted her head in the direction of the housekeeping “crawlspace” as it was known.  “Last three months are boxed up in the crawlspace.  They’re all labeled, so it shouldn’t be too hard to find what you’re looking for.”
“Thanks,” I said, closing the file cabinet drawer and hurrying to a set of steel double doors at the end of the hallway outside housekeeping’s main office.  Behind these doors, in a dimly lit, concrete-floored room (one of just several that weren’t coated with a thick layer of floor wax) was where things like the snow blowers, bags of extra ice melt and spreaders, snow shovels, and several of the floor cleaning machines were stored.  At the rear of this room and to the left was a hallway that followed the hotel’s roofline.  The ceiling was low and so steeply pitched to one side that you had to duck when navigating it.  A brick wall formed one side of this scalene triangle-shaped corridor.  The rooftop and floor created an angular space that opened to the other side and continued with the sloping roofline.  It was used to store various odds and ends.  Toward the end of this space sat several Lanigan relics.  There was a massive piece of granite block, the cornerstone of the original Lanigan that burned in the Chicago fire.  I certainly pitied the poor people who had to haul the thing all the way up here and then stash it way back in this hidey hole.  There was a large bronze bust of our hotel’s namesake – Samuel Lanigan.  There were also old portraits of former general managers, boxes of various trophies and awards that the hotel had won throughout the years for service and cleanliness, as well as other hotel memorabilia from bygone eras that the hotel just didn’t have a use for or a proper place to display.
At the front of this space were several rows of cardboard file boxes.  Inside were items like the room attendant assignment sheets, floor manager reports, and various other reports related to out-of-order rooms, discrepancy rooms, and the all-encompassing “all-status report” that provided an overview of the status of all the guest rooms.  These reports were run on a daily basis, typically at the beginning and end of each day.
It took me almost half an hour of sitting in the dingy darkness on the dusty floor sorting through the boxes for October, November, and December to find what I was looking for.  But once I had it, I knew that it was definitely worth the time and effort.  I took another 10 minutes to make copies of my gathered documentation and return the paperwork to its rightful boxes before going back downstairs.  There, I did some matching up of days and dates for the past 90 days with the correlating paperwork I had for Mr. Statler’s room history before calling Detective Marino.  
“Detective Marino speaking.  What’s up, Haze?” he answered. 
“I’ve got something you need to see,” I explained.
“Right now?” the detective sounded tired.
“I think it will definitely be worth your time,” I said, smiling into the phone, unable to contain my excitement at what I’d uncovered even though I knew full well what it might mean for the hotel.
 
* * *
 
It was about a 20 minute drive, slicing down Cermak Avenue, from the Lanigan to the near western suburb of Berwyn.  There, room attendant Felicia Gonzalez lived in a rented, yellow-brick, turn-of-the-century bungalow.  The home was nestled in a row of homes almost identical to hers, the row resting among several blocks of similarly constructed domiciles.  
The detective had wanted to meet with Ms. Gonzalez as soon as I showed him the paperwork I’d discovered.  He drove since, living at the hotel, I had neither need for a vehicle nor a place to store it.
The room attendant, enjoying her day off, looked surprised to see us, but not overly so when she opened the front door.  The detective hadn’t called ahead, preferring the element of surprise.  He’d allowed me to be present at his interview with Felicia since I’d been the one who’d uncovered the incriminating evidence and he thought my insider’s knowledge of the hotel might come in handy during the interview.  
Felicia was in the midst of cleaning up from dinner when we arrived, a hand towel slung over one shoulder, a toddler cradled in her other arm.  She invited us inside, hustling her two children – the other who appeared to be age six or seven – into a nearby bedroom.  She then offered us something to drink.  Both the detective and I declined.  Then we took seats at the dining room table.
I had to admit, she was a reasonably attractive woman.  She was maybe five foot five, probably 120 pounds, give or take a few pounds, had thick, light-brown hair with a reddish tint, a wide mouth with medium-sized lips, a petite nose, and eyes that pulled at the corners in a way that made them appear almost Asian in nature.
It didn’t take long for her to crack under the pressure of the detective’s withering gaze and our finally having put two and two together.
“I wondered if you’d notice that,” she said in heavily accented English as she stared down at the housekeeping paperwork I’d given the detective and that he’d spread out on Ms. Gonzalez’s dining room tabletop.  It detailed, in bright yellow highlighter slashed across her room assignment sheets and Mr. Statler’s room history reports, the correlation of dates and locations.
“You and Mr. Statler were having an affair,” Detective Marino stated more than asked.  “That’s why he always requested the 200 side of the 15th floor…your regularly assigned section.  That’s why his stays at the hotel match up perfectly with the days that you were scheduled to work.”
The room attendant kept her eyes sullenly affixed to the papers laid out before her.  She nodded slightly.  A single teardrop trickled down her cheek, hung for a moment, and then fell upon the dining room tabletop.
“Is that why you killed him?  Was he trying to break things off with you?” the detective pressed.
I sat silently, watching, curious.  I’d never been involved in an actual police questioning before, and I found it intensely interesting.  I was caught up in the moment, and I kept telling myself to make mental notes of techniques that I could use in future hotel investigations.
“No!” Ms. Gonzalez looked up suddenly, a fierce determination in her eyes.  “I did not!  I would never!  I loved him!”
“Then tell us who did,” the detective pushed.  “You must have some idea.”
She shook her head, “I…I…I don’t know.”
“If you refuse to tell us, you’re going to be charged with the murder,” the detective explained.  “I’ll have to take you in and the Department of Child and Family Services will get custody of your children.”
I wondered if this was true, but the detective’s confidence in stating it sure made it sound like it was, and it looked like the threat certainly rattled Ms. Gonzalez.
“I have enough evidence here,” he gestured to the paperwork on the table.  “And with the phone records I’m sure I can procure showing calls between you and Mr. Statler, I can prove motive and opportunity.”
There was the sound of crying from the bedroom.
“Enrique!” Ms. Gonzalez shouted.  “Take care of your brother!”
“But mommy…” the older boy called back.
“Do it!” his mother yelled back, obviously feeling the strain of the situation.
But the detective forged ahead, looking to press any advantage the distraction or added stress might provide.  
“If someone else was involved, if they pressured you or forced you to help them, we might be able to work a deal if you talk.  But you’ve got to help us understand so that we can help you.”
“I wasn’t even there!” she began to weep.
“What do you mean?” the detective frowned.  He began searching for the proper paperwork on the table.
I quickly found what he needed and handed it to him.
He pointed at one sheet of paper in particular.  “You were scheduled the same day that Mr. Statler was killed.  Here’s your room assignment sheet.”
She shook her head, “Yes, I was scheduled, but I only worked the morning.  I have a strained back muscle.  I was under light duty restrictions, but I tried cleaning rooms that day so I could see him.  I just couldn’t do it.  After we…met…early that morning, my back started aching again,” she looked somewhat embarrassed by the confession.  “I hurried and finished my rooms, they were all occupied so I could do them fast, but I hurt so bad that I left at lunchtime to see the doctor.  And Derrick was still alive.  I kissed him goodbye just before I left.  He was in his room…he was fine,” she choked slightly on the words, the emotion overwhelming her.  “After that, I was at the clinic for the rest of the day.”
“You never said anything about this in our first interview,” the detective said.
Felicia snorted and wiped a tear away. “Why would I?  I could lose my job.”
The detective paused, thinking.  “The doctor can confirm this…that you were at his office the rest of the day?”
Felicia nodded, then hesitated, “Well, I was in the waiting room for most of the afternoon.  I think the lady that checks people in could verify that I was there…she might remember me.  There were so many people there though, I can’t be sure.  But I have the paperwork.  I can show you that,” she offered eagerly.  “I was there until four o’clock, and then I came home on the train.  I still have my train tickets too!  My sister was here watching the kids.  I got home at around five.  Ask her, she can tell you.  She’ll remember.  She was mad because I was late.”
“We’ll certainly be checking Ms. Gonzalez,” Detective Marino assured her.  “But you can’t think of anyone else who might have had reason to kill Mr. Statler if you didn’t?  You haven’t been very forthright with us up to this point, so I think it’s time you started.  You could be getting yourself into a lot of trouble here, especially with the safety and care of two small children to think about,” he nodded toward the bedroom.
She swallowed hard and shook her head, “I can’t think of anyone.  And they say he was put in the linen chute.  How could I do such a thing?  I loved him.  And with my back, I could never have lifted him.  Even without the injury, I couldn’t have.”
I could tell that the detective didn’t want to give up, but there wasn’t much of an option at this point.  
“I’ll need the name and address of the clinic you visited as well as the name of the doctor whose care you are under,” he conceded.
She nodded, excused herself from the table, and left to retrieve the necessary documentation.
Once she was gone the detective hissed, “Shit!” under his breath as he scooped up the papers he’d laid out.  “I thought we had something, Haze.”
“We might still,” I said.  “There’s no guarantee that she’s telling the truth.”
The detective scowled and nodded to a nearby chair.  “Look,” he said.  A black elastic back brace was slung over its arm.
“I doubt she bought that just for proof of her story in the off chance we’d show up.”
I took a deep breath, “Yeah, I suppose; but you never know.”
The detective gave me a look.  “It ain’t like in the movies,” he said.  “Most killers aren’t too bright…that’s why they kill people.”
“Now what?” I asked.
The detective shrugged, “I go meet with the doctor, make sure what she’s telling us is true, and if it is, then I start looking for new suspects.”
 
* * *
 
The drive back to the hotel took place largely in silence.  I think both the detective and I were pretty down about the results of the interview with Ms. Gonzalez.  I know our hopes had been high on what I’d discovered, and while our flame hadn’t been completely extinguished, it’d taken a pretty good dousing.  
Detective Marino dropped me off at the hotel at a little after seven.  I no longer felt like having the drink that I’d hardly taken three sips of before dashing off to do my investigating in housekeeping.  So I went upstairs to my room feeling defeated and somewhat depressed.  It’s not that I particularly wanted to see a hotel employee arrested for murder, just the opposite in fact, but I also didn’t want a murder in our hotel going unsolved.
 
 
* * *
 
 
I slept poorly that night, tossing and turning while visions of Derrick Statler being loaded into the linen chute intermingled with protections of physics – weights, levers, momentum, friction, angles, forces.  Every time I envisioned the act of Statler’s body being lifted up, shoved through the linen chute’s door and tumble down into the dark tubular abyss, I saw a man.  It could only have been a man, or a really strong woman, or maybe a combination of the two who did the deed.  Maybe the detective had been onto something.  Maybe if Ms. Gonzalez had help – but no, she wasn’t there, she was at the clinic getting her back checked out.  So it was either a strong lone person or two other people, both of whom were not Ms. Gonzalez.  The thoughts kept coming.  Who?  How?  Why?  Guest or employee?  Murder of purpose or crime of passion?  Planned in advance or conducted in the heat of the moment?
There would be no answers, only a lot of tossing and turning as my bed sheets became my enemies.  Each time I became entangled in them, I flashed back to Derrick Statler, and my mind would again turn to more questions.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 13
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 1/6 MOD Report
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Friday, January 6th
 
Weather: 31/26  Sunny                                                                       
Occupancy: 57%
Arrivals: 837                                                                                                              
Departures: 209   
 
Event Resume:
	Grand Ballroom (8 p.m. - midnight) – Carlson/Winters wedding reception

 
	Triton Club (Open 4 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Blue Velvet Room (7 p.m. – 10:00 p.m.) – Maynard Stoddard 100th birthday party

 
	Lake Ballroom (6 p.m. – 8 p.m.) – “Those Were the Years” radio/dinner show

 
* * *
 
I was almost glad when my M.O.D. phone rang at 5:37 in the morning.  It being Friday, and with a nice influx of guests set to arrive to the hotel, I hoped that calls would keep me busy and less preoccupied with the nagging questions surrounding Mr. Statler’s murder.  While the call was only to handle a guest who was disputing several charges on his room bill, it was enough to get my mind off the case of our poor linen pressed guest.  
I quickly handled the early-morning guest charge issue that had resulted from parking fees that had accumulated for the entirety of the guest’s four-day stay even though he had returned his rental car upon arriving to the hotel.  Then I went back upstairs to shower, shave, and re-dress.  Then it was back to cover the front desk until Jason rolled in around eight.  
Things were already starting to pick up by the time I got back downstairs.  There a large wedding reception at the hotel later in the evening.  Many of the wedding guests were staying in a block of over a hundred rooms reserved by the two coupling families and were arriving early to start getting things prepared for the event.  Then there would be the Those Were the Years radio program being broadcast from the hotel’s famed Lake Ballroom.  And we also had a huge event taking place in the Blue Velvet Room for the Stoddard family to celebrate the 100th birthday of their patriarch, Mr. Maynard Stoddard.  
Mr. Stoddard had been staying at the Lanigan since he was a child, and he was the only person we knew of who had actually been here at the time of the hotel’s first major renovation back in the 1920s.  Hotel historian Ken Prouce was master of ceremonies for the event, and several local newspapers, and even a local television station, were arriving to cover the event.  Ken would be presenting Mr. Stoddard with a 14-karat gold Lanigan-logoed employee lapel pin from the date of his first stay back in 1923.
By lunch time, I’d barely had a chance to take a breather.  Between answering my office phone, taking calls on my M.O.D. phone, speaking with guests at the front desk, and replying to emails, the first half of my day was a blur of activity that actually left me feeling somewhat invigorated.  A little after noon, things calmed a bit, but I knew the reprieve wouldn’t last long as the list of checkouts dwindled but the number of arrivals remained high.  Most guests would likely start arriving for check-in around three.  We’d therefore bulked up the front desk’s second shift to help cover not just the weekend leisure crowd but the guests arriving for three sizeable events taking place in our ballrooms later in the evening. 
I decided that it being Friday, and the end to a long week for both of us, I’d offer to treat Detective Marino to a hearty meal and the radio dinner show taking place in the Lake Ballroom.  We both deserved a break, and I thought the detective might enjoy the “Those Were the Years” radio program, a weekly three-hour radio program that replayed vintage programs and music.  Episodes from radio dramas like The Lone Ranger, Little Orphan Annie, Yours Truly, Johnny Dollar: the man with the action-packed expense account, old news pieces, and Command Performance bits from the war and post-war years were just a taste of what one might expect to hear on the show.  It was wonderfully nostalgic, and when I couldn’t catch the program at its regular time, I often streamed it online during one of my days off or on my office computer when I was doing paperwork or responding to emails. 
The detective didn’t really sound like he was in the mood for a night out, but since he was a single man like me whose work was his life, I figured he probably didn’t have much else on his plate for the evening’s entertainment.
After I made the call and booked our reservations for the radio program, I rode the service elevator down to 2B.  The dimly lit hallways of the sub-basement level were quiet at this time of day as most employees were upstairs, cooking, cleaning, setting up, and assisting guests.  Today was even more peaceful than usual with everyone busy preparing for the night’s activities.
There was nary a sole about as I walked past the still shuttered linen sorting room.  The entry doors were closed.  The police had taped several lengths of yellow and black crime scene tape across the door.  An officer had initially been posted in the corridor outside to protect the space.  After a few days, and once the police had collected their evidence and taken their crime scene photos, the guard had been removed.  The tape however, had remained, and the space continued to stay off-limits to employees, something Marian Marshall in housekeeping had complained about but had to deal with nonetheless.
I kept walking, on passed the sorting room, hooking a left by the linen scale where loaded carts of sorted and soiled linens were weighed before being sent out to be laundered.  I took a right, on past multiple rows of freshly cleaned and returned linens waiting to be taken upstairs and placed in the linen closets.  Then I took another right down a shorter hallway, and another left into a large storage area with more fully-loaded linen carts.  At the far end of this space was a door that led into a small property operations department locker room.  Down from this was a short stairway leading up to a locked door that entered the basement of an old jewelry store that used to be connected with the hotel. Between these two doors was a third door that was almost obscured from view by the linen carts that were pushed up in front of it.
I shoved two of these carts aside, pulled my M.O.D. key ring from my pocket, found my hotel master key, and unlocked the door.  I fumbled in the darkness for a moment until I found the light switch and flipped it on.  It illuminated a mid-sized room, maybe 15 by 20 feet that was piled high with cardboard file boxes and stacks of books.  The books were what I was most interested in today.  The room itself had served as a store room for old documents and financial files until the mid-50s when the hotel started storing such items off property.  By that time, all the stuff stored here was so outdated that no one saw the need to move it to the new storage site.  There was no longer a reason to keep the old documents, but no one had ever taken the time to haul all the heavy boxes to the trash.  This left the documents as well as the space itself to largely be forgotten about by the rest of the hotel employees…except for me of course.  I liked sneaking down here to the bowels of the hotel occasionally and selecting a file box or a couple books to pilfer through, using them as a time machine to transport me back to a different age and to explore the hotel’s past.
It took me about 15 minutes of hunting and rearranging stacks of books of boxes to find what I was looking for – a dusty copy of the hotel registration book from July, 1923.  After a few more minutes of cleaning off the relic and hunting through its yellowed musty pages, I found what I was looking for.  About halfway through the book, under the date “July 11th” I found the handwritten signature of Claude Stoddard, Maynard’s father, alongside the names of his mother Agnes, and little Maynard and Merle, their children.  I smiled, nodding to myself, and then snapped the book closed.  I gave it a final blow to remove the last bits of dust from its black leather cover and made my way out of the store room.
Pleased with myself, I navigated the dank halls back to the floor’s main corridor.  Just as I rounded the corner near the linen scale, I caught a glimpse of a dark figure darting down the end of the hallway and around the corner toward where the service elevators were located.  It seemed strange that anyone would be moving so quickly to get back to work, but I didn’t think much of it – at least not until I was passed the linen sorting room and caught the smell of smoke.
 Doing a quick inspection, I could tell that the crime scene tape covering the room’s entry doors had been disturbed.  My first thought was that the mystery person I saw running away was on a quick smoke break, not wanting to brave the winter temps to enjoy their cigarette outside.  With 2B mostly empty at this time of day, and with the sorting room cordoned off, it seemed the logical spot for a secret smoke.  But what wafted gingerly into my nostrils was not cigarette smoke; it smelled more like something burning.
I shoved open the doors to the sorting room, dislodging the rest the crime scene tape in the process.  The lights were on, and I could see smoke and a few flames rising from the pile of linen still left on the floor from when Frank and I busted the chute two weeks ago.  I immediately wondered if this was a smoke break gone awry, the hustling employee having hastily ditched their cigarette butt in the piles of linen to escape being caught down here, or if it was something more.
I dropped my book and ran over to grab a fire extinguisher off the wall.  It took me but a few seconds to extinguish the burgeoning blaze, but a good amount of damage had already been done as a large section of the linen pile had already been charred and blacked in spots.
“Well there’s a couple hundred bucks down the drain,” I grumbled.
The fire out, I called security to make a report and have them take pictures and investigate.  Steve came down looking displeased.  I took a few moments to explain what I’d seen and help him search for the cause of the blaze.
We didn’t find any cigarette remains, but we did pick up the faint scent of lighter fluid.
“Looks like arson,” Steve frowned.  “You can’t give us a better description of the person you saw running from here?”
“No,” I shook my head.  “It’s so damn dark in that hallway that it’s hard to see much of anything.  Plus, it looked like the person was wearing dark colored clothing or a dark uniform.”
“Well that’s not much help.  Eighty percent of the hotel staff wears black, blue or dark green uniforms,” Steve frowned.
“I’d better call the detective,” I said.  “Someone apparently wanted to get rid of this linen for a reason, and he’ll want to know why.  Better not touch anything else,” I told Steve.
“Sounds good to me,” he said, glad to shovel the issue onto the detective’s plate.
 
 
* * *
 
 
As soon as Detective Marino heard about the fire, he huffed into the phone.  “We went through that place with a fine-tooth comb,” he explained.  “Makes me wonder if we missed something.  Now it looks like we’re going to have to go through it with a sieve.  You sure it was arson?”
“Pretty sure.  Steve and I looked for signs of a cigarette, but there was nothing.  We detected a hint of lighter fluid though.”
“You know what it means if you’re correct about this, right Haze?”
“I know,” I said, not liking the implications.  “Means the killer…or at least an accomplice of the killer, is trying to cover something up.  Something we missed.”
“Also means that the killer is likely one of your employees,” the detective added.
“Yeah…that too,” I agreed, my spirits sinking again.
“By the way, everything Ms. Gonzalez told us panned out regarding her light duty work, her back injury, and her clinic alibi.  Looks like she was telling the truth.”  There was a pause on the other end of the line before the detective added, “I am going to have her phone records checked, just to be on the safe side.”
“Why?” I asked.  “If you don’t think she had anything to do with the murder, why check them?”
“I said her story panned out,” the detective replied. “I didn’t say I thought she had nothing to do with the murder.  Remember how eager she was to show us her train tickets, her doctor’s paperwork, even about asking her sister to corroborate her story when we spoke to her?”
“Yes,” I agreed.  “She seemed intent on proving her innocence.”
“I know you’re not in my line of work, but these days, when people want to prove their innocence, they’ll often provide electronic data…phone records, text messages, emails, those sorts of things.  And I can almost guarantee you that if Ms. Gonzalez was running late from her doctor appointment that she would have called her sister to let her know or at least have sent a text message alerting her to the fact that she’d be watching the kids for an extra half hour or so.  But she never said a word about checking her phone or phone records to prove her story.  Now maybe she just didn’t think of it.  And yes, it’s a possibility that she didn’t send such a message, but it’s worth a shot to look into.  If nothing turns up, well, nothing gained, nothing lost.”
“True,” I agreed.  “Guess you never know.”
“I have to get going,” the detective said.  “I’ve got to pick something up from the office. I’ll send some people over to check out the fire in the sorting room asap.”
 
 
* * *
 
 
True to his word, the detective had a team of investigators to the hotel and down in the linen sorting room within the hour.
I stayed extremely busy for the rest of the day, mostly helping out with guest check-ins, only breaking away once to drop off the book I’d found down on 2B to Ken Prouce.
Ken was an interesting character.  He was in his early-60s, had a full head of curly black hair (dyed, I’m sure) that made him resemble former game show host Burt Convy.  He kept this caricature to a minimum by wearing big round-lens glasses with thick black frames.      
“Where did you find this!” he asked, looking on in stunned amazement when I handed him the book.
“Al Capone’s vault,” I smirked.  “I bookmarked the most important page.”
Ken opened the book, flipped to the page I’d marked, and looked in awe at the Stoddard family guest registry. “I can’t believe you found this!  You know, as hotel historian, you should let me in on these secret spots of yours,” Ken grinned.
“But you’d add them to your hotel history tour and they wouldn’t be secret anymore.  And then where would I hide away when I want to be left alone?”
“True, true,” Ken considered.  “Kind of adds to the mystique of the hotel for me anyway knowing that there are still places here that I know nothing about.  Keeps the fire burning within me so-to-speak…like searching for the Ark of the Covenant or the Holy Grail.”
“Maybe I’ll reveal all on your hundredth birthday, Ken.”
“Now that’s a deal…if only I’m so lucky,” he said, patting the book.  “I’m sure Mr. Stoddard will be thrilled with this.  Thank you.  And thank you on behalf of our honored guest.  Will you be attending the party?”  
“Not sure,” I said.  “I’m going to the Those Were the Years radio broadcast tonight.  “But maybe afterward if the celebration is still going.”
“Mr. Stoddard’s quite the party animal, even at a hundred years young,” Ken said.  “I’m sure the party will just be getting started around the time the radio broadcast wraps up.”
“Then maybe I’ll see you there,” I offered.  And with that, I headed back to my office to start wrapping things up for the afternoon.
 
 
* * *
 
 
I was changed into my evening attire – a tuxedo I kept on hand for just such occasions – and back downstairs to await Detective Marino’s arrival at a little after 6 p.m.
The show wasn’t scheduled to begin until seven, but the detective arrived half an hour early.  He said he wanted to show me a couple things before dinner, so we decided to adjourn to my office for some privacy.
“But first, how about we pop by Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge and pick ourselves up some travelers?” I asked.
“Sounds like a plan,” the detective smiled ever so slightly. 
We strolled across the lobby, now abuzz with activity as guests lounged in chairs, chatting and sipping cocktails from Carlisle’s, awaiting the evening’s entertainment.
The detective and I found Marv working the whiskey lounge’s bar.
“Mmmm,” he eyed the detective hungrily as we approached.  “Haven’t seen you ’round these parts lately,” he flirted.
The detective looked instantly uncomfortable.  “Working a lot,” he replied stiffly.
“Well ain’t that just too bad,” Marv smiled and turned to address me.  “You two at it again?” he eyed me knowingly.  “You sly dog you, Mr. Robert.”
I took a deep breath and shook my head, feeling self-conscious.  I normally didn’t mind this sort of silly banter with Marv, but the detective’s presence made me slightly uncomfortable.
“Nothing like that, Marv.  We’re just going to have dinner and take in the radio show.”
“Mmm hmm,” he gave me a look, eyelids half closed to inform me that he wasn’t buying it.  “You sing your song, Mr. Man.  Let me give you just one piece of advice though hon’.”  He leaned in close and whispered, “Keep him on a short leash, and don’t let him stray.”
Suddenly and unexpectedly the detective put an arm around my shoulder and hugged me up close.  “If you don’t stop hitting on my man, Marv, I might have to take you down to the station,” the detective grinned.
“My, my,” Marv put a hand to his chest and withdrew.  “Aren’t we touchy tonight.  I just might like you interrogating me though.”  Then he put a hand confidentially to one side of his mouth but saying loudly enough for the detective to overhear, “I think it might be her time of the month,” he gave a slight nod and a flicker of the eyes toward the detective.
We all laughed.
“You sure are in a good mood tonight,” I said to the detective.  “What changed all of a sudden?  Makes me wonder what you’ve got to show me.”  I caught myself as Marv’s mouth fell open.  “Relating to the case,” I added, giving Marv a tilted-head deadpan stare.
“Mmm hmm,” Marv nodded, giving me his unconvinced stare right back. 
That was Marv.  Always just one thing on his mind.
 “So what’ll it be?” Marv leaned back, all business now and giving the bar top a wipe with a white rag he pulled from where it was slung over his shoulder.
“Whiskey?” I eyed the detective.
“Sure,” he nodded back.
“Two double shots of your best,” I said to Marv.
“Straight or on the rocks?” Marv gave an almost imperceptible smirk.
The detective and I looked at one another.
“Straight!” we answered in unison, both breaking out into laughter.
“Celebrating?” Marv asked.
“Hopefully,” the detective replied as Marv set two tumblers on the bar and poured our drinks.
“Really?” I said to the detective, wide-eyed and somewhat shocked.
“I got some good news today.  May have just broken the case.”
I grabbed my drink. “Well let’s go then,” I said, excited to see what the detective had discovered.
 
 
* * *
 
 
Back in my office, the detective and I both took seats, me sipping my drink while he fished a few documents from the leather attaché case he’d brought along.
“To start, there are these,” he handed me two large glossy photos.  “I’m not sure exactly what to make of them.  Maybe they’re nothing, but I thought you might be able to come up with something.”
I held one photo in each hand and looked back and forth between the two.  At first glance, they appeared identical.  They were taken from the same angle and of the same location, one of our upstairs linen closets.  But upon closer inspection, I could tell that they were two different linen closets.  The photo in my left hand was denoted with a small “#1” written in black marker in the upper left hand corner.  The photo in my right hand had a small “#2” also written in black marker in the same area. 
“Photo number one is of your fifteenth floor linen closet taken the day of the murder.  The second photo is of a randomly selected linen closet on the same day.  We took several shots of linen closets on other floors so that we had examples to compare to what we thought at the time was the scene of our crime.”  The detective paused, letting me look at the two shots.  “Notice anything different about the two?” he asked.
I kept looking back and forth, not seeing much if any difference.  “Some of the carts are arranged differently, but I wouldn’t see how that would tell us much.  Different levels of linen on the shelves?” I asked.
The detective shook his head, “Nope.”  Keep looking.
I scanned back and forth, not getting what he was after.  Then I saw it.  “The houseperson cart on the fifteenth floor closet shot!” I said.  “It’s from the thirteenth floor!”
A “13-2” was stenciled on the side of one of the multiple houseperson carts lined up in the room.  It was snuggled in between carts “15-1” and “15-4” and the difference between the carts would have been negligible had it not been for the stenciled numbers.
“But what does it mean?” I asked.
“I was hoping you could tell me,” the detective said.  “I did the heavy lifting on this one, finding the difference, now it’s time for you to fill in the blank as to why it’s there.”
I gave a shrug, “Could be as simple as someone taking the wrong cart or borrowing an extra for something.”  
“Why wouldn’t the housepersons on those floors have mentioned their carts being swapped when I interviewed them then?” the detective looked at me.
“They may not have thought it important,” I shrugged.  “Plus, 13-2, that’s Torez’s cart, the houseperson who lost his key.  He was in so much trouble over that, he might have been afraid to report his cart missing too.  Carts aren’t supposed to be left out in the public spaces, so if someone swiped it, reporting it lost could have gotten him in more trouble…it could possibly even have cost him his job.  And if he’d mentioned it to you, he was probably afraid you’d use it as evidence to pursue a case against him.”
“He might have been right,” the detective frowned.  “But not now.  You know why?”
I paused thinking.  “Because whoever killed Mr. Statler must have used this cart to transport his body…”
“And?” the detective prodded.
“And they didn’t know enough about housekeeping to realize that when he…or she dumped the body down on the thirteenth floor that they had grabbed the wrong cart when they returned it to the closet.”
“And if that’s the case, then who does that point to?” Not waiting for me to answer, he continued, “Someone who knows enough about crimes and criminals to try to throw us off track by using a lost key.  Someone who can use a knife without making a complete mess of the crime scene.  Someone who knows enough to transport and dispose of the victim’s body on a different floor from where the crime occurred.  And someone who knows enough to use a murder weapon with someone else’s initials on it.  But someone who doesn’t know enough to cover all their bases when it came to details like this.”
“Someone in security,” I breathed.
“Now for the kicker,” the detective looked at me with a grin the likes of which the Cheshire Cat would have been envious.
“You’ve got more!” I exclaimed.  “You have been busy.”
He just nodded and took a drink before pulling more paperwork from his leather bag.  “Phone records from Ms. Felicia Gonzalez,” he said as he handed them to me.
I looked down at several pages with printed times, dates, and phone numbers on them.  A good quarter of the records were highlighted in yellow.  Another quarter were highlighted in light blue.
“I’ll save you some time since it’s almost seven,” the detective looked at his watch.  The excitement and anticipation he was feeling at his big reveal was evident in his voice.  “See those highlighted numbers?”
“Uh huh,” I took a sip of whiskey, its smooth burn trickling down my throat.
The yellow calls are between Felicia Gonzalez and Derrick Statler over the past three months.  The blue calls are between Felicia Gonzalez and…” knowing he had me hanging, he paused for emphasis and to heighten the suspense of the moment, “…Elon Hernandez.”
“The one-handed security guard!” I nearly shouted.
“Shhh…” the detective pushed his hands down toward the floor, indicating that I should lower my voice.  “No one else knows, and I definitely don’t want anyone around here spreading the word back to Hernandez.  We don’t have enough evidence to arrest him just yet, and I still can’t fully prove a case against him.”
“Wow,” I breathed softly.  “A love triangle.” I thought about the situation for a moment.  “So do you think Felicia was in on it?” I asked.  
“Don’t know yet,” the detective shrugged.  “My theory at this point would be that Elon likely found out about Felicia cheating on him with Statler, got jealous, and confronted Statler.  He might have just wanted to scare him and things got out of hand…or maybe he had murder in mind.  Either way, I think he’s the one who probably did the deed.  I checked with security, and he was present when the houseperson, Rodrigo Torez, came down to security to report his key missing.  He could have gone upstairs, found the key, lured Mr. Statler from his room, and hit him over the head.  It wouldn’t have taken but a few seconds to have grabbed the houseperson cart that Torez left just outside the service elevator landing when he went downstairs to report his lost key, tossed Statler’s body in it, thrown some soiled linen over top him and hauled him down to the thirteenth floor linen closet in an effort to throw us off.  Once he dumped him there, he returned the wrong houseperson cart to the fifteenth floor in his haste to get out of there.”
“Two things though,” I said.  “First off, how did he get back and forth between the floors without cameras seeing him?  They’re trained on all the elevators.”
“But they’re not in the stairwells,” the detective noted.  “It would have been easy enough to get Statler downstairs in one of those carts.  The wheels are widely space and the low center of gravity would have kept it steady as he took it down the stairs.  It also would have given him the privacy needed to stab Statler.  And without Statler’s body inside, the cart would have been much lighter getting it back up the stairs.”
“True,” I nodded.  “But what about Hernandez’s disability?”
“Just because he lost a hand doesn’t mean he can’t kill someone.  He was a trained soldier, and the injury wasn’t to his dominant hand.”
“I know, but it would have made it extremely difficult to get the body inside the linen chute.  With the door latches and self-closing doors, you pretty much have to open and hold the chute door with one hand while using the other to load the body.  It would have been hard for someone with two good hands.  I mean, I know they make good prosthetics these days, but that would be a tough point to press in a court of law.  I’m sure you could find plenty of good defense attorneys and medical experts to testify that Hernandez would have been incapable of such a feat…an ‘If it doesn’t fit, you must acquit,’ type scenario,” I made reference to the OJ Simpson case.
“I know,” the detective frowned.  “I want to do a test tomorrow.  If you’d help me, I’d appreciate it.”
“Sure thing.”
“In the meantime, all this stays on the down low…not a word to anyone…okay? The real problem is that we have no direct evidence tying Hernandez to the murder.  There’s plenty of circumstantial stuff, but as for blood traces, finger prints, DNA…nada.  I don’t want Hernandez getting wise.  I have a good feeling he’s the one who tried to torch the linen sorting room which means he probably forgot something and that we probably overlooked something.”
“Yeah…but what?” I took another drink.  “Speaking of the sorting room, did your people turn up anything new down there among those burned sheets?”
“Nothing new, and certainly nothing of use to help us with this case,” the detective sighed.
I could tell he was starting to feel down again about his progress, but I wasn’t about to let this ruin our night.
“You made some real progress today.  Now that we’ve got a new suspect, we can…” – and here I stole an old Tom term – “…really start drilling down on this thing.”
I raised my glass and said jovially, “Here’s to drilling down!”
“And to catching a murderer,” the detective added as we clinked glasses and slugged back our last mouthfuls of fine whiskey.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 14
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 1/7 MOD Report
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Saturday, January 7th
 
Weather: 34/28 Light rain/freezing drizzle                                                                       
Occupancy: 68%
Arrivals: 538                                                                                                              
Departures: 336   
 
Event Resume:
	Sky Ballroom (8 p.m. - midnight) – Johnson/Lawson wedding & reception

 
	Triton Club (Open 4 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Blue Velvet Room (7 p.m. – 10:00 p.m.) – Harold Francis Chicago Swing Band 

 
* * *
 
We thoroughly enjoyed the radio broadcast from the Lake Ballroom, and I began to hope that this sort of event caught on at the hotel, regularly bringing back the ambiance and historical relevance of our famed property.  The ballroom was packed for the performance.  The champagne flowed freely, and it was nice to relax and listen to programs that harkened back to the days of yore.
The detective and I enjoyed sumptuous four-course meals befitting the event.  For our appetizers, I partook in crab cakes served with a chipotle apple sauce while the detective chose lobster meatballs that were lightly coated with Italian-seasoned bread crumbs and served with a creamy honey-cinnamon dipping sauce.  As our salad selections, I went with the Caesar while the detective had a sesame shrimp and green bean salad served with a light honey-mustard dressing.  
We were already getting full by the time our entrees arrived.  The detective laid into his 16-ounce N.Y. strip steak that was served with mushrooms, potato medallions, and grilled asparagus with fortitude and gusto.  And while I loved a good steak, I was in the mood for something different so I went with the veal chop stuffed with mushrooms, garlic marinated spinach, and mozzarella, and served with parmesan mashed potatoes and green beans.
Thankfully, after all that, desserts were light yet delicious servings of spumoni ice cream accompanied by two delicate gingerbread wafers and a small peppermint stick served in gleaming silver bowls.
As the show drifted on; so did we.  The detective and I were both so stuffed with food and champagne and so completely relaxed by the soothing songs and stories that we were listening to that our heads were bobbing dreamily by the program’s end.  It wasn’t that the show wasn’t fantastically interesting.  But with the warmth of the ballroom, our full bellies, and finding it extremely easy to close our eyes and envision in our minds the places and characters that were being described in the broadcast, it became such a calming environment that it was hard not to doze off from time to time.
We had no desire to further discuss the case after the show ended.  Therefore, I booked the detective a room so that he didn’t have to drive home after all the drinks.  Meanwhile, I retired to my own suite where I quickly undressed, hunkered down in my bed, and was asleep almost instantly.
 
 
* * *
 
 
The next morning I was up bright and early and even beat the detective downstairs.  It was barely 6 a.m., but I had something on my mind that I wanted to check out before he arose.
At the front office, Kristen was typing away at a general-use computer we had set up for the supervisors and shift managers who didn’t have their own work stations.
“Good morning.  Working on the manager report?” I greeted her.
“Yes, I’m almost finished,” she turned to look at me as I passed.  “You’re up bright and early.”
“Have a good night?”
“Pretty good.  A couple minor issues with the wedding, and we had to call security to take Mr. Stoddard back to his room in a wheel chair.”
“Oh no,” I said, stopping to hear what had happened to our guest of honor.  “Did he hurt himself?”
Kristen just shook her head and went back to typing, “Drank too much and then twisted his ankle going after the young gal who jumped out of his birthday cake.”
I just chuckled and continued to my office.  Sitting down at my computer, I opened the front desk screen and then clicked on the “Lost and Found” tab.
Hotel lost and found items remained active in the system for 180 days before they were disposed of, at which point they were either given to the employee who turned the item in, put in a “freebie” bin if that particular employee didn’t take it, or the item was thrown away if no one took it after a few days.  Certain items like cell phone, computer, or European outlet adapters were kept in bins in the lost and found room since guests were always misplacing or forgetting such items and we could often match their electronic device with something we had in our bin of leftovers.  
The records of disposed items remained in the front desk system for another six months.  That made the total retention time a full year until the record was ultimately purged from the computer’s memory only after a hardcopy record was printed and filed for posterity.
I had the option of sorting our lost and found records by date (or date range), description, or location of where the item was discovered.  I started with the “description” field.  I typed “knife” and hit the enter button.  I left the date range at “all” so that I pulled records going back as far as possible.
A list of 39 records appeared.  I began the process of clicking each item and reading its description one at a time.  I found what I was looking for at record number 27.  According to the system, this particular item had been disposed of in September.  The description read as follows: “Eight-inch knife, four-inch blade.  Initials, ‘D.E.P.’ engraved on side of knife’s wood handle.”
The knife had been recovered back in March, in the ninth floor stairwell by a room attendant named Lydia Cockscomb, a long-term employee of the hotel.  It had been turned in to security by housekeeping floor manager Claudia Meeks, and logged into the system by the dispatch guard on duty that day…Elon Hernandez.
“Bingo!” I said, printing the page with the record’s information.
Unfortunately, we didn’t keep records on who ultimately claimed the leftover lost and found items.  Most of them went to the people that found them or security guards since they were the ones charged with regularly cleaning out the lost and found room.  The job could be a sizeable one considering the number of left items in a hotel the Lanigan’s size, so the leftovers were looked at as an added bonus for the security guard or guards charged with the duty.  They often got some pretty nice swag.  Everything from tech gadgets to brand new clothing, books, bags, jewelry, accessories, and more were up for grabs.  This made the job of sorting through things like soiled clothing, nasty toiletries, and other unsavory items more tolerable.  If I could have proved that Elon had claimed the knife upon its disposal, it would definitely have firmed up the case against him, but this was better than nothing.  Still, all that could really be proven with the discovery was that Elon had logged the knife, not that he had claimed it or used it to commit a murder.
The detective came downstairs shortly after my discovery, and like me, was pleased to see what I’d found, but he also agreed that it wasn’t enough.  He said he’d have to talk to the room attendant who’d found the knife as well as the manager who had turned it over to security to see whether they had claimed it.
“I pray to god they didn’t,” he said.  “If they did, we’ll have a whole new path to go down to figure out how the knife got from one of them to the killer…or if one of them was involved in some way,” he added.  The detective stood in my office thinking for a minute, and then he folded the printout I’d given him and put it in his navy blue suit’s breast pocket.  “Help me get something out of my car, would you Haze?” he asked after a moment.
“Sure,” I nodded.
“I’m gone,” Kristen peeked her head inside my office door.  “Hi,” she nodded to the detective.
“Good morning,” he replied with a nod.
“Sleep well,” I told her.
“Thanks,” she waved.
After she was gone, the detective said, “She’s a cute one, Haze.  Why haven’t you ever gone after her?”
“Who says I haven’t?” I eyed him slyly.
“I am a detective,” he said.  “I get paid to read people.  And I can read you two like a large-print book.  There’s something there, but neither of you have the guts to act on it.”
“Oh come on,” I threw my hands up.  “I have the guts, but this is work.  I can’t just go around jumping in the sack with every cute employee that looks at me twice.  I’d have a litany of harassment suits on my hands.”
“She’s more than just a cute employee though, Haze.  She’s got brains, a personality…seems like her only fault is that she’s got eyes for you,” he grinned.
I took a deep breath.  “No time for love, Marino.  I’ve got a wife, and her name is Lanigan.  She takes all the love, affection, and attention I can muster.”
The detective just looked at me.  “I don’t give advice too often, but I think you’re in need.  You aren’t getting any younger.  You don’t want to look back in twenty years when you’re old and gray and realize you traded a wife and a life for a pile of bricks and mortar.  And that’s all I’ll say about it.”
“Good,” I said.  “Now what is it we have to get out of your car?”
“You’ll see,” the detective smiled.
 
* * *
 
 
It took quite some effort, about 15 minutes, and numerous stares from confused and somewhat concerned guests to haul the life-sized, full-weight dummy, and a long coil of rope from the hotel’s attached parking garage upstairs to the 15th floor linen closet.
“Where’d you get this thing?” I asked as we struggled to load the body onto a bell cart I’d retrieved once I saw what the detective had inside his car’s trunk.
“First off, it’s not a thing.  Her name is Jessica.  She’s one of our CPR practice dummies,” he explained.  “They didn’t like what they heard when I told them my plans for her, but I took her anyway.”
“What are we going to do with it?” I asked.
“Her,” the detective corrected.  “Just a little test,” he gave me a half smile.
I made sure that we took the service elevator up to fifteen to avoid frightening any more guests.  I failed in my efforts however when we pushed our way into the floor’s linen closet only to be met with a high-pitched shriek from a terrified room attendant.  It was Isabelle Landen, a sixty-something-year-old room attendant who had worked at the hotel for nearly 20 years.
“Dear lordy me,” she said, holding a hand to her chest and taking deep breathes.  “You done near gave me a heart attack, Mr. Haze.  I heard about the guest getting tossed down the chute up here, and you had me believin’ you was a pair a murderers done brought another body to dump.”
“I’m sorry, Isabelle.  Didn’t mean to give you a start.  Detective Marino and I are just conducting a little test.”
“Oh,” she said, taking a few more deep breathes and eyeing Jessica.  “Well let me get out of your way before you do…whatever you’re going to do with that, that…thing,” she pushed her cart past us and out the linen closet door.
“Okay,” the detective said once we were alone, “Mr. Statler was five foot nine, one hundred and sixty pounds, which is a bit bigger than this dummy, but she’ll be somewhat representative of a life-sized human.  We need to see just how difficult it would be for Elon Hernandez to get Statler loaded into the linen chute.”
“With just one good hand,” I added.
“Right,” the detective nodded.  “He had a prosthetic, but it wouldn’t be of much help in holding the chute open since he couldn’t really grab or hold with it.”
After tying the length of rope the detective had brought with him to the end of Jessica’s feet to keep us from loosing her down the linen chute, we each took our turn attempting to load her inside.
The detective went first.  He tried Jessica head first, then feet first.  It was a struggle to say the least.  By the time I gave it a shot, we’d learned that the best way to make the attempt was by hefting Jessica up along one side our bodies so that one hand held the chute door open while the other held Jessica’s torso between our arm and midsection.  Then we could hold the linen chute open while flopping Jessica, head first, down onto the chute door.  With the weight of her head and shoulders holding down the self-closing door, we could maneuver the rest of her inside.
What we really learned from our trials was that it took two hands to complete the process of using the linen chute to dispose of a body.  One hand was necessary to hold the chute door open during the first stage of the loading process; otherwise, it would self-close on its hydraulic hinges.  Another hand was needed to manhandle the body onto the chute door once it was open.  Even then, it was a difficult process for two strong and able-bodied individuals like the detective and me.  And the whole time, I was having flashbacks to my dream of being dumped inside the chute, and trying my best not to fathom just what poor Mr. Statler had gone through.
By the time we were done with our experiment, the detective and I were hot, sweaty and breathing hard.  Worst of all, we felt defeated since our efforts had largely proven that it would be extremely difficult, if not impossible, for a man with Elon Hernandez’s disability to accomplish the feat…at least unassisted.  And if we weren’t confident it could be done, how could we expect a prosecutor to convince a jury that it was possible?  
Defense attorneys would point out every impossibility of Mr. Hernandez – disabled war vet, military hero, security guard at the prestigious Lanigan Hotel – having accomplished it.
 
 
* * *
 
 
As we hauled Jessica back out to Detective Marino’s car, he asked me, “So tell me, Haze, how does a young, good looking, reasonably successful guy like Statler end up having an affair with a room attendant?  Don’t get me wrong, I’m not knocking room attendants, but it just seems like an odd pairing.  I could see a security guard knocking boots with a housekeeper…the close proximity of their workplace, plenty of opportunity, and they’re both on about the same income level.  I’m just trying to get into the head of a young, single, college-educated guy with a nearly six-figure income shacking up with a single-mother of two who never made it through high school and is working as a room cleaner.” 
I shrugged, “What do they say?  Love knows no bounds?”
“Yeah, I get that, but…I don’t know, it just doesn’t add up.  I mean, he must have just been using her for the sex.  It couldn’t have been much more than that, right?  I highly doubt he had plans of marriage in mind.  And she had to have known it.  You would think it would have been kind of…I don’t know, degrading or demeaning for her.  A rich college boy from the suburbs, fancy job, nice salary, staying at a top-tier hotel like the Lanigan, using one of the staff as his sex toy.  She had to realize that it wouldn’t last.”
I took a deep breath.  “I think it’s hard to understand unless you work around room attendants…work with them.  They’re an interesting lot.  Most of them are pretty tough birds.  Their work is extremely physical, yet monotonous and certainly thankless.  While that seems to harden them in some ways, many come from rough backgrounds to begin with, and a lot of them have jumped through any number of hoops just to get to this country in the first place.  A good number have dealt with abusive or at least stressful situations and relationships at home or as children, and most endure tough financial situations since their pay isn’t that great.  This means that they often have a kind of steeled exterior.  Then they have to deal with the jibs that are thrown at them from extremely detail-oriented managers, and pushy, sometimes arrogant guests.  Add to this that other departments within the hotel tend to look down at room attendants and the housekeeping department in general.  All this added together can really punish them when it comes to self-confidence.  A lot of them are just looking for someone to be nice to them for once, to say a kind word or two, to appreciate them for something, even if it’s just for their bodies or their abilities in the sack.  So say a guest like Derrick Statler, a handsome, smart, well-educated, successful young man takes a minute to talk nice to one of them, say Felicia Gonzalez for example.  He shows her some attention and maybe even a little respect.  Just that little bit of attention can make a world of difference, and, as in this instance, apparently led to something more.”
We had made it out to the parking garage with Jessica riding on the bell cart.
“I guess I can see that,” the detective nodded.  “He was a lonely traveler, she was a hard-working single mom.  Both were looking for something they found in the other and with very little attachment.”
“Problem for Mr. Statler was, there was an attachment…in the form of Elon Hernandez,” I added.
“Was there?” the detective said.  “You saw how hard it was to load Jessica into the chute with two hands.  And right now, all our evidence is circumstantial.  There’s no way I’d get a prosecutor to take what we have so far to trial.”
We stopped in back of the detective’s car.
“Yeah,” I huffed.  “I know.  There’s got to be something else.  I know there has to be something else, something we’re missing…something that Elon is trying to hide…or was trying to find that we didn’t catch.  Why else would he have been in the linen sorting room trying to set the place on fire?”
“If that was even him,” the detective sighed.
“So what’s the next step?” I asked uncertainly.
“I’ve got to get Jessica back to the office.  I’ll follow up on the lost and found murder weapon this afternoon.  If you could call me with the contact information on the room attendant who found it and the floor manager who turned it in, that would be great.”
“Sure,” I nodded.  “You going to arrest Elon?”
“Not yet,” the detective said.  “I’m hoping that he slips up somewhere and points us toward whatever it is we’ve been missing and that he’s been trying to hide.”
“And if not?” I asked as we loaded Jessica inside the detective’s trunk.
He shrugged as he closed the trunk.  “Don’t know. We’ll just have to play it by ear.”
We shook hands.  “I’ll call you with that information shortly,” I said.
“Thanks,” he nodded as he climbed inside his car and started the engine.
 
 
* * *
 
 
The rest of the day was a continuous blur of phone calls, emails, guest service issues, and collecting the contact information Detective Marino had requested.  By the time I had a chance to look at the clock it was already four-thirty.  I hadn’t eaten since just after the detective had left earlier in the morning, and my stomach was growling.  But I didn’t feel like doing battle with Habeebee downstairs.  I’d rather have five ounces of well-prepared food than five pounds of grease-laden slop.  Therefore, I headed downstairs to the Triton Club.  They had a short list of appetizers and light sandwiches, and I figured that at this time on a Saturday, the club wouldn’t be too crowded.  I wanted a respite from the constant crush of people stopping by the front desk with questions and problems.
Conversely, 1B was refreshingly quiet.  A few guests meandered the halls, exploring.  They peeked their heads inside the just-opened Triton Club to check it out and read the menu out front of the Polynesian Restaurant.  There, they could note the hours for the Polynesian’s stage show that featured Larry Mozuma, the long-time dinner show host.  Larry performed as the bare-chested “King Drinky-Drinky” while pronouncing the crowd his tribe, “You-Drinky-Lotsy”.  Meanwhile, scantily-clad native girls wearing hula skirts and coconut brassieres danced, sang, and gyrated.  Diners could gorge themselves on delicious island-themed foods.  One of my favorite dishes was the poly-poly fried rice that, similar to the ‘Magic’ fried rice from my favorite Chinese restaurant, had beef, pork, chicken, shrimp, lobster, and crab mixed in.  They could wash it all down with the nectar of the gods – a Cocaroon-colata.  The drink was a strongly-mixed, ambrosia-like, rum-based concoction that was far more dangerous than it tasted. They went down smooth but could really knock your socks off.  A few too many could put you down faster than a horse tranquilizer.  
The thought of these sumptuous treats had my mouth watering.  I sat down at the Triton Club’s bar, its fresh lacquer still gleaming even in the dimly lit lounge.  I ordered a “Bogart” – a grilled chicken sandwich with a thin slice of avocado, melted mozzarella, bacon, lettuce, and a touch of honey mustard dressing – and a Tom Collins to drink.  I wasn’t quite sitting in a Casablanca-style gin-joint befitting the sandwich’s name, but I felt it appropriate to at least order a gin-blended cocktail to accompany it.
As I sat sipping my drink and waiting for my food to arrive, I noted a dark form pass by the club’s entrance.  The figure was pushing a cart, and a moment later, I realized that it was Linda Evans, one of the housekeeping public space attendants who had a portion of her cleaning route on 1B.  
I had met Linda a little over a year ago when she was working her route down here one day.  We had got to chatting about her history at the Lanigan, a history that I was amazed and frankly excited to discover involved working at the original Triton Club when it was open during the late-60s and early-70s.  She had regaled me with tales of her time spent at the club “back in the day,” and had even taken me on a tour of the then defunct club space.
I stood from my bar stool and walked over to the club entrance.  I could see Linda pushing her cart down 1B’s wide thoroughfare.  I hurried to catch up with her.
“Linda!” I called.
She stopped and turned around from pushing her cart.  “Oh, Robert.  How are you?”
“Been busy,” I said, sauntering up beside her as she began pushing her cart toward the service elevators again.
She leaned over and whispered confidentially, “I heard there was another murder.”
“Yeah,” I frowned.  “So where are you headed?” I asked, looking to change the subject.
“Back upstairs.  My shift is almost over.  Got a little overtime today.”
“Good for you,” I smiled, glad to hear she was getting her hours.  “Hey,” I said suddenly.  “I have an idea.  Why don’t you join me for a bite to eat at the club?  I just put in an order,” I explained as we entered the back landing area and she called one of the service elevators.
“Well that sounds just delightful.  Just let me take my cart upstairs, clock out and change, and I’ll be right along.”
“Perfect,” I said, perking up at having a little company in the momentarily quiet club. 
The service elevator dinged and its shiny steel doors slid open.  I helped Linda push her cart inside.  As the cart hit the small gap between the landing floor and the edge of the elevator, it was jostled just enough to knock the broom and mop askew from their upright positions, sending them sliding off to one side.  I quickly grabbed hold of their handles and righted them, ensuring that they were better positioned for when Linda exited the elevator.
“Thank you,” she said.  “See you in a few.”
“I’ll be waiting.  You want me to order you something?” I asked as the door began to close.
“That would be perfect.  Whatever you want, I trust your judgment!” she called as the door shut.
I went back to the club and put in an order for a cherry soda, the drink I typically noticed stashed in the bottom of Linda’s cleaning cart whenever I saw her, and the “Mirror Ball” sandwich that had smoked ham, brie, lettuce, tomato, and mayo on sourdough bread.
Linda joined me about ten minutes later in regular attire.  “My goodness,” she gazed around her as she sat down on a bar stool beside me.  “I haven’t been in here since I took you on that tour of the place last year, before it was all fixed up. My, how time flies,” she shook her head.  “The place looks beautiful…better than when I worked here.  I’m glad so see they kept old Bushy over there,” she nodded and smiled toward the wooden fisherman.  “Place just wouldn’t be the same without him.”
Our food was served a few minutes later and we chatted, ate, and discussed 1B and its history.  Then we talked about what was going on in our lives and Linda’s plan for retirement, a goal she hoped to achieve in the next year or two.
“Nothing’s set in stone yet, but it’s something to shoot for.  My body’s tired; but I’m afraid that if I leave the hotel, I just won’t find the sense of purpose that I have here.”
“I can see that,” I agreed.  
“It’s hard to make time for yourself when the Lanigan is such a big part of your life.  Haven’t had much time to develop hobbies and the likes over the past couple decades,” Linda went on.  “I need more than dragging a broom or a mop around my home to keep me occupied.”
“Mmm,” I agreed, taking a bite of my sandwich.  
Something was suddenly bothering me – something about the case.  I couldn’t quite put my finger on it, but it was as though while Linda was talking to me, 1B was whispering in my ear.  I just couldn’t make out what it was saying.  I’d seen, heard or experienced something down here that related to the Statler murder.  I could feel it.  What that “something” was though, I just couldn’t say.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 15
 
 
It was almost two in the morning when my eyes flickered open in my darkened bedroom.  I shifted under the covers, adjusting the sheet that had tangled itself under my shoulder.  Then I pounded my pillow with a fist to fluff and reform it.
I lay for a moment, and then turned over, hoping the adjustment might help me get back to sleep.  My stomach gurgled, and I realized that the sandwich I’d eaten at the Triton Club hadn’t gone far enough to fill my belly.  I wasn’t sure if heading downstairs to grab a bite to eat in the cafeteria, only to fall into the clutches of Habeebee, was worth it or not.    
As I lay pondering my dilemma, I suddenly had the craziest itch.  It was right in the center of my back about halfway between the middle of my back and my shoulder blades.  I sat up in bed and tried reaching it but quickly realized it was located either just above or just below the spots that I could reach.  It was one of those itches that wouldn’t go away.  In fact, it grew exponentially worse over the next few seconds.  I threw myself onto my back, wriggling in an attempt to relieve myself of the aggravation.  In itch-induced agony, I tore away the covers and jumped out of bed.  I hustled over to my armoire, reaching up to its top, fishing in the darkness for an item I kept for just such occasions.  My hand bumped against what I was looking for, and I grabbed it, my wooden backscratcher – the single man’s best friend.  
I rammed it down the back of my t-shirt, raking it up and down again my skin.  After finding that a few light passes weren’t enough to satisfy the irritable tickling, I pressed harder for the next few passes, and then even harder.  I could feel the thin wood of the backscratcher bend under the pressure, and finally, as the itch subsided, it snapped in two.
“Darn!” I hissed, pulling the top of the stick out while the other half fell out of the bottom of my t-shirt onto the floor.
I walked over to the window and yanked one of the curtains aside.  The city lights outside provided a soft glow of illumination.  I could feel the cold outside trying to push its way through the window glass.  I looked down at the half broken backscratcher I still held in my hand.  The piece was about eight inches long and had broken so that one end was sheered off in a jagged point.  The sight of it made me glad I hadn’t gouged my back with it, but more than that, it made me think of something else – it was that something I hadn’t been able to put my finger on earlier in the evening.
I dropped the piece of wood backscratcher, threw on a pair of pants, the nearest shirt available – a dress shirt – and a pair of shoes.  Then I dashed out of my room and down the hallway to the back landing where I rode a service elevator downstairs.
“Please don’t be empty!  Please don’t be empty!  Please don’t be empty!” I chanted while I bounced nervously in anticipation of finding what I hoped would still be where I’d left it in the linen sorting room.
Frank had said they only changed the big barrel trash can once or twice a month. I just prayed I wasn’t too late.  
I waited impatiently.  It seemed like the service elevator was crawling tonight, but finally the floor indicator for “2B” illuminated.
I hurried out of the elevator and hooked a left down the dimly lit sub-basement corridor.  As I walked, I realized that it was silly to be in such a hurry.  With the linen sorting room still closed after the murder, there was no way the trash would have been emptied since the discovery of the body.  Still, something told me to move faster than my logic dictated.  
It was eerily quiet on 2B at this time of night, even more so than usual.  It kind of gave me the creeps.  I slowed my hurried pace as I approached the linen sorting room door.  The crime scene tape was still affixed, though in a different way from what I remembered the last time I was here.  I figured the investigatory crew Detective Marino had sent over a few days ago had probably disturbed the tape that was now hanging loosely from one side of the door.
I don’t know why, maybe it was the crime scene tape, but I looked nervously from side to side, ensuring that I was indeed alone before pushing my way through the door.  
The lights were on inside.  I walked into the room and stopped in its center. I did another quick double check, scanning my surroundings to ensure the room was empty.
It was.  No…wait, it wasn’t!
A figure was crouched over by the big barrel trash can.  A pile of trash had been pulled from within the barrel and was sprinkled around the floor beside it.  
“Hey!” I said, starting toward the figure.
The person stood, and I could now see that it was a man – mid-sized in stature, probably about six feet tall, maybe 180 pounds, with a regular build.  It took me a moment, since he wasn’t in uniform, but I recognized the man as security guard Elon Hernandez.  
As soon as we made eye contact, he bolted from where he’d apparently hoped to remain hidden and shot across the room past me and out the entry doors.
“Elon!” I cried as I gave chase.  “Wait!” But he was already gone.
I sprinted out of the sorting room and down the corridor after him.  I rounded the corner into the service elevator landing just as Elon bolted through a stairway door leading upstairs.  I followed him, wondering what in the hell I’d do if I caught up to him.
I was probably 20 steps behind Elon when I heard the door to the street level open above me.  The door was just closing when I reached it.  I shoved it back open and darted out into the currently deserted arcade.  I glanced left and right toward the side entrances, both of which were closed and locked at this time of night.  Knowing this, Elon had headed straight for the hotel’s main entrance.  I could see him about 40 yards ahead of me running down the arcade’s wide, shop-lined thoroughfare.  Half of me hoped he’d escape.  Then I could just report the incident to Detective Marino and let him deal with it.  But the M.O.D. half of me said that it was my duty to give chase – and so I did, realizing that my attempt was likely in vain since Elon had such a head start.
 Just as I reached the mid-point of the arcade, I could see Elon hit the hotel’s front entrance, but at that exact moment, who should come in through the revolving main entry doors but Sergeants Grakowski and Mitts.
“Lunch time!” I breathed to myself as I slowed my pace.  “GRAB HIM!” I shouted, my voice reverberating through the travertine and marble halls.
The two sergeants sprung into action.  Well, maybe “sprung” is a strong word.  More like lumbered.  A few too many Habeebee meals at 2 a.m. had packed the pounds onto them, especially during the long Chicago winter.
Like two bears awakening from hibernation, it took the men a while to get moving, but they took off after Elon nonetheless, halting the fleeing security guard’s progress and re-routing him.
“Lock down the hotel!” I yelled to Doug, our night security sergeant who was manning the main entrance.  “Don’t let Elon out!”
Doug immediately radioed other members of security to position themselves at the hotel’s rear dock and the front entrance, the only two ways out of the hotel at this time of night.
Stuck between me and the two pursuing officers, Elon chose to head back toward the less intimidating of the two options (me).  But right before he reached where I stood bracing myself for his impact, he ducked into a nearby stairwell entrance.  
My confidence bolstered by the arrival of Grakowski and Mitts, I took off up the stairs behind him in hot pursuit, hoping as I did so that Elon wasn’t armed.    
As I clambered up the stairs, the two police sergeants behind me, I quickly realized that Elon was gaining distance on us.  Being in better shape from so much walking of the hotel on his security rounds, I could hear the sound of his footsteps fading above us and eventually disappear altogether right around the time I reached the seventh floor.  I’d estimated that he had ducked into a guest hallway somewhere around the ninth or tenth floor.  I could hear the sergeants huffing and puffing several floors below me, and as I continued up the stairs, taking two at a time, I heard the stairwell door close one floor above me just as I reached the ninth floor landing.  
Once I made it to the tenth floor a few seconds later, I paused, waiting for Grakowski and Mitts to arrive on the scene.  Knowing that we’d have the hotel buttoned up tight in a matter of minutes, it wouldn’t take long for Elon to realize that his goose was cooked.  He might be able to hide out for an hour or two, but eventually, he’d turn up.  More than anything, I was worried about him taking a hostage.  If he felt trapped, and he had enough time to roam the hotel, he might become desperate enough to try something stupid.  Having him endanger an employee or another of our guests was the last thing I wanted.
The two sergeants finally made it up to the tenth floor a few moments later, red-faced, wheezing, and sucking wind.  We all exited into the hallway together.
“Haze…” Grakowski gasp, “…you stay here…and watch the elevators.   Make sure…he doesn’t double back.”  He took another huge breath, “You take left…” he said to Mitts, “…I’ll take right.”
And with that, off they charged, leaving me standing there on guard duty, never having asked why I wanted this person detained but acting upon my request nonetheless.  Guess they felt they owed me after all those free meals.
I could hear their footsteps fade as they pounded off down the hallways in either direction.  As soon as they were gone, I saw Elon dart from a nearby vending machine nook and run in the opposite direction of where I stood.
“Elon…wait!” I called after him, but he was around the corner and gone before I’d finished my words.  “GROKOWSKI!  MITTS!” I yelled, but I didn’t wait for them to return, taking off again after Elon.
It took me just seconds to round the corner where Elon had vanished.  I scanned the corridors around me but saw nothing.  If he’d stayed in the hallway, I’d have seen him.  I looked around me and saw the linen closet.
“Bingo!” I breathed softly to myself.
I unlocked the linen closet door with my M.O.D. floor master key.  I assumed that Elon, as a member of security and having access to a key making machine, had likely manufactured or stolen a similar key for himself.
“Elon?” I said as I pushed the door open hesitantly with a foot.  
There was no response.
Ready for anything, I flipped the closet light on.
“Elon!” I called again.  “The gig’s up!” I immediately felt like an idiot for spouting such a foolishly old-time phrase.  To much listening to old radio shows I guess.  “Come on out.  The police will be here any second.”
I looked around the room but saw no one.  I figured he was probably hiding behind one of the shelving units or around, or even in, one of the carts.  
Keeping a wary eye out for any signs of movement, I began to walk slowly around the room.  I could see that Elon wasn’t behind any of the shelves to my right, so I moved cautiously to where the room attendant and houseperson carts were lined up.  First, I checked around the carts.  Finding no one, I began going through the houseperson carts one by one, peeking inside and peering beneath any soiled linens to ensure that he wasn’t hiding beneath them.  But there was no Elon.
“Damn!” I hissed, confused as to where he could have gone.
I turned around, heading back to the door.  As I turned the handle to push my way out to the hallway and reached over to the wall on my right to flip off the light switch, I noticed that the linen chute door was opened about an inch.  At the top of the door protruded a curled row of four fingers, gripping the edge of the steel door tightly.
“Elon!” I cried, letting go of the door handle.  “I see your hand!  Come on out!”
“I can’t!” he cried, his voice muffled inside the steel chute.  “I’m loosing my grip.  Please…help me!”  
He sounded scared, and I couldn’t say I blamed him.
I couldn’t believe he’d be so stupid as to hide inside the chute, and even though I knew what he’d done to Derrick Statler, I didn’t hesitate to try to assist him.  With lightening quick speed, I moved over to the linen chute door, but just as I grabbed hold of the handle and prepared to carefully pull the door open, the fingertips slid silently away and disappeared from view.  A fraction of a second later, I heard fingernails scrabbling against metal, then silence, and the then the thumping bumping sound of arms, elbows and knees banging against the interior sides of the chute, the sounds rapidly descending away from me.  
Then there was silence.
I opened the chute door and craned my head inside to take a peek over its door and down its tubular innards.  I could see a distant spot of light and a small dark shape at the bottom of the shaft a dozen stories below.  Several seconds later, I was back out in the hallway gathering Sergeants Grakowski and Mitts for the grim task of recovering Elon’s body from where it had exited down in the 2B linen sorting room.
While I had pangs of sympathy for Elon, after knowing what he’d done to poor Derrick Statler, I couldn’t say I felt all that bad.  And I had to admit, it was a fitting comeuppance.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAPTER 16
 
 
To: allstaff.lanigan@sharedresorts.com
Subject: 2/14 MOD Report
 
THE LANIGAN HOTEL
 
CHICAGO, IL 
 
 
MANAGER ON DUTY REPORT
Tuesday, February 14th
 
Weather: 38/33  Rain                                                                       
Occupancy: 78%
Arrivals: 873                                                                                                              
Departures: 389   
 
Event Resume:
	Sky Ballroom (9 a.m. – 4 p.m.) – Lighthouse Electric Products leadership conference

 
	6th Floor Meeting Rooms – Oak, Elm, Sycamore – Consolidated Group team building exercises

 
	Triton Club (Open 4 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge (Open 6 p.m. – 1 a.m.)

 
	Blue Velvet Room (9 p.m. – midnight) – Sweatheart Ball

 
	Grand Ballroom (6 p.m. – 9 p.m.) – Valentine’s Day Candlelight Dinner w/ orchestra accompaniment

 
 
**HAPPY VALENTINE’S DAY!!!! **
 
 
* * *
 
 
It was Valentine’s Day, and for the first time in years, I had a date for the occasion.
It wasn’t quite six o’clock, and Kristen and I had a few minutes until the doors opened and seating began for the hotel’s annual Valentine’s Day candlelight dinner.  This years event was to be set to the melodic tunes of the Bohemian Spaetzle Orchestra.  
With time to kill, we walked over to Carlisle’s Whiskey Lounge to grab a pre-dinner cocktail.  The lobby was astir with couples celebrating the occasion.  Many of the women wore red gowns, slinky red skirts, or sequined dresses, most that appeared to be vacuum-suctioned to their bodies.  Some of the men wore red ties, had red handkerchiefs in their coat breast pockets, had affixed a rose to their lapel, or were sporting a similar red garnish.  I even saw one man sitting on a lobby chair, leg propped upon a knee, exposing crimson socks.
I personally had chosen a tie bearing tiny bare-butted Cupids shooting arrows through hearts as my personal adornment in honor of the day.
Carlisle’s was also full of love birds.  Many of them were nestled at tiny tables for two, hunkered over their drinks holding hands, caressing shoulders, or rubbing knees.  And of course, Marv was at the bar to heighten the mood.
“Every time I see you here, you’ve got someone new in tow,” he leered at me.  “Last time it was that hunky dick, now it’s this vivacious vulpine.  You’d better watch yourself with this cat,” he addressed Kristen.
“Don’t I know it,” Kristen smirked, giving me sideways eyes, playing along with Marv’s little game.  “That’s why I have a police escort tonight.”
“Oh yeah?” Marv eyed her with interest.
“Yep,” Kristen nodded almost proudly.  “Detective Marino is meeting us for dinner and a show.”
“You sly dog,” Marv leaned in to me.  “A little threesome, hmmm?”
“Marv!” I said in surprise, but not at what he’d said.  “What’s that around your neck?”
He looked down, confused at the chain hanging out from beneath his shirt.  “What?  This old thing?” he pointed to a half-broken heart dangling from the end of the chain.  “Why I’ve had this for years.  Used to be another half to it, but I gave it to my old love.”
“Marv, I like you, but I’m sorry to say that I’m certainly not your ‘love’.”
“What?” he frowned, not understanding.
“The other half.  You left it in my mailbox Christmas morning.”
“Is that where it went,” he breathed.  “I thought that dirty queen I was with at the Christmas party still had it.  I didn’t realize I’d given it to you.”
“You didn’t tell me about this,” Kristen nudged me forcefully in the ribs, giving me a faux glare.  “You two-timing son-of-a-gun.  Getting it on with Marv behind my back?”
“You don’t remember bringing it down to the front desk?” I asked Marv, choosing to ignore Kristen.
“Oh come on, hon’.  I don’t remember much of anything about that night.  You of all people ought to know that, considering you were there for me and my honey’s post-party pow-wow.  Probably why you ended up with my little love locket there.  I was so far gone you could have stood me up on the corner out front and sold my pretty little butt to some tall, dark, and handsome, and I wouldn’t have been the wiser.”
“Well…at least that’s one more mystery off my plate,” I said.
“So what’ll it be?” Marv asked.
I looked at Kristen, awaiting her order.  “I think I’ll just have a glass of Merlot,” she said after a moment’s consideration.  
“Sister, you’re going to need more than that if you’re planning to jump his bones later tonight.  You gotta have somethin’ that’ll get your hormones all riled up.”
“Oh…okaaaay…” Kristen drawled uncertainly.
“I think one of my special Valentine’s Day cosmos would be just perfect,” Marv sizzled without waiting for Kristen to decide.
“And for you…you dirty scoundrel and owner of my broken heart?”
“I think a vodka martini with two olives ought to do the trick,” I offered.
“Good selection,” Marv agreed.
Marv moved off to fix our drinks.
“I’m looking forward to tonight,” Kristen said once he was gone.
“Me too,” I smiled at her.
“I’ve been looking forward to it since you asked me several weeks ago,” she added, touching my arm lightly.
I had to admit, Kristen looked spectacular tonight – just the right mix of class and sex appeal to drive any man (heterosexual man that is) with a libido crazy.  She’d gotten her typically ponytailed shoulder-length blonde locks done so that they cascaded down around her in soft waves, framing her angelic face.  She’d applied a light layer of makeup and red lipstick that gave her youthful countenance the right amount of maturity.  And she’d extended and enhanced her lovely lashes, giving her eyes a wider, rounder appearance and adding to her spry, fresh look.
She wore red velvet heels and a tight – but not inappropriately so – one-piece sleeveless dress that extended to five inches above the knee.  As she sat waiting for me in my office, I noticed that it rode up slightly, intriguingly, enticingly when she sat, and especially when she crossed her shapely legs.  She wore small diamond stud earrings and a delicate silver watch on her wrist as her only jewelry, and she carried a tiny hard-shell purse with a red beaded exterior.  It looked just big enough to fit a tube of lipstick and a tissue inside if she really crammed it full.  The accessories added just enough to accentuate her simple but sexy attire. 
Looking at her, I was surprised to find myself relieved that Detective Marino was joining us as guest and chaperone.  I was a gentleman, and the work relationship between Kristen and me was certainly a consideration, but I was only human.
Marv was back shortly with our drinks.  We thanked him and accepted our libations.  
“I’ll make sure you get the other half of your locket back,” I told him.    
“You go ahead and hold onto that now, sweetie…just in case things don’t work out with your little friend there tonight,” he nodded at Kristen and then gave me a wink.
Good ‘ol Marv.
 
 
* * *
 
 
Kristen and I, drinks in hand, walked arm-in-arm to the guest elevators and rode one up to the fourth floor where the Valentine’s Day gala was being held.  I guided her to the Grand Ballroom where we presented our tickets.  Upon entrance, we found the ballroom’s chandeliers turned down low and the room ablaze with the luminous glow of hundreds of tabletop candles.  I escorted her through the vast sea of tables to the stairway where we climbed the stairs slowly, Kristen’s stability on three-inch heels coming as a priority, to our balcony perch high above the masses.  It was the same balcony where Jason, Kristen, and I had enjoyed observing the hotel’s holiday party a few months prior.  A small table set for three was awaiting us.  A candelabra with three tall candles set in the table’s center cast their dim glow about the cozy space.  We stopped and stood briefly, absorbing the romantic scene.
“This is just lovely,” Kristen smiled at me, squeezing my hand but only for an instant.
We set our drinks on the table and I pulled out Kristen’s chair for her and waited for her to sit.
I took a seat across from her, leaving the center seat between us for our guest of honor, Detective Marino.  But really I just wanted a seat positioned so that I could secretly gaze upon the lovely dinner guest across from me without appearing too lecherous.
The detective arrived a few minutes after six.  Kristen and I had nearly finished our drinks, so when our server arrived, we ordered fresh beverages.
“Woo…I don’t know what Marv put in that cosmo, but it really hit me,” Kristen wave a hand in front of her face.  “Must have been ninety percent alcohol.”
“We have a lightweight in our midst,” the detective smiled, taking a sip of his own drink, a gin and tonic.  “You’d think someone your age would be able to out drink us old-timers.”
“Been off my game for a while,” Kristen shook her head.  “Too much work, too little partying.”
“And so goes life,” I shook my head and took a sip of my new martini.  I pulled an olive off the miniature plastic sword that had speared the garnish in my glass and popped it in my mouth after I swallowed.
Our salads were served several minutes later.
“So how are things going with the case against Elon?” I asked the detective, wanting to get the low down before the music started.
“Pretty good,” he nodded.  “He has recovered enough from his injuries to appear in court for the first time two days ago.”
  “I still can’t believe he survived that fall,” Kristen shook her head in amazement.
“With a broken femur, fractured pelvis, and a back broken in two places, I’m not sure he’s counting himself so lucky.”
“Jeez,” Kristen breathed, taking another drink and shaking her head.
“Lucky you kept that sorting room shut down,” I said to the detective.  “If you’d allowed us to process that piled up linen below the chute he would have died for sure when he impacted with the concrete floor down there.  Like you said, in his condition though, he probably wishes he had died.”
“He’ll probably never walk again,” the detective added.  “As if losing a hand in combat wasn’t bad enough.”
“He doesn’t like it, he shouldn’t go around murdering people,” Kristen said.
“Here, here,” the detective raised his glass.
“Plus,” I added, still thinking about the detective’s smart move of keeping the sorting room shut down, “if you’d opened it back up, that trash can would most likely have been emptied, and with it, the broken broom handle…the best piece of evidence you have against Elon.”
“Yeah well, you almost took care of that for us, Haze,” the detective gave me a narrow-eyed stare.
I was glad the lights were turned low to hide the bright shade of crimson my face had become from the embarrassment at almost disposing of the crucial piece of evidence in a murder case.
“So let me get this straight,” Kristen said.  “Since Elon was having trouble keeping the linen chute open while trying to dispose of Mr. Statler’s body, he broke a piece off a broom handle and used that to prop it open.”
The detective nodded.  “The chute door was on hydraulic hinges that made it self-closing.  With Elon’s disability, he couldn’t hold the door open with one hand while loading the body with the other; therefore, he used the broken piece of broom handle to wedge inside one of the hinges to keep the chute door open.  He probably expected to pull it out and wipe the handle clean of fingerprints once he was done with it, but it must have jarred loose when the body slid down the chute and fell down inside.  Unable to retrieve the piece, since it was stuck in the chute with the body, Elon had to wait until the chute was busted by old Mangum P.I. over here,” he looked over at me.
“Is Elon admitting to the crime?” Kristen asked.
“He’s saying it was a crime of passion…that’s his defense at least,” explained the detective.  “He says that he and the room attendant, Felicia Gonzalez, were engaged to be married and that when he saw her coming out of Statler’s room a day before the murder, he just lost it.  He had the knife in his locker, having claimed it when cleaning out the lost and found room several months prior.  When he overheard that Rodrigo Torez, the houseperson, had lost his floor key, he saw his opportunity.  He went up, found the key, and he lured Statler out of his room by telling him he needed to accompany him to handle some business downstairs in the security office.  Once he was sure no one was around, he clobbered Statler over the head, loaded him in the houseperson cart, and hauled him downstairs to the thirteenth floor by way of the stairwell in an attempt to throw us off track and avoid the elevator surveillance cameras.  Then he used the houseperson key that he knew was reported lost, but that had yet to be voided, to get into the linen closet.  There, he dumped the body along with the murder weapon with the initials on it…yet another attempt to throw a red herring at us.  This was also when he mistakenly grabbed the wrong houseperson cart to take back upstairs.”
The detective paused for a drink and then continued.  “Elon must have realized at some point that the most damning piece of evidence, and about the only thing that could directly link him to the murder, was the broom handle that had fallen in with Statler’s body inside the chute and had his fingerprints on it.  That’s why he tried to set fire to the linen in the sorting room.  He thought it was still lost among the sheets somewhere and hoped that the blaze would consume the handle or at least burn it badly enough to obscure his fingerprints.  And that’s also why he was there early that morning when Haze made the connection regarding the handle he’d unwittingly tossed into the trash can when he discovered Statler’s body.  Something he failed to mention to the police or the detective leading the ensuing investigation.”  He finished the last portion of his sentence in an exaggeratedly loud tone to ensure I recognized that he wasn’t thrilled with the faux pas.  
“Yeah…sorry again about that,” I mumbled, my eyes flickering down and side to side nervously but playfully.
“Well, at least he remedied his mistake,” Kristen reached beneath the table and patted my knee.  
It was the third time tonight she’d made flirty body contact with me, and if she wasn’t careful, I might start to get the wrong impression.  I understood that it was Valentine’s Day, but a bachelor who didn’t get shown much in the way of regular affection could only stand so much.
“In a way, it was a good thing Haze tossed the handle in the trash can when he found the body.  It kept Elon from finding it or burning it up when he tried to torch the sorting room,” the detective cut me some slack.
“What did the room attendant, Felicia, say about it?” Kristen asked.
“She says Elon was extremely aggressive in pursuing their relationship, and a real jealous sort.  She also said that they were never engaged, nor were there any plans of ever becoming engaged to Hernandez.  She makes it sound as though the majority of the relationship was all in Elon’s head and that they were little more than friends…maybe friends with a few benefits at best.”
“Are you going to pursue charges against her?” Kristen asked.
“I don’t think so,” the detective shook his head.  “I don’t think we’d have much of a case against her.  We got our man.  Plus, she has the two little ones to care for.  I think she’s an overall decent person…just made some poor decisions in love.”  The detective’s eyes flickered toward me for a brief instant at the mention of failings of the heart, then over to Kristen and back to me again.
Our entrees arrived – steaks and baked potatoes for the detective and me, and tilapia for Kristen.  We ate for a few moments, largely in silence, before the music began.
Tonight’s concert was of course devoted to love themes, but it the spanned centuries in its repertoire.  There was even a rendition of Robert Palmer’s, Addicted to Love and the Huey Lewis and the News hit, Power of Love to get the crowd’s adrenaline flowing right before the orchestra took at break at eight o’clock.
During the intermission, the detective scooted his chair back from our small table and rose.
“Haze,” he said, reaching out a hand, “it’s been a wonderful evening, but I must leave you.  I know I give you a hard time on occasion, but I really do appreciate your help with the Statler case.  But now if you’ll excuse me, I have to be up early tomorrow morning…thankfully to investigate a case that doesn’t involve your hotel,” he smiled at me as we shook hands.  “You two have a nice evening,” he glanced quickly over at Kristen and then back to me, giving me a wink as he patted me on the shoulder.  “It’s been a pleasure,” he nodded to Kristen.  “Goodnight.”
And with that, Detective Marino departed.
Kristen immediately popped over into the detective’s seat to be closer to me so that we could talk over the din of the other diners’ conversations while we waited for the concert to restart.  “Why’d the detective leave so early?” she frowned at me curiously, her cute little nose wrinkling in confusion since she hadn’t overhead his excuse.
 “Said he had to get up early tomorrow,” I explained.
“Oh,” she tilted her head back, comprehending the excuse but not the reality.
I realized the detective’s early departure had nothing to do with getting some rest.  It didn’t take a CPD detective to figure out what he was up to.  And his look to Kristen and his wink at me had solidified my suspicions.
The detective was playing his role, reading people, and probably hoping his delicate departure would provide Kristen and me with the alone time necessary to light a little Valentine’s Day flame of our own.
But I was determined to do my best to remain the gentleman; and so, when the server arrived to take our dessert orders, I ordered coffee in an attempt cut into the amorous affects of the martinis I’d consumed.
Kristen on the other hand seemed to have been turned into a lovey-dovey pile of mush by her two cosmos.  She scooched the detective’s chair over closer to me, and as the music began again, rested her head on my shoulder, gripping my arm in her delicate hand.  I felt my bicep flex instinctually at her touch, hoping she wouldn’t feel too much flab, and then felt stupid for the adolescent move.  There was no way such a beautiful woman would be interested in someone who was beginning to climb that “over the hill” point on the road of life…or was there?
I shook such thoughts aside, determined to simply enjoy the evening and be happy that Kristen was here with me no matter what her reasons or motivations.
Just enjoy the moment, I told myself as the music played and Kristen nuzzled in closer.  
And so I did.
 
 
 
 
************
 
 
 
Pick up your copy of the first book in the
M.O.D. Files
series, The Case of the Guest Who Stayed Over.  Available on Amazon.com today!
 
 
Robert Haze has been around the block when it comes to working in hotels, and not too long ago, he landed himself one heck of a job.  He became the manager on duty – or M.O.D. – of one of downtown Chicago’s landmark properties, the world renowned Lanigan Hotel.
 
In the position, Robert is charged with juggling any number of tasks, handling every variety of guest issue, and dealing with problems that pop up with regularity around the massive 1800-room property.  While Robert is no slouch, he’s about to be thrown a curve ball…in the form of murder!  
 
When a Lanigan Hotel guest VIP is found dead, Robert’s managerial skills are put to the test.  With the arrival of veteran Chicago Police Department detective, John Marino, Robert begins to realize that it might take more than just a seasoned detective to solve, “The Case of The Guest Who Stayed Over.”
 
Combining the feel of Arthur Hailey’s, “Hotel” with a good old-fashioned murder mystery, The M.O.D. Files: The Case of Guest Who Stayed Over provides a sense for what life inside a landmark hotel is really like!  
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